
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 8 June 2020. 
 01476 406080

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 16 June 2020 at 2.00 pm
Virtual meeting - this meeting is being held remotely

Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy

Agenda
Accessing the Meeting

Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar.

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Cabinet 16 June 2020

If using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app before 
you can enter the meeting; please allow time for this. If you are using a laptop or desktop computer, 
you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser.

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 
meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins.  Members of the public should not use the 
Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors who will use it to indicate that they 
would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

Cabinet

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/TFZKFWFT?sl=1
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


1.  Register of attendance and apologies for absence

2.  Minutes of the previous meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2020.

(Pages 5 - 9)

3.  Disclosure of Interests (if any)

Items for recommendation to Council

4.  Future High Street Fund
Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council recommending the submission of a 
Business Case for a Future High Street Scheme for Grantham on the 31 July 
2020.

Appendix 5 to this report, which is the draft business case, is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 because it 
contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual 
or organisation. 

(Pages 11 - 113)

5.  Programme of Meetings 2020/21
Report of the Chief Executive on the Programme of Meetings 2020/21.

(Pages 115 - 121)

Items for Cabinet Decision: Key

6.  COVID-19 - Financial Impact
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources on the financial 
impact of COVID-19.

Appendix D to this report, which includes commercial details relating to the 
leisure provider, is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 because it contains information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of an individual or organisation. 

(Pages 123 - 143)

Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key

7.  COVID-19 SKDC Response - Position Statement
Report of the Leader of the Council on South Kesteven District Council’s 
response to COVID-19. 

(Pages 145 - 168)

8.  COVID-19 SKDC - Recovery Plan
Report of the Leader of the Council on South Kesteven District Council’s 
Recovery Plan.

(Pages 169 - 197)

Items for information

9.  Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees

10.  Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members



11.  Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
Report of the Leader of the Council on Key and Non-Key Decisions for noting.

Appendices 1b and 3c to this report, which contain information relating to bids 
in respect of the Council’s insurance contract and the evaluation of those bids, 
and the Heads of Terms for the disposal of land in Grantham (respectively), are 
exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
because they contain information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
an individual or organisation.

(Pages 199 - 239)

12.  Cabinet Forward Plan 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021
Report of the Leader of Council on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.

(Pages 241 - 252)

Urgent Items

Items which the Leader is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency 
pursuant to Section 100 (b)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 by reason of special 
circumstances.

Exempt Items

Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public may be excluded 
from the meeting during any listed items of business, on the grounds that if they were present, 
exempt information could be disclosed to them as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Schedule 
12A of the Act.



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes
Cabinet
Tuesday, 17 March 2020

The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman)

Cabinet Members present

Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy

Non-Cabinet Members present

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Ray Wootten
Councillor Linda Wootten

Officers

Chief Executive (Karen Bradford)
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Strategic Director, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Interim Director of Finance (Richard Wyles)
Director of Law and Governance (Shahin Ismail)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai) 
Head of Governance (Jo Toomey)

Statement by the Leader of the Council

Before turning to the formal business of the meeting, the Leader of the Council made 
a statement regarding the response of the Council to the COVID-19 outbreak. He 
stated that, whilst to date Lincolnshire had not been impacted by the virus, 
preparations still needed to be made. The Leader announced, therefore, that a 
decision had been made in consultation with the Showman’s Guild to cancel the 

5

Agenda Item 2



Grantham and Stamford mid-Lent fairs. He also announced the closure of the 
Guildhall Arts Centre, Stamford Arts Centre, Bourne Community Access Point and 
Wyndham Park Visitor Centre to the public. Staff that worked within those buildings 
would be redeployed to help deliver key services.

Measures had been put into place to protect tenants, including closing communal 
rooms and cancelling external bookings. The improvement programme had also been 
suspended, meaning that only urgent repairs would be carried out. Written notice had 
been sent to tenants about changes and letting them know the best ways to contact 
the council with their questions or concerns.

Council officers were being updated regularly by the Leader and Chief Executive, with 
Government advice being followed in relation to meetings, travel and home working. 
An emergency planning team had been established and an incident room was in 
operation. 

A decision was then taken to suspend all Council and Committee meetings for the 
foreseeable future. Emergency legislation was expected, which would support the 
Council’s decision-making through remote participation, clarifying in particular the 
arrangements for dealing with planning and licensing applications. It was agreed by 
the Cabinet that the Leader of the Council, under the strong Leader model, would 
assume full control over making all Key Decisions of the Council, which would 
normally have been taken by the Cabinet. Arrangements for deputising duties would 
be included, so that there was resilience in the event of the indisposition of the 
Leader. The arrangements for Executive decision-making would be kept under review 
and captured within the Council’s Constitution. A report would also be provided to 
Council setting out those decisions that had been made by the Leader. Cabinet 
Members indicated their support for this arrangement by way of a show of hands. 

81. Minutes of the previous meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record of the decisions taken subject to clarification under the Budget item that the 
Council had a contract with EnvironmentSK and made payment for the services 
provided by the company through that contract.

82. Disclosure of Interests (if any)

No interests were disclosed.

83. Tenancy Strategy 2020-2025 (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning presented his report on the Tenancy 
Strategy. This had been considered by the Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the recommendations from which had been captured within the 
document. 

6



On being put to the vote, it was AGREED:

1. That Cabinet approves the Tenancy Strategy 2020-25 as attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report of the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning)

2. The Cabinet will receive an annual report (via e-mail) on the impact of the 
changes to the Strategy (in particular the number of fixed term tenancies 
issued and to the types of household to which they are issued)

84. Safeguarding Policy 2020-2023 (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Communities presented her report on the Safeguarding 
Policy 2020 to 2023. She explained that the seven district councils in Lincolnshire 
had worked together to develop a combined policy. She highlighted the proposed 
change with regard to training for elected Members. When the draft policy was 
considered by the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Members recommended increased training. Instead of just providing safeguarding 
training as part of Members’ induction, the Committee recommended completion of e-
learning to ensure Members’ knowledge was refreshed more frequently than once 
every four years. The Committee also requested that ‘Keeping People Safe’ cards 
setting out key contact numbers, should be provided for all Members. The revised 
policy would be shared with officers through Net Consent and the intranet. Face-to-
face training sessions would also be arranged.

On being put to the vote it was AGREED:

1. Cabinet approves the Safeguarding Policy 2020-23
2. Cabinet approves the introduction of mandatory safe-guarding e-

learning for elected Members to be completed across their term of office 
and to complement the in-house training provided during Member 
induction

85. Area Offices - Customer Consultation (Key Decision)

This item was withdrawn from the agenda for the meeting.

86. Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees

Members noted the report of the Leader of the Council outlining matters referred to 
Cabinet by the Council’s overview and scrutiny committees.

87. Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.

7



The Leader of the Council presented his report giving an overview of decisions taken 
by individual Cabinet Members since the last meeting of Cabinet. Since the Cabinet 
last met on 18 February 2020 one decision had been taken by the Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations for the lease of land from the National Trust for the 
site on which the Heroes’ Orchard was being planted.

88. Representations and questions from Non-Cabinet Members

One Member referred to the announcement that was made by the Leader at the start 
of the meeting and the opportunities for using technology to keep Members engaged 
in Council business. The Leader was asked when training would be offered on 
programmes like Skype and Teams, which facilitated virtual meetings. The Leader 
responded, stating it was key for Members to be fully trained on modern.gov and the 
use of their devices, however training would be suspended while restrictions imposed 
as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak were in place. The Member suggested that 
earlier training would have been beneficial. The Leader referred to the restrictions 
about decision-making meetings, where Members had to be present; guidance from 
Government was awaited about opportunities for remote decision-making. The 
Leader responded to a further comment by stating that any decisions made during 
the interregnum of meetings would be done in a transparent way, with a record being 
provided for all Members. He also indicated that he would be happy for the use of 
webinars to engage Members and would speak to the training team.

A question was put about a footpath running across the St. Martin’s Park site in 
Stamford. The footpath had been blocked and the Leader was asked what the 
Council was doing to ensure it remained accessible. The Leader stated that he would 
speak to the appropriate officer to ensure that the blockage was removed.

The Leader was asked for assurance that the Council would take a flexible and 
benevolent approach to people who could not pay their council tax because of the 
coronavirus outbreak. The Leader stated that the Council was following the guidance 
provided by the Government. He added that he did not wish to see residents 
removed from their homes for non-payment of Council Tax, adding that the Council 
was waiting to see what funds would be made available by Government.

In the final question that was put to the Cabinet, reference was made to a recent 
incident in Grantham town centre when an assault near a public house had resulted 
in a fatal injury. Following the incident, support had been expressed locally for the 
reintroduction of a Pubwatch scheme. Reference was made to provisions within the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which allowed local authorities to 
introduce a Late Night Levy and Early Morning Restriction Orders. The Late Night 
Levy would put a charge on premises selling alcohol between midnight and 6am; 
income from this levy would be used to support the cost of policing the night-time 
economy. 

When the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy was reviewed in 2016, the Council 
decided against implementing the Late Night Levy, however, it did provide for the 
introduction of the Levy at any point if there was a change in circumstances and 
evidence to support its implementation. The same provision was included in respect 

8



of an Early Morning Restriction Order. The Cabinet was asked to support the 
introduction of a Pubwatch scheme and the review of the Statement of Licensing 
Policy to enable the introduction of a Late Night Levy.

The Leader stated that he would support an urgent review of the Statement of 
Licensing Policy being undertaken by the Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night 
Refreshment Licensing Committee to consider the introduction of a Late Night Levy.

89. Cabinet Forward Plan - 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021

Cabinet Members noted the Forward Plan for 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, which 
had been distributed prior to the meeting. The Forward Plan gave an indication of the 
items that would be presented to Cabinet over the proceeding 12-month period. 

90. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 14:26.

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
16 June 2020

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson
The Deputy Leader of the Council

        

Future High Street Fund
A report recommending the submission of a Business Case for a Future High Street Scheme for 
Grantham on the 31st July 2020

Report Author

Liz Bates, Head of Regeneration & Visitor Economy, InvestSK

 07971 722495

  liz.bates@investsk.co.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key Grantham St Wulfram's

Reviewed by: Steve Bowyer, CEO, InvestSK 20 May 2020

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director, Growth 22 May 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 29 May 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

That Cabinet:
1. Approves the submission of the Future High Street Business Case
2. Recommends that Council approves its financial contribution to the delivery of the 

Future High Street Scheme, as outlined in this report.
3. Delegates authority to the Strategic Director for Growth in consultation with the 

Deputy Leader of the Council and the Interim Director of Finance, to make any 
minor amendments to the bid as required prior to submission. 

11

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Following a successful first round submission, South Kesteven District Council was invited 

to submit a Business Case to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) for funding from the Future High Street Scheme for Grantham town 
centre. The objective of the scheme is to revitalise town centres across England by 
investing in key capital projects that will assist in increasing footfall, diversifying the use of 
buildings and public spaces and providing a safe and welcoming environment. 

1.2 Following their work on the first-round submission, InvestSK was commissioned to 
develop the bid and a revenue grant from MHCLG allowed for the required appointment of 
an external consultancy team. A full programme of internal and external consultation was 
undertaken to inform the Draft Business Case, which was submitted in March 2020.

1.3 The consultancy team collated a long list of projects through research and consultation 
and refined this down to a number of recommended projects based on the criteria of the 
Future High Street scheme and the Council’s priorities for Grantham. The final preferred 
option, as expressed in the Draft Business Case, included:

- Public realm enhancement schemes

- Developments within the town centre 

- Third party grants that bring vacant spaces within the town centre back into use

1.4 The total cost of the bid, as set out within the original draft Business Case, was 
£27,398,063 with a contribution from the Future High Street Fund of £12,296,034. The 
revenue contribution from SKDC was included at £379,092 over the proposed 4-year 
programme. The project costs for the original draft submission are attached in Appendix 1. 

1.5 The Draft Business Case received the following feedback from MHCLG: “This proposal 
gives a clear outline of the problems facing the high street in Grantham, and a detailed 
analysis of the underlying causes. The stakeholder engagement that has been carried out 
is helpful, and feeds into the strong overarching narrative. It is clear that a holistic 
approach has been taken to the vision of the area.” More information was required on the 
individual interventions, co funding and the exact nature of the public realm enhancement 
costs. 

1.6 The Draft Business Case is included as Appendix 5 to this report. This appendix is exempt 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
because it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual 
or organisation. 

1.7 The Final Business Case is due for submission on the 31st July 2020. The consultancy 
team have been briefed and are working to develop the additional evidence required for 
the Final Business Case.

1.8 Advice received from MHCLG indicates that they will only consider grants of over £10 
million if a local authority can demonstrate an exceptional case for support. Therefore, it is 
considered the level of scrutiny and competition for bids above this threshold will be 
significantly higher. The project interventions included in the bid for Grantham will 
therefore be reviewed to enable the Future High Street grant contribution to be under the 
£10 million threshold. 

1.9 As of the date of this report, the final project intervention figures have still not been 
received as further work is required to develop the schemes and to ensure that the bid is 

12



under the £10 million threshold. This work includes review of the public realm projects by 
Lincolnshire County Council Highways Team as allowances within the draft were deemed 
to be too low for delivery. There was also concern over capital intervention costs for the 
George Centre, so these are also being reviewed and we are still awaiting the outcome. If 
these cannot be reduced, some projects may have to be removed from this bid.

1.10 A further update on the final bid figures will be given at Full Council, including the 
proposed contribution from South Kesteven District Council.

1.11 Officers are holding regular meetings with the Deputy Leader of the Council, and other 
Cabinet Members, and will continue to send Cabinet updates on the development of the 
Business Case between this stage and the final draft stage in mid-July. A governance 
timetable has also been set out as outlined in 2.7.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1  A Project Board was created for the Future High Streets and High Street Heritage Action 

Zone schemes. The membership of the board included the Leader, Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet members; SKDC senior officers, and representatives from Lincolnshire County 
Council and Historic England. The Board has met in November 2019, January 2020 and 
February 2020, as well as informally between those meetings, to review information 
provided by the consultancy team, advise on the strategy within the bid and to take key 
decisions as the development of the bid progressed.

2.2 Technical consultation meetings were held with SKDC officers on housing, highways, 
planning, master planning, project management and governance. 

2.3 InvestSK promoted the opportunity and invited feedback and input at events such as 
Business Breakfasts and Annual Review meetings. 

2.4 Consultation meetings were held with key stakeholders including Buckminster Estates, 
Grantham Estates and Linpet properties. 

2.5 In addition, InvestSK commissioned Soundings, a community engagement consultancy, 
through the MHCLG-funded bid preparation budget, to undertake a public survey on views 
of the town centre, and 441 surveys were completed. Analysis of the results of this survey 
was undertaken and this analysis was provided with this report (see Appendix 2).

2.6 Soundings also worked with InvestSK to organise and deliver two workshops for local 
businesses and stakeholders and these were attended by 44 people. The Grantham 
Engagement Report, provided with this report (see Appendix 3), has been produced to 
demonstrate how the feedback gained from these engagement activities has fed into the 
design of the Future High Streets scheme. 

2.7 The Final Business Case has been discussed by the Project Board on the 2nd June, and 
will be reviewed by the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 30th June 2020. The budget allocation from 
SKDC will also be considered by Full Council on the 16th July 2020. 

13



3 Available Options Considered
3.1 Option 1 ‘Do nothing’. This would have involved not preparing a bid for the Future High 

Streets Fund. Given the Council’s clear imperative to boost Grantham’s economic, social 
and cultural performance, and the rare opportunity of Government funding of this scale 
that the Future High Streets Fund presents, the ‘Do nothing’ option was not considered an 
appropriate option to pursue.

3.2 Option 2 ‘Preferred Option’. As noted above, a clear set of criteria was used to consider a 
long list of projects that were considered as part of the development of this bid. This 
consideration included reference to the following factors: 

 Future High Street Fund criteria such as deliverability and building the town’s 
resilience to external factors;

 Improving access into Grantham town centre, and perceptions of the town to 
celebrate its unique identity of Grantham and the visitor experience;

 Improving key infrastructure to support local businesses and the enjoyment of public 
spaces to promote well-being;

 Increasing the role and prominence of Grantham’s cultural offer was considered 
important to promote a longer daytime and evening economy;

 Bringing derelict and underused buildings and sites back into productive use, in key 
locations, to drive economic activity.

3.3 Option 3 ‘Alternative Option’. Other projects on the long list of potential interventions were 
carefully considered but have not been taken forward as the preferred option, on the basis 
that they would have weakened the bid on the following grounds:

 They would have undermined the Benefit Cost Ratio of the bid, which is a critical 
aspect of MHCLG’s assessment of any bid for funding;

 Viability and deliverability were weaker than the preferred projects which would have 
reduced MHCLG’s confidence in the scheme coming forward within the 4-year 
timeframe;

 Alternative projects would have resulted in lesser impact on the economic or physical 
infrastructure of the town centre.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 The process of applying the above criteria and the analysis of the consultation data and 

feedback has informed the preferred option, as set out in sections 1 and 3.2 above.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The recommendation for the Cabinet to approve the proposed project interventions and 

financial commitment at this stage is so that the refinement of the bid can be undertaken. 
A decision needs to be taken now so that the bid can be taken through the final stages of 
the governance process before the deadline for submission on the 31st July. 

5.2 It is recommended that Cabinet delegates the ability to make any amendments to the bid 
to the Strategic Director for Growth in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council 
and the Interim Director of Finance. This is because, in completing the final work on the 

14



bid, there may be amendments required, but these will not alter the fundamental strategy 
or financial commitment significantly overall. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The Cabinet decision on this report will be made available through the usual democratic 

processes. The proposal will then go to the Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 30th June 2020. Full Council 
in July will be asked to approve SKDC’s financial commitments on the 16th July 2020.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The financial implications for this project are detailed in Appendix 1.  Clarification is being 

sought from MHCLG that the Council, as the accountable body, can transfer the grant 
associated with the public realm works on Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) assets to 
LCC to complete the works as this will remove any potential VAT implications.

7.2 The cost for a Future High Street Manager and Project Officer has been capitalised and 
apportioned against the project interventions. 

7.3 The Council’s contribution towards this project is £379,092 of revenue cost which includes 
the cost of a full time Town Centre Manager, the establishment of a Town Team (or 
equivalent) and administrative costs. A proportion of this is to cover administration and 
overheads of InvestSK as the delivery body for the Future High Street Scheme, estimated 
at £75,596. This is envisaged as being met from existing InvestSK budgets over the 4 
years of the programme. 

7.4 The revenue costs do not include funding for street greening, public art, seating, urban 
lighting or wayfinding; all of which have been deemed as high priorities within the 
consultation process. The Council could apply for external funding for these costs, but it is 
estimated that one-off match funding of £80,000 would be required. 

7.5 There will be on-going maintenance costs associated with the public realm works; once 
these costs have been established, they will be included in future reports.

7.6 The total of the Future High Street Fund contribution is not yet determined at the time of 
compiling the report.  However the contribution of the Council is expected to remain at the 
level set out in the report.  It is expected that certain elements of the schemes will be 
delivered by third parties.  As the Council will be the accountable body for the grant, it is 
important to ensure that robust governance arrangements are in place with those third 
parties to ensure there are no increases in costs. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison HallWright, Head of Finance. Richard 
Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The management case within the Future High Street bid sets out the governance 

structures and management procedures involved in the delivery of the scheme. This was 
included within the draft bid and will be shared as a Final Draft before submission.  

8.2 As noted in section 10.2 below, SKDC needs to ensure that any State Aid implications 
arising from the scheme are mitigated

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin, Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

15



9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 Implications of the proposals for the town centre have been fully considered. There are no 

safeguarding implications arising from the bid, but equality is relevant in terms of the 
improvements proposed.

9.2 An Equality Impact (Initial) Assessment (see Appendix 4) has been carried out and this did 
not identify any potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to 
promote equality have been taken. 

9.3 The public realm enhancements in particular will have a positive impact in terms of age 
and disability due to improvements in accessibility, pedestrian safety and amenity.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 There are some land ownership issues to be addressed. For the Final Bid submission 

there is a requirement for Heads of Terms to be signed by both the Council and the 
relevant property owners. Mitigation - the SKDC Property Team is working closely with 
officers on the development of the bid to ensure the acquisition is secured. 

10.2 The proposed route to market for the proposed new development within the Business 
Case will need to be State Aid compliant. There are a number of delivery models that 
could be used to facilitate compliance, and SKDC will secure legal opinion before 
submission of the Final Business case. Mitigation – the SKDC Legal and Property Teams 
have sought external legal advice to ensure compliance. 

10.3 The following financial risks could affect the FHSF project in Grantham: 

10.3.1 Market appetite for released land and sites does not materialise. Mitigation – monitor 
market conditions and undertake soft market testing in line with public procurement 
procedures 

10.3.2 Existence of small unregistered parcels of land complicates acquisition process. Mitigation 
- land ownership pattern already established and initial discussions with landowners have 
already occurred. 

10.3.3 Capital costs exceed initial estimates. Mitigation – capital costs have been prepared by a 
professional quantity surveying practice. Appropriate contingencies have been included 
and examined by the relevant Section 151 Officer. 

10.4 A Project Risk Register has been created in draft and will be refined in advance of the final 
submission. 

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 Community safety, in terms of crime and disorder, has been fully considered in the 

development of the Future High Street bid. 

11.2 The capital projects proposed will involve increased lighting and will ensure that public 
spaces are open, ensuring that no ‘blind spots’ are created in terms of CCTV coverage. 

11.3 As the capital projects are developed in more detail, the Architectural Liaison Officer from 
Lincolnshire Police will be involved in the design to advise further. 

16



12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

12.1 The developments proposed within the Future High Street Scheme will increase the 
carbon footprint due to the construction involved in these capital projects. However, there 
are mechanisms to monitor and reduce this impact, such as using sustainable materials 
and construction methods. 

12.2 The introduction of street greening and other carbon efficiency initiatives through the 
activity elements of the scheme could also help to reduce the carbon footprint created in 
delivery phase.

12.3 In the longer term, the interventions are intended to encourage increased pedestrian 
movement through the town centre and the increased use of public transport. By 
improving the gateways into the town and pedestrian access around the town, this will 
reduce traffic and therefore reduce the carbon footprint further over time. 

12.4 The Council’s political ambition to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint by at least 30% 
and to endeavour to be net-zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050 will be included 
within the job description for the Town Centre Manager and the constitution of the 
proposed ‘Town Team’ body, so that measures are implemented during the project 
programme and in forward strategies.

12.5 Rehabilitation and reuse of currently under-utilised brownfield land, with appropriately 
designed new development, will contribute to the environmental efficiency of Grantham.

13 Other Implications (where significant) 
13.1 The proposed development included as a strategic site within the bid is being reviewed in 

light of the State Aid advice received on the land acquisition. The revised proposal 
requires full consideration by Cabinet members prior to submission. 

13.2 The development would be a mixed-use scheme, delivered by a public/private sector 
partnership. 

13.3 The required commitment would be recorded through the Cabinet decision to approve this 
proposal.

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 - Future High Street Project Costs (Draft Business Case)

14.2 Appendix 2 - Grantham Engagement Report

14.3 Appendix 3 - Grantham Engagement Appendices

14.4 Appendix 4 - Equality Assessment (Initial)

14.5 Appendix 5 - Draft Business Case – Contains exempt information under Paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

18 May 2020

Previously Considered by: Not applicable 

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  16 June 2020

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Report: Future High Street Fund 
Appendix 1: Draft Business Case Project Costs

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25Project 
Interventions

Funding
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Total

FHSF £322,916 £645,832 £645,832 £ - £ - £1,614,580
Private 
Sector

£ - £ - £ - £ - £ - £ - 
Public Realm 
Scheme 1

Total £322,916 £645,832 £645,832 £ - £ - £1,614,580

FHSF £ - £ - £793,370 £798,370 £ - £1,596,739
Private 
Sector

£ - £ - £ - £ - £ - £ - 
Public Realm 
Scheme 2

Total £ - £ - £793,370 £798,370 £ - £1,596,739

FHSF £ - £413,820 £413,820 £ - £ - £827,640
Private 
Sector

£ - £ - £ - £ - £ - £ - 
Public Realm 
Scheme 3

Total £ - £413,820 £413,820 £ - £ - £827,640

FHSF £157,500 £131,250 £105,000 £ - £ - £393,750
Private 
Sector

£250,000 £250,000 £250,000 £ - £ - £750,000
Conversion of 
vacant space 
(change of use) 
1 Total £407,500 £381,250 £355,000 £ - £ - £1,143,750

FHSF £ - £3,159,283 £ - £ - £ - £3,159,283
Private 
Sector

£ - £4,609,869 £4,609,869 £ - £ - £9,219,737
Strategic 
Development 
Site

Total £ - £7,769,152 £4,609,869 £ - £ - £12,379,020

FHSF £ - £4,684,042 £ - £ - £ - £4,684,042
Private 
Sector

£ - £2,376,600 £2,376,600 £ - £ - £4,753,200
Conversion of 
vacant space 
(change of use) 
2 Total £ - £7,060,642 £2,376,600 £ - £ - £9,437,242

FHSF (inc 
project 
management 
and 
monitoring 
costs)

£485,416 £9,039,227 £1,968,022 £803,370 £ - £12,296,034

Private 
Sector Match

£250,000 £7,236,469 £7,236,469 £ - £ - £14,722,937

Public Sector 
Match

£104,328 £89,861 £86,625 £88,268 £10,000 £379,092

 

Total £839,744 £16,365,556 £9,292,125 £891,638 £10,000 £27,398,063

i. The public realm projects are proposed as 100% funded and the private sector 
will match fund projects to convert vacant properties within the town centre. 

ii. The Strategic Development Site will receive a contribution of £3,159,283 from the 
Future High Street Fund. The match funding for this project will be the cost of 
delivering a development to completion, which could be delivered through a 
public/private sector partnership. 

iii. The professional fees involved in developing these schemes following the funding 
decision has been capitalised and apportioned against the project interventions. 

19

Appendix 1



iv. The cost for a Future High Street Manager and Project Officer has been 
capitalised and has been apportioned against the project interventions. Both are 
full time roles.

v. The £379,092 revenue cost includes the cost of a full time Town Centre Manager, 
the establishment of a Town Team (or equivalent) and administrative costs.

vi. Please note that revenue costs do not include funding for street greening, public 
art, seating, urban lighting or wayfinding; all of which have been deemed as high 
priorities within the consultation process. The Council could attract external 
funding for these costs, but a match fund would be required to secure these. A 
town centre ‘fund’ of £80,000 would be sufficient to achieve the priorities raised 
during the consultation process, which could be ringfenced subject to external 
funding. 

20



 Grantham Town Centre

May 2020

ENGAGEMENT 
SUMMARY REPORT

21

Appendix 2



PAGE 2

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Contents
1. INTRODUCTION 3

1.1. Project Context 4

1.2. Engagement Approach 5

1.3. Engagement summary 7

2. SURVEY FINDINGS 9

2.1. Survey summary 10

3. WORKSHOP FINDINGS 13

4. CONCLUSION 23

4.1.  Project Identification  24

4.2. Next Steps  27

22



This Chapter provides an overview of the project and 
outlines the engagement approach undertaken to inform 
the preparation of a business case.

CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION

PAGE 3

23



Figure 2. Photo from Workshop 1

PAGE 4

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Soundings have been engaged by Alan Baxter and 
InvestSK to facilitate a wide-reaching stakeholder 
and community engagement programme to 
inform the preparation of a business case for the 
Future High Street Fund (FHSF) in support of the 
regeneration of the Grantham Town Centre.

A targeted period of community and stakeholder 
engagement took place between February and 
March 2020 involving 2 x visioning workshops, 
community surveys, data analysis and reporting 
(refer to timeline below).

The engagement activities sought to understand 
local perceptions, challenges and opportunities for 
the Grantham Town Centre to inform and support an 
evidence base for a business case to regenerate the 
Town Centre.

1.1. PROJECT CONTEXT

The objectives of the engagement are summarised 
as follows:

• to gather feedback about local perceptions 
associated with Grantham Town Centre;

• to identify existing challenges and potential 
opportunities that could be considered as part of 
future regeneration of the Town Centre; and

• to identify emerging priorities to inform the 
development of a spatial masterplan and support 
the preparation of a business case for the FHSF.

This report provides a summary of the workshop 
feedback and the survey findings. It is noted that 
additional one to one stakeholder engagement has 
been undertaken separately as part of the broader 
project objectives and the findings of this process 
are reported separately.

Figure 1. Timeline of Engagement

FEBRUARY

SURVEY 
BRIEFING/ 

WORKSHOP

SURVEY 
OPENS

STREET 
SURVEYS

2 X VISIONING 
WORKSHOPS

DRAFT 
ENGAGEMENT 

REPORT

SURVEY 
CLOSES

FINAL 
ENGAGEMENT 

REPORT

MARCH MAY

24



PAGE 5

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

1.2. ENGAGEMENT APPROACH

Street Surveys 
Community engagement has been a key to 
informing the initial draft business case for the 
FHSF. In particular, the project team were seeking to 
understand local perspectives of residents, visitors 
and other key user groups of the Grantham  
Town Centre. 

Working closely with InvestSK and lead consultant 
Alan Baxter, Soundings prepared an online 
community survey which posed a number of quick 
response and open-ended questions about the 
Town Centre. To amplify the responses, the survey 
was designed to be conducted in a ‘roaming’ format 
whereby team members could directly approach 
people on the street for their feedback. A summary 
of street survey dates and times is provided in the 
table opposite.

Prior to engaging with the community ‘on the 
street’, Soundings carried out a Survey Briefing 
Workshop with InvestSK staff to provide support and 
assistance to those undertaking the street surveys. 
As part of this workshop, Soundings shared some 
insights and techniques for the team to consider 
when conducting the street surveys. These included 
suggestions around approachability, how to access 
hard to reach groups and maximising visibility and 
footfall to increase response rates. 

The Survey Briefing Workshop was also an 
opportunity for the project team to discuss the 
proposed questions that would be asked, ensuring 
that the vision and aims of the survey aligned with 
the overall project objectives. 

Due to the nature of the ‘roaming’ format, the 
surveys were designed in a digital format, using the 
platform ‘Survey Monkey’. In addition to members 
of InvestSK carrying out surveys on the streets of 
Grantham Town Centre, the survey link was also 
shared publicly to allow people to complete the 
surveys at home.

The findings of these surveys have been analysed 
and summarised in this report and are presented 
in Chapter 2. Please refer to Attachment A for a 
question-by-question analysis and summary. 

DATE (FEB 2020) TIME LOCATION

Friday 21st 11am - 2pm M&S

Friday 21st 11am - 2pm
Isaac Newton 
Centre

Monday 24th 8am -10am Station

Monday 24th 4pm - 5pm Station

Tuesday 25th 11am - 2pm St Peters Hill

Tuesday 25th 1.30am - 4.30pm
Isaac Newton 
Centre

Wednesday 26th 11am - 2pm St Peters Hill

Wednesday 26th 1.30pm - 4.30pm M&S

Figure 3. Street Survey Times

25



Figure 4. Photo from Workshop 2

PAGE 6

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Visioning Workshops
Two visioning workshops were organised as 
part of the engagement process which provided 
an opportunity to bring local businesses and 
key stakeholders together. The purpose of the 
workshops was to:

• introduce the project and feedback information 
gathered from the preliminary survey data;

• discuss and identify key issues, challenges and 
opportunities for the Grantham Town Centre; and

• provide an open forum for local business and 
other community stakeholders to share their 
perspective on future priorities for the Town 
Centre.

The two workshops were aimed at separate groups 
as follows:

• Workshop 1: Local business owners
• Workshop 2: Local stakeholders 

(including community members and council 
representatives)

Each workshop was structured in two parts: 
looking at Grantham today and identifying positive/
negative aspects and then identifying priorities 
and improvements that could form part of future 
regeneration of the Town Centre.

The workshops were conducted in round table 
format, with each table provided with a map, 
some images of the Town Centre, and a series of 
questions for them to consider (refer to Appendix B 
for agenda). 

The workshops began with a short presentation 
by InvestSK and Soundings which shared a brief 
overview of the project, engagement so far, and the 
objectives of the workshop. Each session was then 
opened up for structured round table discussions, 
led by a project team member. At the end, each table 
nominated a spokesperson to share their thoughts 
and ideas with the rest of the attendees. Feedback 
from the workshop sessions is provided in Chapter 
3 of this report.

26



PAGE 7

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

A total of 441 surveys have been completed. The results provide a rich source of primary data for the project 
team to consider and incorporate into future spatial planning and identification of key priorities/projects 
to bring forward as part of the regeneration of Grantham Town Centre. Below is a summary of the key 
engagement undertaken and the themes that have been identified as part of the initial analysis of the survey 
findings. For further summaries and detailed feedback, please refer to Attachments A and B within the 
Appendices Report. 

1.3. ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

on street 
engagement 
events8

Workshop 
attendees44441

Surveys 
completed

Workshops
2

How we engaged

Who we engaged*

*These statistics have been gathered from the survey responses only.

Themes & what we heard

75% 
were local 
residents

49% 
worked in 
Grantham

50% 
visited 

Grantham 
daily

62% 
drove to 

Grantham

Existing car parking 
arrangement is confusing 
and causing congestion in 

the Town Centre

Grantham has a lot  
of potential to be a  

great place

More greening in the Town 
Centre would enhance its 

aesthetic appeal

Improvements to 
movement and wayfinding 

could improve the Town 
Centre experience

Refurbishment of shop-
fronts would enhance the 

retail experience

More activities are needed 
for families and during  

the evening

A more pedestrian friendly 
environment is needed

Better opportunities for 
new businesses is required

27



Figure 5. Street Surveys

Figure 10. Photo from Workshop 1

Figure 7. Photo from Workshop 1

Figure 6. Photo from Workshop 1

Figure 8. Photo from Workshop 2

Figure 9. Photo from Workshop 1

PAGE 8

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

28



PAGE 9

This chapter outlines the key findings from the survey results. 
The findings have been databased, analysed and have been 
presented in this chapter thematically. For further summaries and 
a ‘question by question’ breakdown, please refer to Appendix A.

CHAPTER 2
SURVEY FINDINGS

29



PAGE 10

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

2.1. SURVEY SUMMARY

Local perceptions
The survey posed a number of questions to draw out 
perceptions of local residents and users of the Town 
Centre. 

Key findings are summarised below.

• When asked to describe Grantham Town Centre 
in one word, the majority of responses indicated 
that local perceptions are currently negative and/
or apathetic towards the Town Centre.

• The most commonly cited words included 
‘boring’, ‘tired’ and ‘disappointing’. Conversely, 
there were some more constructive words shared 
such as ‘potential’ and ‘busy’. 

• When asked ‘what is Grantham best known 
for’, the majority of responses identified that 
Grantham is best known for its heritage assets. 
‘Shopping’ was the second most selected 
response. 

• Again, a number of open ended responses 
suggested that Grantham is known for ‘nothing’ 
or had no particular identity or character. 

• The majority of respondents (94%) did not 
agree that Grantham Town Centre was an 
exciting place to be. Additionally, the majority of 
respondents thought that Grantham Town Centre 
was a ‘boring’ place and only a small number of 
respondents (12%) felt that they would like to live 
in Grantham.

• The majority of respondents (57%) thought that 
Grantham was a good place to work however 
there was mixed feedback about Grantham being 
a good place for families with 35% in support and 
65% in disagreement.

 Grantham is best known for...

1. Heritage
2. Shopping
3. Nothing
4. Margaret Thatcher
5. Charity Shops

Below are some of the key 
statistics about local perceptions 
which came out of the street 
surveys. 

One word to describe Grantham...

1. Boring
2. Tired
3. Empty
4. Busy
5. Potential

 Grantham Town Centre is...

A GOOD PLACE 
TO WORK

HISTORICALLY 
IMPORTANT

EXCITING BORING

94%

58% 86%

78%

30



PAGE 11

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Town Centre usage
Survey findings have identified some clear patterns 
of usage and visitation of the Town Centre. Key 
findings are summarised below.

• The majority of respondents who completed the 
survey have identified as local residents (75%). 

• Work and employment are key draws to the  
Town Centre, with more than 49% of respondents 
indicating that they were visiting Grantham for 
work.

• It is clear that Grantham is very much a place 
for local people and the community and is seen 
as a permanent home and a place of work. The 
fact that a large proportion of the population of 
Grantham is both living and working in the Town 
Centre makes it important for the needs of both 
residents and workers to be met. 

• Consistent with the reason people visit the 
Town Centre (i.e. work), a similar proportion of 
respondents (50%) visit Grantham each day, 
during the week. Occasional visits, either once or 
twice a week or on weekends, were the second 
most commonly selected response (combined 
approximately 36%).

• When asked what would encourage you to 
use the Town Centre more often, the highest 
frequency of results indicated a better shopping 
experience with more local and independent 
shops was a key priority.

Below are some of the key 
statistics about Town Centre 
usage which came out of the 
street surveys.

What would encourage you to 
come to Grantham more often?

1. Better shopping
2. More local + independent 

shops
3. Traffic improvements
4. Better pedestrian environment
5. More evening activities

31



PAGE 12

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Access and movement
Access and movement in and around the Town 
Centre is predominantly car based. Key findings are 
summarised below.

• Vehicles are the predominant mode for people 
accessing Grantham, with more than 62% 
of respondents indicating that they travel to 
Grantham by car.

• Although Grantham has a train station which 
links to many towns and cities, it does not appear 
to be a popular form of transport amongst 
respondents with a very low proportion traveling 
by public transport. Bus users represented 5% 
of responses, while train users represented only 
2.5% of responses.

• Local perceptions about traffic issues, lack of 
clarity or information about car parking and 
general access issues were commonly cited 
across the suite of questions asked.

How you access Grantham...

1. Car
2. Walk
3. Bus
4. Train
5. Cycle

Below are some of the key 
statistics about access and 
movement which came out of the 
street surveys. 

32



PAGE 13

Two visioning workshops were held with local business 
owners and other local stakeholders. A summary of 
combined feedback from both workshops is provided in 
this chapter.

CHAPTER 3
WORKSHOP FINDINGS

33



PAGE 14 PAGE 15

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTGRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

Culture

Community

KEY:

Figure 11. Feedback map based on comments made at the workshops

WHAT WE HEARD

London Road

• St Wulframs and the 
surrounding area is 
culturally very important.

• Creating wayfinding that 
highlights heritage routes 
could encourage walking 
and celebrate heritage.

• Natural heritage is 
important to people. 
The river and ‘Grantham 
Oak’ could be celebrated 
further.

• Grantham is known for its 
engineering and science 
heritage. Opportunity for 
this to be celebrated at 
gateways to the Town 
Centre.

HERITAGE

• The George Centre 
identified as a great space 
for start-ups and small 
businesses.

• Encouraging smaller local 
businesses in the Town 
Centre is important  
to people.

GEORGE CENTRE

• Some people said that the 
Cultural Quarter is good 
at night. However, it is 
unclear what it’s ‘offer’ is.

CULTURAL QUARTER

• The cinema is well liked 
and used, people would 
like to see more activities 
like this, especially  
for families.

LEISURE

• There are good 
independent and small 
shops on Westgate. 
Supportive of more 
incentives to encourage 
this.

WESTGATE

• Maintain and enhance 
markets, festivals, events 
and pop-ups in the Town 
Centre.

THE MARKETPLACE

• There are a lot of historic 
buildings along Westgate 
and the character of the 
area should be enhanced. 
Standardised signage to 
respect character should 
be explored.

WESTGATE

• St Augustine’s roundabout 
and Station Approach are 
gateways to Grantham. 
Opportunity for heritage 
to be showcased to 
encourage visitors.

ST AUGUSTINE’S

• People wondered where 
the ‘heart’ of Grantham 
is. No defined ‘centre’ of 
place for people to meet/
congregate.

HEART OF GRANTHAM

• More residential units 
along the High Street and 
Westgate was suggested 
by using the spaces  
above shops

RESIDENTIAL

W
es

tg
at

e High Street

34



PAGE 16

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

COMMUNITY

BUSINESS

HOUSING

SOCIAL

LEISURE + EVENTS

RETAIL

Challenges Opportunities
Some attendees stated that the units within 
the Town Centre are not affordable which 
has resulted in higher vacancies. 

The number of large supermarkets that 
‘ringfence’ the Town Centre was viewed 
as negative as it decreases the number of 
people using the Town Centre. 

The number of high-quality job 
opportunities in the area was commented 
on, as well as the potential for incentives to 
allow start-ups and new businesses  
to grow. 

Discussions were also had around the 
potential for more early evening activities 
and socialising for the working community 
that will help attract people to Grantham.

The need for more ‘living’ in the Town 
Centre was supported by attendees.

A number of people praised the affordability 
of housing in Grantham. 

Using the spaces above shops on the high 
street and Westgate as residential units 
would make the centre feel more lived in. 

Some respondents felt that the Town 
Centre lacked a ‘community and friendly 
feel’ and that there needs to be more focus 
on this. 

There is potential for there to be more of  
a focus on the younger generations in  
the area. 

A number of comments were made around 
the potential for more ‘experiences’ in 
the Town Centre, including after school 
activities, festivals, craft markets and family 
experiences.

Vacancy rates in the Town Centre and 
the George Centre was remarked on 
negatively. 

The historic look and feel of Westgate was 
viewed positively as well as the number of 
independent shops, with some attendees 
stating that there should be more done to 
encourage these. 

35



PAGE 17

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

CULTURE

CULTURE

IDENTITY

HERITAGE

Challenges Opportunities
 The ‘offer’ of the Cultural Quarter was 
commented on as some attendees were 
unsure of what this was and its role.

Some people felt that the new cinema was 
a great asset but there was a need to build 
on the ‘Cultural Quarter’ to offer more than 
just this and the Guildhall events.

A number of people said that there is ‘no 
reason to come to Grantham’ and that it 
does not have a clear identity or purpose as 
a place. 

People highlighted the potential of 
Grantham as a place and the opportunity 
to make it a destination through promotion 
and showcasing its history, heritage and 
the character of the buildings. Improving 
the identity through creating standardised 
branding for shops was suggested, as well 
as enhancing the programme of cultural 
activities and festivals.

Some people felt that there was room 
to do more to highlight various assets. 
People suggested looking into other 
forms of heritage in the area such as 
green/ natural heritage as well as the 
science and engineering history of the 
area. Suggestions were made around 
showcasing these at entry points to the 
Town Centre to encourage people to visit 
Grantham. 

36



PAGE 18 PAGE 19

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTGRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

Figure 12. Feedback map based on comments made at the workshops

Access & Movement

Public Spaces

KEY:

WHAT WE HEARD

London Road

• High Street and London 
Road are too busy and 
need to be more  
pedestrian focused

PEDESTRIAN PRIORITY

The river is seen as an 
important destination for 
people, it’s use could be 
increased through wayfinding 
to show its proximity to the 
Town Centre

CONNECTED TO NATURE

High Street

W
es

tg
at

e
CAR DEPENDENCY

• People are very car 
focused and not walking 
around the area. This 
means that traffic is very 
bad and there are parking 
issues

• Improved and increased 
public transport would also 
decrease car usage

• When looking forward 
to minimising car usage, 
suggestions were made 
around repurposing car 
parks as active social 
spaces

SOCIAL SPACES

• People wanted to see 
improvements to station 
approach

• The route to the Town 
Centre from the station is 
seen as a barrier and is not 
welcoming

STATION LINKAGES

• Many people wanted to 
see car parks become pay 
on exit to prevent  
limiting time

CAR PARKING

• The Market Square is not 
well used enough and 
like Westgate, could be 
improved through planting, 
seating and greening

• Market Square could be 
improved to increase 
vibrancy of the Town 
Centre

MARKET SQUARE

• This route needs to be 
better for pedestrians to 
help link from High Street 
to Westgate

• Pedestrianise Westgate

• Planting trees along 
Westgate would increase 
enjoyability and spending 
along the street

WESTGATE

• High Street and Westgate 
do not feel interlinked or 
connected

• The George Centre could 
be a great link between 
High Street and Westgate

• Wayfinding in the Town 
Centre could be improved, 
this could lessen car 
usage. It is a small centre 
but feels larger as it is not 
accessible.

THE HIGH STREET

37



PAGE 20

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

Challenges Opportunities

PEDESTRIANS

WAYFINDING

DISABILITY

CARS

ROUTES

PUBLIC TRANSPORT

The prioritisation of cars in the Town Centre 
negatively impacts the experience for 
pedestrians and that the focus should be 
shifted more towards the latter, and that 
this would increase the number of people 
walking around Grantham. 

A number of comments were also 
made about improving the pedestrian 
connections between Westgate and  
High Street.

Multiple comments were also made about 
giving more priority to pedestrians crossing 
the High Street.

Attendees identified room for improvement 
regarding wayfinding in the Town Centre, 
specifically in relation to pedestrians. 
Suggestions were made to create 
digital wayfinding, and to use signage to 
showcase assets within Grantham, and 
highlight to people how close by  
everything is.

Attendees said that Grantham should 
make use of its location on the A1 and 
use signage and other interventions to 
encourage people to stop for a day/half  
day visit. 

Some comments were made around the 
opportunity for improved disability access 
including ramps, access to shops and 
audio tours. 

The Town Centre is seen as car dominated, 
causing congestion and large amounts  
of traffic. 

Car parks were also mentioned with many 
of them becoming full or being paid on 
entry as opposed to exit, which limits the 
amount of time that people can stay. 

Specific routes were stated as ‘barriers’ 
and do not benefit the perceptions of 
Grantham as a place, such as Saint 
Augustine’s Way roundabouts, Station 
Road, Wharf Road and London Road.

The lack of transport in the evenings 
and late at night was mentioned as this 
discourages evening socialising and 
increases car dependency.

The links to London were stated as a 
major positive for Grantham, but there is 
opportunity for improved and increased 
public transport in and around the  
Town Centre. 

Some attendees said that electric car 
charging points would be useful. 

ACCESS AND MOVEMENT

38



PAGE 21

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Challenges Opportunities

GREEN SPACE

OPEN SPACE

Although there is a lot of green space 
surrounding Grantham, attendees said that 
there was a lack within the Town Centre, 
which discourages people from spending 
time there. 

People felt that there was potential for 
more pocket parks and seating spaces for 
people within the Town Centre, with one 
group saying that improving and increasing 
planting along Westgate would increase 
enjoyability of and therefore time shopping.

People said that the Market Square is not 
well used enough and like Westgate, could 
be improved through planting, seating  
and greening. 

The George Centre was highlighted by a 
number of people as an opportunity space 
that should be better used and that could 
improve links from Westgate to High Street. 

Some people suggested that when looking 
forward and minimising car use in the 
Town Centre, that car parks could be re-
purposed with active frontages and rooftop 
bars

PUBLIC SPACE

39



PAGE 22

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

This page has been left intentionally blank

40



PAGE 23

CHAPTER 4
CONCLUSION
This Chapter draws together the findings from the 
workshops and surveys and evaluates the key ‘take aways’ 
and potential priority areas arising from the engagement 
feedback.

41



PAGE 24

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

4.1. PROJECT IDENTIFICATION

The proposed Grantham Masterplan, prepared by 
Alan Baxter (2020), proposes a long-list of projects 
and assesses each against a suite of ‘critical 
success factors’ having regard to the objectives 
of the FHSF. A review of each theme on this 
long-list has been undertaken with regard to the 
feedback recieved from community and stakeholder 
engagement.

The long list of projects are broadly categorised into 
the following themes:

• The Station Approach
• Town Cetre/ Commercial
• Residential
• Connectivity and Movement
• Cultural Quarter
• Business Incubation Space
• Digital Technology.

Station Approach
Despite the lower levels of public 
transport usage amongst locals (i.e. 
most people drive), general feedback 
identified the Grantham Train Station 
is a key asset and plays an important 
role in connecting the town to the 
wider region. 

The main areas of concern around 
the Station Approach related to the 
connectivity between the station 
and the Town Centre as well as the 
existing ‘hard’ barriers (e.g. the A52).  
The existing car dominance also was 
perceived as making the pedestrian 
environment uninviting and unsafe. 
Some feedback from the Visioning 
Workshops identified a further 
opportunity to re-purpose some of 
the existing car parking spaces in 
this area into social spaces including 
meeting spaces and cafe.

Potential Priority Areas

• Creating a gateway to the Town 
Centre. Many respondents felt that 
Grantham lacked identity. A number of 
entrance sites to the Town Centre were 
identified as locations to celebrate and  
highlight the heritage assets of the Town 
Centre, particularly to people passing 
through or by Grantham. These locations 
included at St. Augustine’s roundabout 
and along Station Road. Opportunities 
to commission local art or installations 
were discussed as ways to welcome 
more people to the Town Centre.

• A need for improvement to the 
movement network. Around the 
station approach, suggestions included 
provision of cycling routes, improving 
the bus stations, more public transport 
and initiatives to help reduce the car 
dependency within the Town Centre

• Creating a more pedestrian friendly 
environment. This was a commonly 
recurring theme cited by a number of 
respondents, particularly in creating 
more places for people to meet and 
socialise.

42



PAGE 25

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Town Centre Retail/
Commercial

Feedback from respondents in both the 
survey and workshops highlighted a range 
of views and opinions in relation to the 
Town Centre retail and commercial offering.

A large portion of feedback identified the 
need to reactivate the shopping experience 
along the high street and better support 
local businesses to operate more efficiently.  
Notably, the presence of many charity 
shops along the high street was seen 
as both a positive and negative aspect. 
Feedback indicated that charity shops 
added character to the high street and 
contributed to the town’s identity, while 
other feedback suggested there was a 
need to improve the quality and diversity of 
shops.

A strong thread which carried across all 
engagement activities and feedback was 
the desire to make Grantham a more 
exciting place to live, work and play. A 
large quantum of feedback suggested that 
the Town Centre was ‘boring’, ‘lack-lustre’ 
and offered little in the way of activities 
or events for people to get involved in, 
including at night time.

When asked if Grantham is a good place 
to live, only a small proportion of residents 
agreed (circa 10%). Conversely, Grantham 
was seen as a good place to work and do 
business by the majority (circa 58%).

Residential
There was not much feedback relating to 
residential uses in Grantham, as many of 
the survey questions specifically focused 
on the Town Centre. Some feedback from 
the visioning workshops did however 
identify opportunities to activate the Town 
Centre with living over the shop housing 
and more residential uses along the high 
street and around Westgate. 

Potential Priority Areas

• Improve the high street experience. 
This could be done through a variety 
of large- and small-scale initiatives. 
Respondents provided suggestions 
about improving wayfinding signage 
around the Town Centre, preserving 
the heritage aesthetic and unlocking 
potential in underutilised spaces, such 
as around Market Place.

• Redevelop and revitalise important 
buildings, including the George 
Centre and the Post Office, which 
were mentioned as potential assets to 
the community and could be options to 
explore as part of future regeneration. 

• Increasing local activities. Local 
residents strongly felt that there were 
not enough ‘things to do’ in Grantham. 
Ideas for pop ups, markets, more 
cultural events and night time activities 
were all identified as opportunities to 
activate the Town Centre and increase 
visitation.

• Improve the shopping experience. 
A local priority is to improve the 
shopping experience, including 
providing more support to local shops 
and promoting more diverse business 
uses.

• More retail choice and greater 
flexibility in retail opening 
hours. The existing retail offer is 
not considered adequate for local 
needs. The number of charity and 
independent shops in the Town Centre 
is something that is seen as a positive 
and to be maintained, however 
there is sentiment for more diverse 
shopping experiences. Creating 
subsidised rent for independent shops 
was suggested as an opportunity 
to encourage smaller and creative 
retailers. 

43



PAGE 26

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Connectivity and 
Movement
Improving existing connectivity throughout 
the Town Centre was a key priority for 
many. There were a high volume of 
responses that shared a range of ideas 
to improve the pedestrian environment 
throughout the Town Centre. Parking 
improvements, public realm enhancements 
and better public transport links were also 
cited as key factors that would encourage 
people to visit Grantham more often.

Potential Priority Areas

• Public realm enhancements. 
Opportunities to improve way finding, 
and enhance connectivity between 
key locations was supported by many 
residents. The scope of improvements 
identified ranged from smaller 
interventions such as improving 
paving and potholes to developing 
lighting and wayfinding strategies to 
improve legibility throughout the Town 
Centre.

• Reduce reliance and dominance of 
motor vehicles in the Town Centre. 
One of the issues that discourages 
people from spending time and 
walking around the Town Centre is the 
quantity of cars and traffic. Introducing 
wayfinding to promote active transport 
and more walking could enhance the 
pedestrian experience and contribute 
to creating a more inviting and safer 
environment for all. 

• Review car parking issues. 
Interestingly, although the Town 
Centre has been described as too 
car focused and unpleasant for 
pedestrians, rationalising and car 
parking (for drivers) was one of the 
most commonly improvements. 
Specifically there were requests to 
provide better information about 
location of car parking, review 
timings and restrictions, reduce cost 
and make more parking available 
throughout the Town Centre.

44



PAGE 27

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Cultural Quarter
Emerging from the engagement feedback 
were perceptions that Grantham lacked 
diversity or interest. While many liked 
the Cultural Quarter, some thought there 
opportunities to improve it’s purpose and 
function.

Over sentiments about Grantham are also 
linked to the perceptions that there is little 
to do in Grantham with regard to activities, 
events and programmes for people to get 
involved in. 

Potential Priority Areas

• Revitalise the existing cultural 
offering. The enhancement of existing 
cultural and social activities and 
spaces to Grantham was frequently 
mentioned. Introducing more cultural 
events such as markets, fairs and 
events can draw people into areas 
and improve perceptions of a place. 
A regular programme of events and 
markets should occur on a frequent 
basis to build reach and increase 
visitors over time. 

• Enhance the programme of local 
events and activities. There is 
great potential for Grantham to be 
a more vibrant and inspiring place 
to live, work and visit. A more active 
programme of local events will 
contribute to changing perceptions 
around Grantham being ‘boring’, ‘dull’ 
and ‘tired’ and encourage more people 
to visit the Town Centre. In particular, 
findings indicate that weekend 
visitation to the Town Centre is limited 
and there are further opportunities to 
consider how improvements the Town 
Centre can increase activation of 
public spaces. 

45



PAGE 28

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Business Incubation 
Space
There was support for improving the 
business environment in Grantham. 
Several comments suggested that reduced 
business rates and cheaper rents for local 
business would attract them to Grantham. 
The George Centre was identified as a 
potential location for new start ups.

Digital Technology
Opportunities to integrate digital technology 
throughout the Town Centre were identified 
by some of respondents, however it was 
not a key priority.

Potential Priority Areas

• Create a better environment for 
businesses to thrive. Business 
support was raised multiple times, with 
people keen to attract new innovation 
and business. Implementing incentives 
and initiatives to draw in creativity 
would help boost creative industry in 
the Town Centre. The vacant sites 
throughout Grantham were noted as 
sites for these potential businesses, 
adding to the on-street activity and 
improving overall perceptions.

• Respondents described Grantham 
using the word ‘potential’, indicating 
that people see opportunity in the 
Town Centre and would like these to 
be harnessed and better utilised. This 
could be addressed through small 
interventions and improvements such 
as standardising and improving shop 
fronts, adding to the historic elements 
of the Town Centre or increasing 
maintenance of existing spaces.

• Promote Grantham as a good place 
to live and work. Grantham has been 
identified as a good place to work by 
the majority of respondents and this 
could potentially be linked to a number 
of lifestyle and environment factors 
such as quality and way of life, access 
to nature and proximity to services. 
Supporting and investing in the local 
business community to thrive provides 
an opportunity to address existing 
challenges.

££

46



PAGE 29

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

4.2. CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS 

The engagement and consultation findings 
presented in this report have provided a summary 
of feedback received from the community and local 
stakeholders about Grantham Town Centre.

This report has been prepared to inform the 
preparation of the final business case to be 
submitted to the FHSF. The findings from the final 
Engagement Outcomes Report will also be shared 
with the community.

As InvestSK and the project team continue to finalise 
the business case over the coming months, ongoing 
communication with stakeholders who attended 
the workshops will continue. Additionally, wider 
consultation with key stakeholders and partners will 
also continue on a 1 to 1 basis. 

All feedback will then be shared with the wider 
project team to inform the final business case 
submission to the MHCLG in June/July 2020.

47



Produced May 2020

48



 Grantham Town Centre

ENGAGEMENT 
SUMMARY APPENDICES
May 2020

49

Appendix 3



PAGE 2

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES MAY 2020

PAGE 2

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

on street 
engagement 
events8

Workshop 
attendees44441

Surveys 
completed

Workshops
2

HOW WE ENGAGED

WHO WE ENGAGED*

*These statistics have been gathered from the survey responses only.

WHAT WE HEARD

75% 
were local 
residents

49% 
worked in 
Grantham

50% 
visited 

Grantham 
daily

62% 
drove to 

Grantham

Existing car parking 
arrangement is confusing 
and causing congestion in 

the Town Centre

Grantham has a lot  
of potential to be a  

great place

More greening in the Town 
Centre would enhance its 

aesthetic appeal

Improvements to 
movement and wayfinding 

could improve the Town 
Centre experience

Refurbishment of shop-
fronts would enhance the 

retail experience

More activities are needed 
for families and during  

the evening

A more pedestrian friendly 
environment is needed

Better opportunities for 
new businesses is required

SUMMARY ON A PAGE

A total of 441 surveys have been completed. The results provide a rich source of primary data for the 
project team to consider and incorporate into future spatial planning and identification of key priorities/
projects to bring forward as part of the regeneration of Grantham Town Centre. Below is a summary of 
the key engagement undertaken and the themes that have been identified as part of the initial analysis 
of the survey findings. For further summaries and detailed feedback, please refer to Appendix A and B.

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTREGrantham Town Centre Engagement

50



APPENDIX A

SURVEY RESULTS

PAGE 3

51



PAGE 4

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.1 I AM A...

Respondents were asked to identify their relationship to the Grantham Town Centre to help the project team 
inform the context in which survey responses were provided. 

Of the 437 responses, the majority of respondents (75%) identified as a local resident of Grantham. ‘Local 
workers’ formed the second highest group of survey respondents with 11% identifying as working locally in 
Grantham.

A smaller percentage of respondents identified as a ‘local business owner’ (4%) or visitor (5%). A small 
portion (5%) of respondents self-identified as ‘other’ which included a combination of ‘resident and worker’, 
‘student’ and ‘living nearby’. 

1.1. Survey Responses

Grantham Town Centre Survey

1 / 10

75.06% 328

3.89% 17

11.44% 50

5.03% 22

4.58% 20

Q1 I am a
Answered: 437 Skipped: 3

TOTAL 437

Local resident

Local business
owner

Local worker

Visitor

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

75.06%75.06%75.06%75.06%75.06%

3.89%3.89%3.89%3.89%3.89%

11.44%11.44%11.44%11.44%11.44%

5.03%5.03%5.03%5.03%5.03%

4.58%4.58%4.58%4.58%4.58%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Local resident

Local business owner

Local worker

Visitor

Other (please specify)

Q2 What brings you to Grantham town centre today?
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

52



PAGE 5

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.2 WHAT BRINGS YOU TO GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE TODAY?

To understand what attracts people to Grantham, respondents were asked to share their reasons for visiting 
the Town Centre.

From a total of 434 responses, almost half of respondents (49%) indicated that they were in the Town Centre 
for work. Approximately 25% of respondents indicated that they were in Grantham for ‘shopping’ whilst a 
further 9% were visiting for ‘leisure’ and 8% indicated that they visit Grantham for educational purposes. 
Almost 10% of respondents identified themselves as visiting for ‘other” reasons which included:

• Some were accessing essential services such as banks and dentist;
• Some were neighbouring residents to Grantham;
• Others were visiting for family reasons such as school run/collection and visiting family; and
• Others visiting for recreational and social purposes including meeting friends.

Grantham Town Centre Survey

2 / 10

48.62% 211

8.99% 39

8.06% 35

24.88% 108

9.45% 41

TOTAL 434

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%

8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%

8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%

24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%

9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please specify)

Q3 How often to you visit Grantham town centre?
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

Every day
(weekdays)

Weekends

Once or twice
a week

Once a month

Rarely

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%

4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%

31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%

7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%

5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%

53



PAGE 6

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.3 HOW OFTEN DO YOU VISIT GRANTHAM?

People were asked to indicate the frequency of their visits to Grantham Town Centre. 

Of the 438 responses, a majority of respondents (50%) visit Grantham ‘every day’ during the week and only 
a small percentage (5%) of respondents visiting on ‘weekends’. Almost a third of respondents (31%) visit 
Grantham ‘once or twice a week’. Only a small number of people visited the Town Centre once a month (8%) 
or ‘rarely’ (6%).

Grantham Town Centre Survey

2 / 10

48.62% 211

8.99% 39

8.06% 35

24.88% 108

9.45% 41

TOTAL 434

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%

8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%

8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%

24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%

9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please specify)

Q3 How often to you visit Grantham town centre?
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

Every day
(weekdays)

Weekends

Once or twice
a week

Once a month

Rarely

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%

4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%

31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%

7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%

5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%

54



PAGE 7

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.4 HOW DID YOU GET TO GRANTHAM TODAY?

To get a clear picture of how people travel to Grantham, respondents were asked to make a selection from 
one of four pre-set options.

A total of 433 people responded to this question, of which 62% indicated they travel by ‘car’. ‘Walking’ was 
the second most common response, with 28% of respondents indicating that they walked to Grantham. Over 
7% of respondents travel by bus or train, while only a small percentage of respondents (less than 1%) cycle 
to Grantham. 

Grantham Town Centre Survey

3 / 10

50.46% 219

4.61% 20

31.11% 135

7.83% 34

5.99% 26

TOTAL 434

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Every day (weekdays)

Weekends

Once or twice a week

Once a month

Rarely

4.62% 20

61.89% 268

0.46% 2

28.18% 122

2.54% 11

2.31% 10

Q4 How did you travel to Grantham today?
Answered: 433 Skipped: 7

TOTAL 433

Bus

Car

Cycle

Walk

Train

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

4.62%4.62%4.62%4.62%4.62%

61.89%61.89%61.89%61.89%61.89%

0.46%0.46%0.46%0.46%0.46%

28.18%28.18%28.18%28.18%28.18%

2.54%2.54%2.54%2.54%2.54%

2.31%2.31%2.31%2.31%2.31%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Bus

Car

Cycle

Walk

Train

Other (please specify)

55



PAGE 8

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.5 PLEASE PROVIDE ONE WORD TO DESCRIBE GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE. (ONE 
WORD ONLY)

Respondents were asked to share one word to describe Grantham Town Centre. Quick response questions 
like this are an effective way of succinctly capturing local sentiment and perceptions at a point in time. The 
diagram below represents some of the words used to describe Grantham.

Based on a total of 400 responses to date, the most reoccurring word provided by respondents to describe 
Grantham was ‘boring’ and ‘tired’, indicating that there is room for improvements to both the physical and 
social aspects of the Town Centre. ‘Potential’ was also frequently used to describe Grantham.

The most commonly occurring words used to describe Grantham Town Centre include:

• Boring (20 responses)
• Tired (19 responses)
• Dull (15 responses)
• Empty (14 responses)
• Rundown (14 responses)
• Busy (13 responses)
• Poor (10 responses)
• Potential (8 responses)

56



PAGE 9

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.6 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE IS KNOWN FOR…

Respondents were asked to share their views on what they thought Grantham Town Centre was known for. 
The purpose of this questions was to gain different perspectives about local character and identity to inform 
future masterplanning. Respondents could select from their answer from four pre-set options (heritage, 
culture/arts, shopping, education) or provide an alternative ‘other’ response. Responses could choose 
multiple answers. From a total of 422, there have a been a mixture of responses across both the pre-
selected options and open ended ‘other’ responses. 

Of the pre-set options, the majority of responses (36%) indicated that Grantham Town Centre was best 
known for its ‘heritage’. The second most common response was ‘shopping’, which was selected by 21% 
respondents. ‘Art’s and culture’ was the least common response (10%).

Please note, these responses should be read in context with ‘other’ responses which were provided by 
respondents (see below).

Grantham Town Centre Survey

4 / 10

Q5 Please provide one word to describe Grantham town centre. (One
word only)

Answered: 400 Skipped: 40

36.02% 152

9.95% 42

20.85% 88

12.09% 51

39.81% 168

Q6 Grantham town centre is known for...
Answered: 422 Skipped: 18

Total Respondents: 422  

Heritage

Culture/ Arts

Shopping

Education

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

36.02%36.02%36.02%36.02%36.02%

9.95%9.95%9.95%9.95%9.95%

20.85%20.85%20.85%20.85%20.85%

12.09%12.09%12.09%12.09%12.09%

39.81%39.81%39.81%39.81%39.81%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Heritage

Culture/ Arts

Shopping

Education

Other (please specify)

Q7 What would encourage you to visit Grantham Town Centre more
frequently?

Answered: 382 Skipped: 58

57



PAGE 10

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.6 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE IS KNOWN FOR… (CONT.)

In addition to the pre set options, there were a number of ‘other’ comments which were shared about what 
Grantham is known for. Most respondents only provided one or two word responses, so in this context, the 
word cloud below illustrates the number and type of other responses received. 

In summary:

• ‘Nothing’ was stated most frequently with many people saying that there is nothing significant that 
Grantham is known for. 

• Other commonly occurring sentiments ‘charity shops’ and ‘empty shops

58



PAGE 11

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.7 WHAT WOULD ENCOURAGE YOU TO COME TO GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE  
MORE FREQUENTLY?

To understand what some of the key priorities for residents and locals, respondents were asked to identify 
opportunities that might encourage people to visit Grantham Town Centre more frequently. Respondents 
could choose multiple answers for this question.

A total of 434 respondents answered this question. Consistent with the responses provided around the 
identity of Grantham Town Centre, the top priorities that would encourage people to visit were ‘better 
shopping’ (69%) and ‘more local, independent shops’ (57%). Respondents also felt that ‘traffic improvements’ 
and ‘improved pedestrian’ routes will encourage a visit to the Town Centre, representing 44% and 27% 
proportion of responses respectively.

Grantham Town Centre Survey

5 / 10

23.56% 90

69.37% 265

28.27% 108

57.33% 219

18.32% 70

44.24% 169

27.23% 104

26.96% 103

16.75% 64

Total Respondents: 382  

More community
events

Better shopping

More cultural
activities

More local,
independent...

More parks and
open spaces

Traffic
improvements

Improved
pedestrian...

More evening
activities

Improved safety

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

23.56%23.56%23.56%23.56%23.56%

69.37%69.37%69.37%69.37%69.37%

28.27%28.27%28.27%28.27%28.27%

57.33%57.33%57.33%57.33%57.33%

18.32%18.32%18.32%18.32%18.32%

44.24%44.24%44.24%44.24%44.24%

27.23%27.23%27.23%27.23%27.23%

26.96%26.96%26.96%26.96%26.96%

16.75%16.75%16.75%16.75%16.75%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

More community events

Better shopping

More cultural activities

More local, independent shops

More parks and open spaces

Traffic improvements

Improved pedestrian access

More evening activities

Improved safety

Q8 Quick response True or False
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

59



PAGE 12

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

OTHER

In addition to the pre-set options provided, there was space for ‘other’ comments, which respondents were 
able to share. ‘Other’ comments were sorted into nine broad themes and the frequency of response is 
provided in the table below.

• Other comments most frequently cited fell into the category of ‘parking improvements’, with many 
people saying that they would like increased parking provision and more free parking around the time 
centre.

• ‘Public realm’ improvements were also mentioned a number of times with respondents asking 
for improved paving and walking routes, with some comments made around increased areas for 
pedestrian streets and places for people to sit. 

• The third most commonly reoccurring theme was retail enhancements, with comments suggesting 
‘better quality’ shops, improving the high street retailing expedience and a desire for more activation 
and ‘less empty shops along the main street.

Theme No. Responses

Parking improvements 18

Public realm improvements 12

Retail enhancements 11

More activities 6

Non-specific 5

Public transport improvements 4

Social improvements 2

Better business environment 2

Protect heritage 1

Total ‘Other Comments’ 61

60



PAGE 13

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.8 TRUE OR FALSE

The results from a quick response ‘true or false’ questionnaire are provided below. 

Grantham Town Centre Survey

6 / 10

True False

Grantham town
centre is...

Grantham town
centre is...

I would like
to live in...

Grantham town
centre is a...

Grantham town
centre is a...

I like how
Grantham tow...

Grantham town
centre’s...

Grantham town
centre provi...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%

21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%

87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%

42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%

65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%

82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%

13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%

47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%

6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%

78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%

12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%

57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%

34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%

17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%

86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%

52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%

Grantham Town Centre is exciting? 

Grantham Town Centre is boring?

I would like to live in Grantham 
Town Centre

Grantham Town Centre is a good 
place to work?

Grantham Town Centre is a good 
place for families?

I like how Grantham Centre looks 
and feels

Grantham Town Centre’s historic 
character is important

Grantham Town Centre provides 
the local services and facilities  

I need

Grantham Town Centre Survey

6 / 10

True False

Grantham town
centre is...

Grantham town
centre is...

I would like
to live in...

Grantham town
centre is a...

Grantham town
centre is a...

I like how
Grantham tow...

Grantham town
centre’s...

Grantham town
centre provi...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%

21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%

87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%

42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%

65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%

82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%

13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%

47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%

6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%

78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%

12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%

57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%

34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%

17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%

86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%

52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%

61



PAGE 14

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.9 RATE YOUR EXPERIENCE IN GRANTHAM TODAY 1-5

Respondents were asked to rate their experience of Grantham. This question was to gauge Respondents 
were asked to share their views on what they thought Grantham Town Centre was known for. 

Quick response questions like this are an effective way of succinctly capturing local sentiment and 
perceptions at a point in time. The graph below shows the ratings given by respondents. 

Of a total of 427 responses:

• The majority of people said that their experience of Grantham is ‘average’ (43%);
• Moderate’ and ‘good’ were the next most selected answers, with 22% and 15% respectively; and
• The least selected response was ‘excellent’ (3%).

Grantham Town Centre Survey

7 / 10

6.03%
26

93.97%
405

 
431

 
1.94

78.20%
330

21.80%
92

 
422

 
1.22

12.29%
52

87.71%
371

 
423

 
1.88

57.39%
229

42.61%
170

 
399

 
1.43

34.62%
144

65.38%
272

 
416

 
1.65

17.88%
76

82.12%
349

 
425

 
1.82

86.57%
374

13.43%
58

 
432

 
1.13

52.12%
221

47.88%
203

 
424

 
1.48

 TRUE FALSE TOTAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE

Grantham town centre is exciting

Grantham town centre is boring

I would like to live in Grantham town centre

Grantham town centre is a good place to work

Grantham town centre is a good place for families 

I like how Grantham town centre looks and feels

Grantham town centre’s historic character is important

Grantham town centre provides the local services and facilities I need

Q9 Rate your experience in Grantham today 1-5 (1: poor, 5: excellent)
Answered: 427 Skipped: 13

16.39%
70

22.72%
97

43.09%
184

14.99%
64

2.81%
12

 
427

 
2.65

Poor Moderate Average Good Excellent

S

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

2.81%2.81%2.81%2.81%2.81%

14.99%14.99%14.99%14.99%14.99%

43.09%43.09%43.09%43.09%43.09%

22.72%22.72%22.72%22.72%22.72%

16.39%16.39%16.39%16.39%16.39%

 POOR MODERATE AVERAGE GOOD EXCELLENT TOTAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE

S

Q10 Would you like to be entered into the prize draw?
Answered: 431 Skipped: 9

62



PAGE 15

APPENDIX B

WORKSHOP 
MATERIALS
WORKSHOP MAP

WORKSHOP IMAGES

WORKSHOP PRESENTATIONS 1 + 2

WORKSHOP AGENDA

WORKSHOP FINDINGS (RAW DATA)

63



PAGE 16

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.1.1. WORKSHOP MAP

GRANTHAM
FUTURE HIGH STREET FUND

1211/130

FEBRUARY 2020 Alan Baxter

AERIAL IMAGE

 
0

N

 A
 52 (Sankt A

ugustin W
ay)

Dysart Road

B1174 (H
igh Street)

W
es

t g
at

e

Vin
e St

Elm
er St

Castlegate

River W
itham

Avenue Road

St Catherine Road

A607

Wyndham 
Park

Greyfriars

St Wulframs 
Church

Market 
Place

Cultural 
Quarter

St Peters 
Hill

Railway 
Station

Station Road

A 52 (Wharf Road)

A 52 (London Road)

A60
7 

(H
ar

la
xt

on
 R

oa
d)

Conduit Ln

Guildhall S
t

11

12

13

14

15

1.2. Workshop Materials

64



PAGE 17

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.1. WORKSHOP IMAGES

65



PAGE 18

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.2. WORKSHOP 1 PRESENTATION

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE

VISIONING 
WORKSHOP

27 FEBRUARY 2020

Welcome and
Introductions

Project Introduction

Engagement so far Feedback so far

Grantham in one word:

What would encourage them to visit more?

Improved safety

More evening activities

Improved pedestrian access

Traffic improvements

More parks and open spaces

More local, independent shops

More cultural activities

Better shopping

More community events 26%

60%

33%

54%

18%

31%

21%

28%

13%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

What is Grantham known for?

1. Heritage 
2. Shopping
3. Culture & Arts
4. Education
5. No unique identity
6. Poor infrastructure/lack of 

amenities
7. Connections
8. Margaret Thatcher

About the workshop

Workshop Activity 1

3 most positive things 3 most negative things

Where are key character areas in Grantham Town Centre?

Why? Why?

Workshop Activity 2

Challenges Opportunities

• Failing highstreets
• Attractive to work
• Sustainability
• Environment

• Social life
• Experiences
• Activities
• Community

Workshop Activity 2

What should Grantham be known for? What should Grantham offer?

What would encourage people to come 
to Grantham?

What are your priorities as a business 
owner/worker for yourself and for your 

customers?

Feedback Community Group 
Interest

66



PAGE 19

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.3. WORKSHOP 2 PRESENTATION

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE

VISIONING 
WORKSHOP

27 FEBRUARY 2020

Welcome and
Introductions

Project Introduction

Engagement so far Feedback so far

Grantham in one word:

What would encourage them to visit more? What is Grantham known for?

1. Heritage 
2. Shopping
3. Culture & Arts
4. Education
5. No unique identity
6. Poor infrastructure/lack of 

amenities
7. Connections
8. Margaret Thatcher

Improved safety

More evening activities

Improved pedestrian access

Traffic improvements

More parks and open spaces

More local, independent shops

More cultural activities

Better shopping

More community events 26%

60%

33%

54%

18%

31%

21%

28%

13%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Walk & Talk About the workshop

Workshop Activity 1

3 most positive things 3 most negative things

3 opportunities as a…
young person/family member/working professional

Why? Why?

Workshop Activity 2

Challenges Opportunities

• Failing highstreets
• Attractive to work
• Sustainability
• Environment

• Social life
• Experiences
• Activities
• Community

Community Group 
Interest

Workshop Activity 2

What should Grantham be known for? What should Grantham offer?

What would encourage people to come 
to Grantham?

Thank you

Feedback

67



PAGE 20

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.4. WORKSHOP 1 AGENDA

WORKSHOP 1

8 – 9.30 AM

ITEM TIME / 
DURATION

Sign-in & breakfast 7.55 am (5 
mins)

Welcome (presentation structure below)
Project introduction – (short presentation by InvestSK)
General/ around the room introductions – each person:
Who you are?
What you do?
Where you work?
Recap on events & engagement so far
Survey feedback (pending timing)
Overview of workshop – each group is to nominate a spokesperson for feedback
Aims of the workshop

8.00 am
(20 mins)

Workshop activity 1 (current Grantham)
3 tables to have informal discussions about ‘your experience’ of the area, points to speak about:
3 best things – places you love & why? 
3 worst things – places you avoid & why?
Where are the key character areas in Grantham Town Centre?
‘What does Grantham offer?’

8.20 am
(20 mins for 
group work)

Workshop activity 2 (future Grantham)
Each table to discuss aspirations and opportunities for Grantham: 
‘What should Grantham be known for?’
 ‘What should Grantham offer?’
‘What would encourage people to come to Grantham?’ 
What are your priorities as a business owner/ worker? For yourself and for customers
Do you have any plans, ideas or proposals that would influence the Town Centre?
Groups are to consider challenges and restrictions when discussing 

8.40 am
(20 mins for 
group work)

Feedback 
Each group to feedback their key points for best, worst and opportunities – to be fed back in terms of their 
priorities 

9 am (20 mins) 

Local group register of interest & discussion
Show of hands who would be interested in joining a group that helped shape the future of the area. 
InvestSK to describe each group.
Would you be interested in being part of a group? 
Which type of group would you be most interested in?
Town Team
Business Improvement District
Community Review Panel

9.20am (10 
mins)

Close 9.30 am

68



PAGE 21

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.5. WORKSHOP 2 AGENDA

WORKSHOP 2

12.00 – 1.30PM

ITEM TIME / 
DURATION

Presentation
Project introduction – (short presentation by InvestSK)
General/ around the room introductions – each person:
Who you are?
I am a…resident, worker, from a community group
Survey feedback (pending timing)
Overview of workshop

12.00 pm
(20 mins)

Workshop activity 2 (Current Grantham)
3 tables to have informal discussions about ‘your experience’ of the area, points to speak about:
3 best things – places you love & why? 
3 worst things – places you avoid & why?
3 opportunities as a…. (young or old person/ family/ working professional)

12.20 pm
(20 mins for 
group work)

Workshop activity 2 (future Grantham)
Each table to discuss aspirations and opportunities for Grantham, including: 
‘What should Grantham be known for?’
 ‘What should Grantham offer?’
‘What would encourage people to come to Grantham?’ 
Groups are to consider challenges and restrictions when discussing 

12.40 pm
(20 mins for 
group work)

Feedback 
Each group to feedback their key points from above activities. 

1.00 pm
(20 mins)

Local group register of interest & discussion
Show of hands who would be interested in joining a group that helped shape the future of the area.
Would you be interested in being part of a group? 
Which type of group would you be most interested in?
Town Team
Business Improvement District
Community Review Panel

1.20 pm
(10 mins)

Close 1.30pm

69



PAGE 22

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

CHARACTER AREAS & INTEREST

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

History, heritage and culture Culture Heritage

Castlegate – heritage buildings Culture Heritage

River and historic character Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill – Guildhall and Cinema – cultural quarter Culture Heritage

St Wulfram’s Church and surrounding area Culture Heritage

St Wulframs – church, school, library Culture Heritage

Cultural Quarter (focus here is the new cinema though) Culture Leisure

River and historic character Public Spaces Green Space

Market Place Public Spaces Open Space

Market Place – Historic market square Public Spaces Open Space

Westgate Public Spaces Open Space

Westgate – historic street and independents Public Spaces Open Space

1.3. Workshop Findings

1.3.1. CHARACTER AREAS

70



PAGE 23

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

CHARACTER AREAS & INTEREST

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Westgate – pedestrianise it. Accessibility & 
Movement Pedestrian

More residential in town Community Housing

Local and boutique shops Community Retail

Co-ordinated approach that everyone contributes Community Social

Heritage and history are important Culture Heritage

Castlegate – heritage buildings Culture Heritage

Georgian railway terraces by the station Culture Heritage

Heritage Quarter - Market Place – Historic market square – the George 
across to St Wulfrhams Culture Heritage

Industrial heritage along London Road and Wharf Road – former Canal Culture Heritage

St Anne’s / London Road – Victorian terraces and a complete parade on 
London Road Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill – but make the most of tit Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill – cultural quarter Culture Heritage

Westgate – historic street and independents Culture Heritage

71



PAGE 24

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.1 WHAT IS GRANTHAM KNOWN FOR?

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

A great place, with a great history where people live, work and visit Community Social

People and environmentally friendly Community Social

Margaret Thatcher / Isaac Newton / famous visitors Culture Heritage

Engineering Culture Heritage

Gravity fields Culture Heritage

Should be known for being clean and water – collective partnership 
approach to the ‘beautifying’ wall hanging baskets etc. Culture Identity

Need for standardised branding – eg signage, shop fronts, design Culture Identity

Grantham in Bloom Culture Leisure

Gingerbread Other Other

1.3.2. GRANTHAM’S IDENTITY

72



PAGE 25

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.1 WHAT IS GRANTHAM KNOWN FOR?

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Well paid high spec jobs Community Business

Good / excellent education Community Education

Affordability Community Other

Retail choice / market Community Retail

Connectivity – location good place for families to live Community Social

Isaac Newton Culture Heritage

Margaret Thatcher Culture Heritage

Old meets new – from iron age, bronze age, Roman to medieval to today. 
Destination for a day / weekend / month Culture Identity

Culture / theatre Culture Leisure

Innovation (IT) Other Other

Green energy Other Other

73



PAGE 26

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.2 WHAT SHOULD GRANTHAM OFFER?

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Cycle parking and encouraging of cyclists Access & Movement Public Transport

Change the one-way system Access & Movement Routes

Make this a service station for the A1 – a place where people can stop off Access & Movement Routes

Attract people off the A1 into the Town Centre. Signage is needed towards 
Grantham Market Town Accessibility Wayfinding

More workspace and employers Community Business

Move businesses out to Westgate and Castlegate and Community Business

E.g. redevelop the George Centre as residential Community Housing

Residential development of the High Street corridor – living above retail Community Housing

Activities for after school and public transport home after Community Leisure

Events and activities (see what it would be known for), focused on lower 
footfall periods – e.g. Wednesday Community Leisure

More things to do at lunch time (attract council employees) Community Leisure

Things for children to do – e.g. playgrounds or similar Community Leisure

Pharmacies and useful services such as banks and dentists retained Community Other

A diverse retail offer supporting independent businesses = make it easy / 
attractive for people to support these businesses Community Retail

More independent shops Community Retail

Cater for different audiences Community Social

A positive environment for work to attract new businesses and employees Community Social

Diversity Community Social

Develop the post office site into a landmark project Culture Heritage

Create a cultural artistic space at the station Culture Identity

Welcoming gateways Culture Identity

More cultural activity at St Peters Hill Green Culture Leisure

1.3.3. GRANTHAM’S POTENTIAL

74



PAGE 27

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.2 WHAT SHOULD GRANTHAM OFFER?

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Parking Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrian friendly Access & Movement Pedestrian

More public transport Access & Movement Public Transport

Relief Road Access & Movement Routes

Affordable housing and a good mix of types Community Housing

Mixture of retail experience to suit different incomes (not Stanford) Community Retail

Social meeting space / community space Other

More public toilets Public Spaces Facilities

Street greenery – parklets, seating, street lighting (normally turn off at 
11pm) Public Spaces Open Space

…………cycle routes Access & Movement Public Transport

Parking Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrian friendly Access & Movement Pedestrian

More public transport Access & Movement Public Transport

Relief Road Access & Movement Routes

Affordable housing and a good mix of types Community Housing

Mixture of retail experience to suit different incomes (not Stanford) Community Retail

Social meeting space / community space Other

More public toilets Public Spaces Facilities

Street greenery – parklets, seating, street lighting (normally turn off at 
11pm) Public Spaces Open Space

Cycle routes Access & Movement Public Transport

Parking Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrian friendly Access & Movement Pedestrian

75



PAGE 28

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.3.4. GRANTHAM’S ATTRACTIVENESS AS A DESTINATION

Q.3 WHAT WOULD ENCOURAGE PEOPLE TO VISIT GRANTHAM MORE FREQUENTLY?

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Shuttle bus service Access & Movement Public Transport

Increased footfall (people attract people) Access & Movement Pedestrian

Customers knowing where to park and for how long Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrianise Westgate Access & Movement Pedestrian

Issues with highways resolved Access & Movement Routes

Pedestrian friendly - easy to get around on foot with more pedestrian 
crossings on the High Street Access & Movement Public Transport

Multi-storey car parks with active frontages and roof top restaurants etc Access & Movement Cars

Improved car parking and ability to pay as you leave Access & Movement Cars

Information on car parking space availability Access & Movement Cars

High quality job opportunities Community Business

Proactive Town Centre management Community Management

Good marketing and promotion (Totally Local) Culture Identity

76



PAGE 29

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.3 WHAT WOULD ENCOURAGE PEOPLE TO VISIT GRANTHAM MORE FREQUENTLY?

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Using London connections by rail Access & Movement Heritage

Ability to park in more places for longer Access & Movement Cars

District hospital / social care prioritised and mental health care Community Other

Council should run George Centre (like Stanford Centre) Community Business

Encourage blue chip investment Community Business

Choice of more independent shops Community Retail

Community meeting spaces Community Retail

Retail opening hours to reflect shift working @ 7 days/week Community Retail

Employ local people – upskill Community Business

Heritage Centre Culture Heritage

Welcoming gateways (Asda, London Road) Culture Identity

Virtual High Street – promoting High Street businesses, amenities and 
services Culture Identity

Innovation Centre (light) Culture Identity

High Street uplift – look good / feel good Public Spaces Cars

Using London connections by rail Access & Movement Heritage

77



Produced May 2020

78



Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Future High Street Scheme for 
Grantham

Lead officer: 
Liz Bates, InvestSK
 
Assessors:
Steve Bowyer, InvestSK

Service Area:
Economic growth

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

26/05/20

79

Appendix 4



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Future High Street Scheme for Grantham
The Council is submitting a bid for a Future High Street Fund from the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government for capital 
improvements to Grantham Town Centre. These will include the 
enhancement of public realm and strategic property developments and are 
intended to create a more safe, welcoming and accessible environment for 
businesses and residents. By increasing footfall and encouraging a more 
diverse range of services and businesses, the town centre will be 
revitalised and more sustainable in the future.

Is this a new or existing policy? New

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Positive The enhancement of public 
realm within the town centre 
will improve pedestrian 
access. It will also provide a 
safe and welcoming 
environment with seating to 
allow older people to rest as 
required.

Disability Positive The enhancement of public 
realm within the town centre 
will be designed to be 
accessible, safe, legible, and 
inclusive. Further information 
is included in general 
comments below. 

Race Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 

80



positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 
positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic

Religion or 
Belief  

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 
positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic

Sex

  

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 
positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic

Sexual 
Orientation

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 
positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 
positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic.  See also ‘other 
groups’ for related information

81



Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 
positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic

Carers Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of 
this project, however, the 
improvements made to the 
public realm are intended to 
positively impact on people 
from all communities 
regardless of protected 
characteristic.  See age, 
disability and other groups for 
related information

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

People using 
pushchairs/prams

This group can be impaired in 
the same way as wheelchair 
users by uneven surfaces, 
high kerbs, and street clutter. 
The improvements made to 
the public realm within this 
scheme will therefore also 
have a positive impact for this 
group.

General 
comments

Design and specification will take full account of accessibility 
issues for those with physical mobility issues and dementia. 
This will include: 

 Tactile paving.
 Dropped kerbs. 
 The design and frequency of seating. 
 Shared spaces (lack of kerbs). 
 Appropriate surfacing materials (avoidance of uneven 

surfaces).
 The removal of street clutter and badly placed objects. 
 Disabled parking provision. 
 Footway gradients and crossfalls.

82



3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

Research was undertaken on the demographics and population of 
Grantham and its hinterland in order to inform the bid. Case studies on 
public realm enhancement schemes outside of South Kesteven have 
demonstrated the positive impact highlighted above and how it can be 
achieved. Consultation has been undertaken on improvements required to 
Grantham Town Centre and improved pedestrian access came out very 
strongly. Therefore, the schemes have been designed to enhance key 
locations in order to deliver this.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

Designs and cost estimates are at a concept stage and have included for 
the design and quality considerations highlighted in general comments 
above. Further consultation will be undertaken when detailed designs have 
been completed. 

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

83



b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Liz Bates
(Name and title) Head of Regeneration & Visitor Economy

Date completed: 26/05/26 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    28/05/20

84



Document is Restricted

85

Appendix 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
16 June 2020

Report of: Karen Bradford
Chief Executive

        

Programme of meetings of Council and Committees 
for 2020/21
This report sets out the draft dates for meetings of the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and other Committees of the Council

Report Author

Naomi Page, Democratic Officer

 01476 406539

naomi.page@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 26 May 2020

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 26 May 2020

Signed off by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 27 May 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Notes the draft programme of meetings for 2020/21 and recommends its adoption 
at the next ordinary meeting of Council on 16 July 2020 under the Local Authorities 
and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and 
Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020.

115

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Article 4.4.1(a)(x) of the Council’s Constitution states that the Council should adopt its 

annual programme of ordinary meetings for the forthcoming municipal year at its annual 
meeting. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Council’s annual meeting has been 
postponed until September.

1.2 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
remove the requirement for local authorities to hold annual meetings and allows for them 
to be held later in the current year if desired. The provisional date for South Kesteven’s 
annual meeting is 17 September 2020 when it is hoped that there will be some easing in 
COVID restrictions. 

1.3 To provide certainty for Members and transparency for members of the public, it is 
proposed that the draft programme is presented to Council on 16 July 2020 for approval, 
rather than waiting until the annual meeting. 

1.4 Until a programme of meetings can be approved by Council, dates for individual meetings 
will need to be agreed with the relevant Chairman. The Council has also released a press 
statement noting that all meetings will be taking place virtually until September 2020. This 
will be reviewed if restrictions remain in place.

1.5 Under the provisions of the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations, the Council is also able to hold Council and Committee meetings and make 
decisions remotely. As shown on the programme of meetings attached as Appendix 1 to 
this report, arrangements are currently in place for meetings to be held virtually until 
September 2020. At that time, the situation will be reviewed and the appropriate steps for 
future meeting arrangements will be taken in line with Government guidance.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 A copy of the draft programme of meetings has been shared with all Members of the 

Council and their comments and feedback have been reflected in the draft version 
attached as Appendix 1 to this report. A list of amendments made subsequent to this 
feedback can be found at Appendix 2 to this report.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The first option available is to approve the draft programme of meetings at the next 

ordinary meeting of full Council.

3.2 The Council could wait until the Annual Meeting to adopt its programme of meetings but 
as this is not likely to be until September 2020, there is a lack of certainty for Members 
and limits public transparency and accountability.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To adopt the annual programme of meetings at the next ordinary meeting of Council.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Adopting the annual programme at the next ordinary meeting of Council will provide 

certainty, allowing Members and officers to effectively plan the timeline for strategic 

116



decisions that need to be made by Council and Cabinet, while allowing for appropriate 
scrutiny and consultation. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 If Cabinet is supportive of the draft, it will be added to the agenda for the Council meeting 

on 16 July 2020, incorporating any changes requested by Cabinet. 

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 Legal and governance implications are captured within the body of the report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation of this report and no significant high risks 

have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

12.1 Holding virtual meetings has a positive climate impact because of the reduction in travel 
for Members and officers.

13 Appendices
13.1 Appendix 1: Draft Programme of Meetings 2020/21

13.2 Appendix 2: Changes made to the draft Programme of Meetings

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  16 July 2020

117



This page is intentionally left blank



May June July August September October November December January February March April May

Monday 1 3 2 1 1 3

Councillor briefing Council Bank Holiday

Tuesday 2 4 1 3 1 2 2 4

Cabinet (pm) Cabinet Environment (am) Cabinet (pm)

Culture & Visitor Econ 

(evening)
Cabinet (pm)

Culture & Visitor Econ 

(evening)

Wednesday 3 1 5 2 4 2 3 3 5

Planning Planning Planning Planning

Thursday 4 2 6 3 1 5 3 4 4 1 6

Gov & Audit LCC/PCC election

Friday 1 5 3 7 4 2 6 4 1 5 5 2 7

Licensing Licensing Licensing Licensing Licensing Licensing Licensing Licensing Bank Holiday Licensing Licensing Bank Holiday

Monday 4 8 6 10 7 5 9 7 4 8 8 5 10

Constitution Constitution Constitution Bank Holiday

Tuesday 5 9 7 11 8 6 10 8 5 9 9 6 11

Cabinet Cabinet (pm) Environment FED&CS OSC Q2 (am) Environment Culture & Visitor Econ Cabinet (pm)

Culture & Visitor Econ 

(evening)
Companies (pm)

Culture & Visitor Econ 

(evening)

Wednesday 6 10 8 12 9 7 11 9 6 10 10 7 12

Planning Planning Planning Planning Planning Employment Planning

Thursday 7 11 9 13 10 8 12 10 7 11 11 8 13

Gov & Audit Communities & Rural Communities & Rural Communities & Rural Communities & Rural

Friday 8 12 10 14 11 9 13 11 8 12 12 9 14

Bank Holiday Licensing Licensing Licensing

Monday 11 15 13 17 14 12 16 14 11 15 15 12 17

Tuesday 12 16 14 18 15 13 17 15 12 16 16 13 18

Planning Cabinet (pm) Cabinet

Culture & Visitor Econ 

(am)

Wednesday 13 17 15 19 16 14 18 16 13 17 17 14 19

Planning Planning Planning Employment Planning Planning Planning Employment

Budget OSC 

Thursday 14 18 16 20 17 15 19 17 14 18 18 15 20

Council Communities & Rural Council Annual Council Gov & Audit Gov & Audit Annual Council

Friday 15 19 17 21 18 16 20 18 15 19 19 16 21

Monday 18 22 20 24 21 19 23 21 18 22 22 19 24

Tuesday 19 23 21 25 22 20 24 22 19 23 23 20 25

Environment Environment FED&CS OSC Q1 (am) FED&CS (am) FED&CS OSC Q3 (am) Environment

Companies (pm) Cabinet (pm) Companies (pm)

Wednesday 20 24 22 26 23 21 25 23 20 24 24 21 26

Planning Planning
Budget OSC Amended 

20/21 Budget
Employment Budget OSC 21/22 Budget Planning Planning Planning Planning

Thursday 21 25 23 27 24 22 26 24 21 25 25 22 27

Gov & Audit Gov & Audit Council

Friday 22 26 24 28 25 23 27 25 22 26 26 23 28

Licensing Bank Holiday

Monday 25 29 27 31 28 26 30 28 25 29 26 31

Bank Holiday Constitution Bank Holiday Bank Holiday Bank Holiday

Tuesday 26 30 28 29 27 29 26 30 27

FED & CS OSC FED&CS OSC Q4 (am) FED & CS OSC Environment Cabinet FED&CS OSC (am)

Companies (pm) Companies (pm)

Wednesday 27 29 30 28 30 27 31 28

Employment Planning Planning Employment Planning Planning

Thursday 28 30 29 31 28 29

Council Communities & Rural

Friday 29 31 30 29 30

Meetings between May 2020 and September 2020 will be held virtually Appendix 1

119

A
ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Changes made to the draft Programme of Meetings  

The draft 2020/21 Programme of Meetings was circulated to all Councillors and CMT 
on 13 May 2020. In order to incorporate the feedback received, the following 
amendments were made to the draft programme:

 Councillor Briefing added (1 June 2020)
 Constitution Committee moved from 1 June 2020 to 29 June 2020
 Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 2 June 2020 moved to 23 

June 2020
 Additional Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee meeting – 28 July 2020
 Planning Committee meetings amended to fortnightly with effect from 10 June 

2020 (all meetings to be held on Wednesdays)
 Employment Committee moved from 22 July 2020 to 29 July 2020 to 

accommodate Planning Committee
 Employment Committee moved from 16 September 2020 to 23 September 

2020 to accommodate Planning Committee
 Employment Committee moved from 11 November 2020 to 18 November 

2020 to accommodate Planning Committee
 Employment Committee moved from 20 January 2021 to 27 January 2021 to 

accommodate Planning Committee
 Employment Committee moved from 3 March 2021 to 10 March 2021 to 

accommodate Planning Committee
 Employment Committee moved from 26 May 2021 to 19 May 2021 to 

accommodate Planning Committee
 Additional meeting of the Cabinet – 18 August 2020
 Additional meeting of Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider 

the amended 2020/21 Budget – 26 August 2020
 Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting of 23 September 2020 

removed
 Additional meeting of Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider 

2021/22 Budget – 21 October 2020
 Governance and Audit Committee meeting of 17 July 2020 moved to 23 July 

2020 (Thursday requested)
 Governance and Audit Committee meeting of 26 August 2020 removed

Other amendments made:

 The Governance and Audit Committee meeting on 21 May 2020 was 
adjourned; the meeting has been rescheduled for 4 June 2020

121

Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
16 June 2020

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources

        

Financial Impact Report
This report summarises the latest position on the 2020/21 Budget framework as a result of the 
financial impact of the COVID-19 crisis 

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

 01476 406210

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Budget and Policy 
Framework

All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 2 June 2020

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 3 June 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources 3 June 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Cabinet is asked:
1)  To review the current financial position for 2020/21 and comment on the actions 

being taken as detailed in the report;
2) To agree to continue to monitor the current 2020/21 financial position and 

recommend amendments to the budget framework at their meeting on 8 September 
2020 for consideration by Council on 17 September 2020.

3) To suspend car parking charges until 1 August 2020 at all Council operated pay and 
display car parks.

4) To continue the remuneration bonus payment of £50 to drivers, operatives, team 
leaders, supervisors, vehicle fitters and support staff working within the street 

123

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


scene service (together with any staff seconded to the service during the COVID-19 
response period) for the period up to and including 30 September 2020.  The bonus 
payment received by part time and casual staff will be on a pro rata basis. 

5) To re-introduce the billing of rent to the SMEs (small, medium enterprises) that 
occupy Council premises from 1 July 2020 and delegate authority to the Interim 
Director of Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources, to suspend rents for individual tenant businesses that meet criteria in 
relation to hardship

1 The Background to the Report
1.1 This report is primarily focussed on reviewing the impact the COVID-19 pandemic is having 

on the 2020/21 financial although there was an impact on the previous financial year of 
£48k.  This was due to the impact of the restrictions imposed from the middle of March and 
the ‘stay at home’ message on 23 March 2020 which immediately impacted on car parking 
(£39k) and market income (£9k).  However as the provisional outturn of the 2019/20 financial 
year nears completion it is positively demonstrating that the adverse variance can be 
accommodated without any recourse to reserves.

1.2 With the exception of these headings the financial impact on the 2019/20 year has been 
minimal and can be contained within the budget framework.

2020/21 Financial Position
1.3 The budget for 2020/21 was approved by Council on 2 March 2020.  The budget did include 

a number of new investment initiatives, savings and transformation projects that totalled 
approximately £1m.  Due to the current financial situation and the need for the Council to 
re-allocate its focus and resources on responding to the crisis, the ability to deliver the 
budgeted savings will be significantly affected in the current year.  Therefore, it will be 
necessary later in the year for Council to approve an amended budget framework and 
Cabinet will be considering the proposed amendments at its September meeting.  The 
amended budget framework will also reflect the reduction in fees and charges income, 
Government grants received and emerging costs that were not included in the original 
spending plans. 

1.4 This section of the report sets out the financial impact following the introduction of stringent 
movement restrictions announced by the Prime Minister on 23 March 2020.  This situation 
is likely to continue in the short to medium term as the lifting of the restrictions are eased 
over the medium term.  Therefore, it is important that Members are kept fully updated over 
the coming period which is highly likely to culminate in a requirement to present an amended 
budget framework for Members consideration later in the year. 

1.5 It is recognised that it is necessary to undertake regular assessment of the impact of the 
situation as there is no clear easing of the current restrictions.  However, there are several 
key areas where the impact can be identified, and modelling can be undertaken to assess 
the financial consequence both immediate and longer term.  The key income areas affected 
are:

124



Service Area Gross Income 
Annual 
Budget (£)

Actual Loss 
of Income 
for the 
period 1 
April – 29 
May (£)

Forecast 
Impact – 3 
months (£)

Commentary

Arts Centres 1,149,250 191,542 287,313 Assume 
closure for 3-
month period

Building Control 657,900 62,770 98,685 Assumed 50% 
reduction over 
3-month period.  
(This is the 
partnership 
impact and it is 
anticipated that 
the income 
losses will 
increase over 
the coming 
months)

Car Parking 
fees

1,293,000 214,484 323,250 No charges for 
3 month period.  
To be reviewed 
on 30 June 
2020

Planning and 
Land Charges 

1,370,600 138,248 197,673 Assumed 50% 
reduction over 
3-month period

Markets 252,700 36,218 50,000 Occupancy is 
averaging 10% 
of budgeted 
attendance.  
Occupancy is 
expected to 
increase from 1 
June 2020

Licencing 282,500 20,081 25,000 Currently a 
50% reduction 
in income 
compared with 
budget 

Property 
Commercial 
Income

1,107,850 52,571 77,550 This represents 
one quarter 
deferred 
income

125



Service Area Gross Income 
Annual 
Budget (£)

Actual Loss 
of Income 
for the 
period 1 
April – 29 
May (£)

Forecast 
Impact – 3 
months (£)

Commentary

Trade Waste 366,500 26,511 41,231 Assumed 45% 
reduction over 
3-month period

Treasury 
Investment 
Interest

236,000 15,000 23,600 0.5% interest 
received 
compared to 
0.9% budgeted 

Totals 6,716,300 757,425 1,124,302

1.6 It can be seen from the table above that there are a number of areas that are now extremely 
volatile due to the current situation and the financial exposure from both a cash flow and 
budget perspective is now apparent. To date there has been £757k of lost income compared 
to the budgets over a two month period.  For the first quarter of the financial year, this is 
predicted to be in the region of £1.1m.  However, it is anticipated that some of the income 
losses listed above will be offset by reduced expenditure where there are associated 
variable costs. Work is underway to identify these costs and this analysis will be 
incorporated into the amended budget proposals.  

1.7 Income modelling is being undertaken based on 3, 6, 9 and 12 month scenarios and the 
model is updated as changes in the current restrictive measures are announced that may 
have a positive impact.  A summary is shown at Appendix A and shows that the financial 
exposure for the 3 month period is highly predicted to be in excess of £1m. The full year 
impact could rise to £3.8m based on an assumed improving picture for the remaining months 
(July – March 2021).  This will be heavily dependent upon the easing of restrictive 
movements and the level of economic recovery.

Cash Flow Modelling
1.8 Cash flow is a key area of focus in the current circumstances.  Appendix B shows in greater 

detail the main cash flow areas from both income and expenditure.  The method of cash 
flow modelling has been agreed countywide with all authorities working collaboratively to 
share approaches and good practice to ensure a consistent methodology is adopted.  

1.9 The model shows the actual activity for April and May when compared to the forecast and 
the predicted forecast for the remaining months.  The main area of concern is the impact 
that the current economic situation is having on cash income levels as this affects the 
Council’s ability to meet its contractual obligations in terms of staffing, precept payments 
and suppliers.  The summary of the 2 months presents a positive picture as collection rates 
continue to be at a relatively high level and the Government intervention of deferring 
Business Rates pool payments for a 3 month period (April – June) has been of great 
assistance.  In addition the Government has begun to make Section 31 grant payments to 

126



offset the income losses resulting from the extended Business Rate relief package 
announced in the Spring Budget.  So in overall terms the cash flow has performed strongly 
in April and May.  The cash flow model has been stress tested and mitigating actions 
undertaken are:

 Investments balances have been placed on call accounts and Money Market Funds 
that enable quick and easy access to funds.

 The Government has deferred the Business Rates pooling payments for the 3 month 
period (April – June) meaning the Council can make the equivalent payments from July 
onwards in the financial year.

 Creditor payments have significantly reduced as a result of the Capital programmes 
being deferred and so average creditor payments of £5.2m per month are forecast to 
reduce to £3m in the next few months or until the capital programmes are re-
commenced.

1.10 Based on the current profiling the cash flow does not anticipate any difficulties in the short 
term (based on the actual activity to date) and the modelling assumptions for the next 3 
month period.   However, income activity with respect to Council Tax and Business Rates 
will remain a key focus.  Whilst the recovery policy has been suspended for the current time, 
Council staff will continue to actively engage with residents and businesses to ensure that 
payments continue to be made where possible.  More detail is provided in the next section 
of the report.

Council Tax and Business Rates
1.11 These funds are key income sources to the Council and as such are being carefully 

monitored to measure the impact of the current situation on collection rates.  

 The Council expected to collect £17.120m of Council Tax income during April and May 
but received actual income of £16.403m, although 1,814 accounts have requested a 
deferral on their instalments which will have impacted on the collection performance.  
For Business Rates, the collectible amount for April and May was £6.131m and collected 
£5.450m.

1.12 Business Rates – the Council is currently part of the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool which 
has run successfully since 2013/14.  Based on seven successful years and similar forecasts 
for 2020/21, the Lincolnshire authorities agreed to run the Pool for 2020/21.  Based on the 
business rates estimates prepared for the year, the Pool was expected to increase the 
retained financial resources locally by £7.3m (of which £900k was forecast for South 
Kesteven).  Obviously the current crisis will have an impact on the forecast local surplus and 
modelling has been undertaken by external financial support on behalf of all Pool members 
(Lincolnshire authorities).  It is worth noting that at this stage it is extremely difficult to predict 
the impact on the Pool due to a high number of unknowns and the state of the local, regional 
and national economy once restrictions are eased.  The analysis undertaken has been to 
show reductions in business rates income for individual authorities and at what point the 
Pool begins to make a loss.  The analysis has been done on a uniformed basis assuming a 
consistent reduction in revenues across the Pool area although work has commenced to 
analyse individual authority impact by analysing the business rates base by sector type.  
The initial findings are:

 A 5% reduction in forecast business rates reduces the surplus from £7.3m to £4.9m

 A 15% reduction in forecast business rates reduces the surplus from £7.3m to zero 

127



 A 20% reduction in forecast business rates reduces the surplus from £7.3m to a 
loss of £3.5m 

Modelling will be undertaken at the end of quarter 1 (end of June) to assess the initial 
impact and to provide an updated forecast for the remainder of the year.

1.13 The tax base for South Kesteven has also been analysed to assess the level of exposure 
to economic recovery.  The Valuation Office has a business category list of 362 types and 
these have been broken down into low, medium and high risk relative to the sector (ie retail 
and hospitality is currently classified as higher risk).  This analysis reveals the following for 
South Kesteven and confirms that the business sector spread is below the regional average:

Heading Percentage of tax base in each risk category 

Higher Medium Lower

South Kesteven 22% 28% 50%

City of Lincoln 35% 28% 37%

Lincolnshire 24% 31% 44%

 During April and May direct debits have continued and the following is a summary of the 
amounts collected and rejected:

Fund Amount 
Called 

(£)

Number of 
accounts

Rejected 
(£)

Rejection 
Rate

Benchmarked 
Rejection 

Rate

Council 
Tax

13,395,489 92,198 103,836 0.78% <1%

Business 
Rates

2,629,111 1,557 89,375 3.4% 2%

Rents 1,016,774 5,905 41,348 4% 5%

1.14 The rejection rates are being reviewed and compared across Lincolnshire to ensure there 
is a shared understanding of rejection levels and to help identify any adverse trends that 
may occur.  However for the immediate two month period following the pandemic, rejection 
rates are broadly in line with our local authority neighbours.  For Businesses, a number took 
the decision to cancel their direct debits in order to support their business cash flow or 
because they considered themselves to be eligible for reliefs that were being announced by 
Government.

1.15 One other area that is currently being reviewed is the Council’s Collection Fund which is a 
separate account held by the Council to record all payments received in relation to Council 
and Business Rates.  The Fund also records the precepts made to all precepting authorities 
specifically Lincolnshire County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner.  The risk 
being carried is that the estimated cash payments made to the precepting authorities were 
set in January 2020 in accordance with statutory requirements.  Should the collection rates 
during this year reduce as a result of the current crisis, the Council’s cash flow would be 
adversely affected.  Therefore the Council could face a situation where it is paying precept 

128



payments that are greater than the income that it has received from businesses and 
residents.  This risk is incorporated into the risk register which details the appropriate 
mitigating actions. 

Additional Financial Considerations
1.16 Inevitably there has been a need to incur additional expenditure in response and these are 

being captured in order to ensure grant monies received are used to offset and also to assist 
in information sharing across the local authority family and Government returns.  The 
following is a summary of the main areas:

Heading Detail Financial Impact

Formation of the 
Community Hub 

Redeployment of staff from 
non essential areas into the 
Community Hub

Cost neutral to date

Furlough of staff 12 officers from the Building 
Control partnership furloughed 
from 28 April 

Overall saving £19.5k per month 
and Authority saving of £5k per 
month*

Key 
Expenditure

Purchase of PPE equipment 
for specific essential workers, 
software changes to support 
new grant schemes, 
administration costs 

£48k incurred to date

Changes to 
salaries

Increase in remuneration to 
operatives and increase in 
overtime rates 

Forecast at £35k per month 
depending upon number of 
operatives and hours worked 

Bed and 
Breakfast

Increase in demand and 
response to Directive to 
provide housing for all 
homelessness cases

£15k for one month based on 346 
additional nights 

Leisure Provider 
claim 

Leisure provider has submitted 
a claim for financial losses. 

At the present time the claim is 
being reviewed.  Details of the 
claim are exempt and shown at 
appendix D

Adaptation of 
HRA properties

Modifications to specific 
properties in order to 
accommodate more bedsits 

15 conversions at an estimated 
cost of £37k 

*  an update on furloughing of staff will be provided at the meeting

Funding 
1.17 To date the Council has received two Government funding tranches totalling £1,480,912:

Amount Allocated Proportionate share to 
South Kesteven

Basis of Allocation

£1.6bn £64,622 Mixture of Adult Social 
Care Relative Needs 

129



Formula (87%) and 
Settlement Funding 
Assessment (13%)

£1.6bn £1,416,290 Allocation based on a per 
capita basis, and a 65:35 
split between county and 
district authorities

This funding is designed to meet the costs of dealing with the current crisis, offsetting some 
of the budget shortfalls being experienced and help support short term cash flow.  However 
it is recognised that further funding will be required as the wider implications and longer term 
impact of the crisis becomes clearer.  At the present time there is no indication that further 
funding will be available although there continues to be an ongoing dialogue with the 
Government utilising established Council networks.
Capital Schemes

1.18 The capital programmes for both General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account have 
been re-profiled to take consideration of the current climate with the majority of schemes 
delayed until later in the financial year.  It is not known whether the budgets will be accurate 
given the predicted volatility in the procurement market once the economic recovery starts.  
Therefore the programmes and the associated funding will require reviewing later in the 
year.  The funding of the programmes are largely internally sourced and so in the short term, 
cash balances are higher than originally envisaged although offset by a low interest rate 
(0.52%).   Going forward consideration will be given to the financial modelling and phasing 
of the large scale projects including St Martins Park Stamford, the leisure investment 
programme, Historic Action Zone, Future High Street initiative and the Housing Revenue 
Account new home building programme.  These projects are significant financial 
commitments from both a capital (and to a lesser extent) revenue perspective and the Future 
High Streets and the leisure investment programme are currently not included in the medium 
financial plans of the Council.  Careful consideration will need to be given to ensure the 
affordability of these projects within the context of the post COVID-19 recovery plans.   

Government Schemes 
1.19 During April and May there were a number of schemes announced by Government which 

have been administered by the Council with the support of InvestSK.

 Extended Retail Relief Scheme.  The Government has extended the eligibility criteria 
for the 100% business rates retail relief to include other sectors specifically the leisure 
and hospitality sectors.  This is for 2020/21 only and 686 additional businesses in the 
District have benefited from this extension and £17.4m of relief has been awarded.

 Funding has been made available to help small, rural, retail, leisure and hospitality 
businesses with their ongoing business costs in recognition of the disruption caused by 
COVID-19.  The grants are split into two categories: 

 Small Business Grant Fund - £10k

 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund - £10k and £25k (depending on rateable 
value)

To date £27m has been passed to 2,254 eligible businesses (87% of those classified as 
eligible).

130



The Government has recently announced an extension to the grant scheme and has 
allocated a further £1.6m to enable the Council to develop a discretionary scheme to 
support those businesses that fall outside the criteria for the original grant scheme.  The 
scheme went live on 1 June 2020 and was supported by a targeted media campaign to 
ensure that businesses that are potentially eligible for support are provided with the 
opportunity to apply.

 Council Tax Hardship Fund – The Council has been allocated £924k to provide financial 
support to working age claimants who are eligible for Council Tax support.  This will be 
implemented in the coming weeks and for the 2020/21 Council Tax bills and will be 
available for new claimants for the remainder of the financial year.  It is anticipated that 
there will be a tenfold increase in claimants for the remainder of the year.  For context 
there has been an increase of 68% in contacts to the Benefits team from residents 
seeking information and support and these have been responded to accordingly.

Finance Risk Register
1.20 A Risk Register has been prepared and is shown at Appendix C setting out the financial risk 

categories and the actions that are in place to mitigate those risks.  The register is dynamic 
and responsive and will be updated and amended during this period to ensure appropriate 
actions are put in place when the need arises.

Amended Budget 2020/21
1.21 It will be necessary to seek approval for an amended budget later this year in order to make 

the necessary changes to both income and expenditure reflecting the changes detailed in 
this report.  The amended budget proposals will be presented to a joint Budget Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting the provisional date of which is 26 August and then 
presented to Cabinet on 8 September ahead of Council on 17 September.

Summary
1.22 The report sets out the main headings of the financial impact of the current situation.  It is 

a changing picture and the Council responses will be modified and adapted as the national 
easing of restrictions becomes clearer.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 A version of this report was presented to the Finance, Economic Development and 

Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 May 2020.  The Committee 
requested that regular reports be presented at each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meeting to ensure members were kept fully updated on the changing situation.  There were 
no direct recommendations to Cabinet arising from this meeting.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 No other options were considered, a financial update was requested by Councillors.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 As set out in the recommendations.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 As set out in the report.

131



6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Feedback from Scrutiny Councillors will be fed back to Cabinet in readiness for the 

amended budget proposals for 2020/21. An amended budget framework will be presented 
to Cabinet prior to Council in September 2020.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 This report sets out the financial implications of the current position and informs members 

of the current volatility with both income losses and cash flow projections.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 As part of good governance, it is important members are kept updated in respect of the 

financial position of the Council expenditure during the course of the year.  This is 
particularly important during the current crisis.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 Not applicable.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 The associated financial risks and mitigations in place are detailed throughout the narrative 

in the report and form the basis of the modelling that is in place.  This is an explicit element 
of the cash flow modelling.  A risk register is shown at Appendix C and will be updated as 
required.

11 Community Safety Implications 
Not applicable.

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

12.1 The report has a neutral carbon impact.

13 Other Implications (where significant) 
13.1 The identified implications are referenced in the report.

14 Background Papers
14.1 Council Budget Report:

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3827&Ver=
4

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Report:

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=3897&Ver=
4

132

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3827&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3827&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=3897&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=3897&Ver=4


15 Appendices
15.1 Appendix A – Potential of Financial Impact on Budgets

15.2 Appendix B – Cashflow Modelling

15.3 Appendix C – Finance Risk Register

15.4 Appendix D – Exempt item (commercial details relating to the Leisure Provider)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

133



This page is intentionally left blank



High Risk Area

20-21 Budget
Realistic 

Impact

Assumed 

Monthly 

Impact
Pessimistic

Pessimistic 

Monthly 

Impact Optimistic

Optimistic 

Monthly 

Impact

REALISTIC 

FOR 3 

MONTHS

REALISTIC 

IMPACT FOR 

MONTHS 4-

12 

REALISTIC 

FORECAST 

FOR MONTHS 

4-12

REALISTIC 

FORECAST 

REDUCTION 

2020/21

Arts Centres 1,149,250 100% £95,771 100% £95,771 100% £95,771 287,313 70% £603,356 890,669

Building Control 657,900 60% £32,895 70% £38,378 40% £21,930 98,685 50% £246,713 345,398

Car Parks 1,293,000 100% £107,750 100% £107,750 100% £107,750 323,250 50% £484,875 808,125

Planning and Land Charges 1,370,600 57% £65,104 70% £79,952 30% £34,265 195,311 40% £411,180 606,491

Markets 252,700 80% £16,847 90% £18,953 50% £10,529 50,540 60% £113,715 164,255

Licencing 282,500 35% £8,240 70% £16,479 30% £7,063 24,719 40% £84,750 109,469

Property Commercial Income 1,107,850 28% £25,850 50% £46,160 20% £18,464 77,550 60% £498,533 576,082

Commercial Waste 366,500 45% £13,744 60% £18,325 30% £9,163 41,231 40% £109,950 151,181

Treasury Investment Income 236,000 40% £7,867 60% £11,800 30% £5,900 23,600 70% £123,900 147,500

TOTAL INCOME AT RISK 6,716,300 £374,066 £433,567 £310,834 £1,122,198 £2,676,971 £3,799,169

High Risk Area 20-21 Budget

Realistic 

Impact
Monthly 

Impact Pessimistic

Pessimistic 

Monthly 

Impact Optimistic

Optimistic 

Monthly 

Impact

HRA rents (assuming 50% benefits) 12,278,500 5% £51,160 10% £102,321 2% £20,464

Assumed Reduction

Potential of Economy Impact on Budgets
Assumed Reduction

135

A
ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2020/21 Cashflow Statement (£)

Forecast Actual Forecast Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

April April May May June July August September October November December January February March Total

Income

Council Tax 9,086,264 8,722,326 8,033,535 7,680,452 7,895,472 8,068,050 7,895,472 7,981,761 8,085,308 8,033,535 7,947,245 7,973,132 2,122,717 2,125,593 92,928,536

Business Rates 3,670,176 3,228,948 2,461,370 2,221,319 2,595,378 2,286,339 2,420,347 2,376,589 2,387,529 2,316,422 2,412,142 2,089,429 1,206,071 879,712 29,322,823

Rent 1,173,546 1,155,466 1,328,846 1,235,236 1,261,430 1,447,873 1,287,894 1,407,001 1,432,078 1,304,494 1,276,171 1,352,782 1,320,767 1,320,767 17,148,884

Invoices raised to customers 637,717 589,590 207,688 1,114,556 420,773 299,432 710,181 366,478 354,912 218,790 526,853 426,719 426,719 5,710,818

Housing Benefit Overpayments 30,082 24,988 28,820 18,778 22,176 18,097 18,384 23,823 24,813 18,369 12,644 22,756 27,762 27,762 294,266

Reimbursement of VAT 400,000 344,953 400,000 289,743 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 5,089,743

New Homes Bonus 453,000 0 453,442 453,000 453,000 453,000 2,265,442

Section 31 grant 200,000 2,232,587 1,545,455 1,714,975 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 18,914,975

Subsidy 1,386,000 1,386,421 1,386,000 3,107,249 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 19,739,249

Other (grants Covid19, subsidy) 1,734,689 1,859,392 3,594,081

17,036,785 17,685,279 17,126,402 18,580,585 16,220,467 16,025,586 15,252,983 15,830,810 16,080,660 15,359,187 15,198,446 15,749,406 8,435,491 8,112,008 195,008,817

Expenditure

LCC & PCC Precepts, Business Rates Pooling Payments 9,346,000 9,346,115 9,346,000 9,346,115 1,190,000 9,346,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 1,060,000 9,216,000 104,146,115

Government Bus. Rates Pooling Payments 1,800,000 58,740 58,738 58,738 58,740 1,936,305 1,721,160 1,721,162 2,659,943 2,659,943 2,659,945 2,659,944 2,659,944 2,659,943 23,314,505

Salaries 1,000,000 988,666 1,000,000 1,014,277 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 13,014,277

Benefit payments 885,000 852,154 850,000 844,820 850,000 1,650,000 840,000 840,000 810,000 890,000 860,000 800,000 790,000 790,000 11,699,820

Public Works Loan Board Loan Repayments 3,000,000 3,000,000 6,000,000

Rejected Direct Debits 50,000 206,092 50,000 58,806 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 658,806

Creditors 5,250,000 4,508,571 3,000,000 2,106,818 3,000,000 3,000,000 4,500,000 4,500,000 4,200,000 3,020,000 3,075,000 3,500,000 4,685,000 4,650,000 48,486,818

Business Rates/Council Tax refunds 180,000 917,131 135,000 404,517 115,000 200,000 115,000 180,000 175,000 100,000 317,000 171,000 175,000 175,000 2,442,517

18,511,000 16,877,469 14,439,738 13,834,091 6,263,740 17,182,305 17,442,160 20,507,162 18,110,943 16,935,943 17,177,945 17,396,944 10,419,944 21,540,943 209,762,858

Net Cashflow 1,474,215 -807,810 -2,686,664 -4,746,494 -9,956,727 1,156,719 2,189,177 4,676,352 2,030,283 1,576,756 1,979,499 1,647,538 1,984,453 13,428,935 14,754,041

2,282,025 2,059,830

NOTES

April

The Section 31 grant estimated on NNDR1 is normally paid in 12 instalments but Government paid the total amount in April to assist with cashflow which increased the income receipts

Government have rescheduled their share of the NNDR pooling payments to reduce the pressure on cashflow April - June

There has been a decrease in payments to suppliers of £0.741m

There has been an increase in NNDR and Council Tax refund of £0.737m

There has been a reduction in council tax and NNDR income of £0.806m, this will partly be due to the rescheduling of payments and will be monitored on a daily basis

May

There was an increase in the subsidy grant expected to be received of £1.721m which relates to the balance of grant outstanding from 19/20

The New Homes Bonus Grant was received in May rather than April

There has been a reduction in Council tax and NNDR income of £0.593m, this will partly be due to the rescheduling of payments and will be monitored on a daily basis

There has been a decrease in payments to suppliers of £0.893m

There has been an increase in NNDR and Council Tax refund of £0.270m

137

A
ppendix B



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Finance Risk Register

Risk 
ref Risk description Existing 

controls/plans/mitigations
Action to be taken to enhance or expand 
existing controls Likelihood Impact Rating

Priority
L/M/H/V

H

Risk 
category

1

The Council has 
insufficient 
cashflow to 
meets its 
liabilities

Daily cashflow is produced for 
investment purposes

An enhanced cashflow has been produced 
which is reviewed/updated on a daily basis to 
identify any issues with cash receipts and 
investments have been placed in in instant 
access accounts to manage cashflow needs

3 4 12 High Financial

2

Treasury 
Management 
returns and 
counterparty 
risk

Interest rates and counterparty 
risk are reviewed on a daily basis

Investments have been placed in instant access 
accounts so that if any risks are identified with 
counterparties the investment can be 
withdrawn

2 4 8 High Financial

3

Budgetary 
impact of 
COVID-19 on 
discretionary 
income receipts 
and additional 
expenditure 

Monthly budget monitoring Discretionary income receipts and additional 
expenditure are being monitored on a weekly 
basis to determine the impact of the pandemic 
on the council.  Sensitivity analysis has been 
produced so that the 'best' and 'worse' case 
scenarios are known, this is updated on a 
weekly basis as information is released and 
actual data is known.

3 4 12 High Financial

4
Council Tax - 
non-payment of 
liability

Collection rates are monitored on 
a monthly basis

Collection rates are monitored on a weekly 
basis and benchmarked against neighbouring 
authorities

3 4 12 High Financial

139

A
ppendix C



Appendix C

5

Business Rates - 
non-payment of 
liability/closure 
of businesses 
and the impact 
on the 
Lincolnshire 
Business Rates 
Pool

Collection rates and net rates 
payable are monitored on a 
monthly basis

Collection rates are monitored on a weekly 
basis and the net rates payable is stressed test 
against the Lincolnshire business Rates Pool on 
a quarterly basis to establish the overall impact 
on the pool position 3 4 12 High Financial

6

Reserve levels 
insufficient to 
meet Council 
ambitions

Reserve levels are monitored 
alongside Council budgets 

The budgetary impact of COVID-19 is being 
monitored against uncommitted reserves and 
the sensitivity analysis is also being stress 
tested against available reserve levels

2 4 8 High Financial

7

Affordability of 
capital 
programme

Funding is committed to capital 
projects during the budget setting 
process and expenditure is then 
monitored on a monthly basis for 
the duration of the project so 
that under/overspends are 
known

Reserve levels are monitored on a monthly 
basis to identify whether resources are still 
available to fund the programme or whether 
alternative funding steams need to be 
identified

2 4 8 High Financial

8

Classification of 
the business 
sector to 
economic 
recovery

This is a new risk due to the 
anticipated recession

Financial advisors are working with Lincolnshire 
authorities and monitoring the percentage of 
businesses which fall into high/medium/low 
risk categories for recovery so that the impact 
on business rates receipts can then be 
monitored

2 4 8 High Financial

9

Management of 
supplier 
payments

This is a new risk Supplier payments are reviewed on a weekly 
basis to ensure that only necessary expenditure 
is being incurred that supports service delivery 
or the Council’s community response to the 
crisis 

2 3 6 High Financial

140



Appendix C

10

Third Party 
financial claims

This is a new risk Risk of claims received from third party 
suppliers resulting from their income losses 
being experienced due to trading difficulties 3 3 9 High Financial 

11

Commercial 
lettings income 

This is a new risk Risk of Council tenant experiencing difficulties 
in meeting their rental obligations over the 
medium term 3 3 9 High Financial 

141



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

143

Appendix D
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
16 June 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

COVID-19 SKDC Response - Position Statement
The report sets out a position statement for South Kesteven District Council on its response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic during the period March to May 2020.  The report details the key priorities for 
the Council, activities, challenges and lessons learnt.

Report Author

Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 

 01476 406080

 Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Non-Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director – Transformation and 
Change 5 June 2020

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 June 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 8 June 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Notes the response of South Kesteven District Council and partners to the COVID-
19 crisis and the current position of the Council with regards to the response, 
recovery and delivery of its priorities

2. Notes the exceptional role of the voluntary and community sector and residents’ 
groups in achieving the delivery of the priorities during this period

3. Notes the initial lessons learnt from this report and the intention to carry out a full 
review of the response as part of the COVID-19 Recovery Plan

145

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk


Page 2 of 15

1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Following an outbreak in early 2020 the World Health Organisation declared that COVID-

19 was a global pandemic on 11 March 2020.  The ongoing spread of the disease across 
Europe initiated a response from Government and authorities across the United Kingdom.

2 Initial Response and Setting Priorities
2.1 On 2 March Karen Bradford began her role as Chief Executive at SKDC and set out 

alongside the Leader of the Council that an immediate priority was to ensure that SKDC 
was equipped to support the District through the crisis and that the Council’s operations 
were organised and prioritised appropriately to enable this.  Therefore, a series of 
preparatory actions and plans were commissioned to ensure SKDC had a clear leadership 
role.

2.2 At the Cabinet meeting on 17 March the Leader of the Council set out that South Kesteven 
District Council’s three priorities, in responding to the pandemic, were:

1. To protect the health of our staff, Members and residents

2. To maintain our critical services; and

3. To support our local businesses.

2.3 SKDC has structured its response to the crisis on achieving these three priorities and 
ensured that resources are re-directed towards activities that ensure they are achieved. 
This report will set out the actions and activities that SKDC has undertaken and the impact 
it has had against these priorities.

2.4 As part of SKDC’s initial response an ‘incident room’ was established with two multi-
disciplinary project teams being formed to co-ordinate SKDC’s response to the crisis.  The 
two teams were scheduled to lead the operations alternately to:

- Ensure robustness and resilience should there be an outbreak amongst one project 
team

- Enable the core SKDC operations to have flexibility to extend to 7 days a week, if 
required

- Minimise the physical risk of transmission of the disease between the teams

- Reduce the risk of single points of failure impacting on the response

The teams, led by members of the Corporate Management Team, have full handover 
procedures in place to ensure information and activity is consistent.

2.5 At the outset the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council, established that consistent 
and effective internal communication is a key success factor, therefore the following 
approaches were embedded:

- Weekly informal Cabinet meetings, chaired by the Leader of the Council, but with 
portfolio updates from all Cabinet Members (not limited to the COVID-19 crisis).  
This approach ensured effective and consistent political leadership and 
accountability was maintained.

- Daily Corporate Management Team meetings (reduced to three times weekly in 
May) to support the effective co-ordination of response actions and ensured swift 
resolution of key issues.

146



Page 3 of 15

- Daily incident room project team ‘stand up’ meetings (chaired by the Corporate 
Director lead for the respective project team), short meetings to brief project leads 
on the key themes for the day, communication messages and raise any new major 
risks or threats, changes in circumstances and Government guidance. 

Working Remotely – Key Enablers 

2.6 The nature of the COVID-19 crisis and the implementation of lockdown meant that the 
Council had to move very quickly to enable the staff to work in a remote environment.  
There were five key enablers that were fundamental to making this happen:

- Information Technology (IT)

- Communications

- Human Resources (HR) and Wellbeing

- Decision Making and Governance

- Risk assessments

These enablers underpinned SKDC’s ability to move to new working arrangements and 
therefore minimise the number of staff on site.

2.7 Moving to a remote environment meant that SKDC had to adopt a wholesale utilisation of 
technology at a scale and pace that it had not done before.  Within 5 days, 350 staff had 
been enabled to work remotely and SKDC adopted Microsoft Teams and Skype meetings 
as Business as Usual.  The IT team stress tested the systems, which enabled over 400 
members of staff and all Members to work from home.

2.8 Following the adoption of remote working, the focus moved on to enabling remote 
committee meetings, which culminated in the first Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night 
Refreshment Sub Committee on 3 April, followed by Planning Committee on 12 May, Full 
Council on 14 May and Licensing Committee on 22 May and the first Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 26 May.  These meetings were largely successful, although 
lessons have been learnt and will be applied for future meetings.

2.9 An emergency communications plan was established, which involved:

- Regular communication with Members (via twice weekly “All Member updates” from 
the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive)

- Regular communication with Staff (via “All Staff Updates” 5 times per week from the 
Chief Executive and Leader of the Council)

- Weekly update sent to each M.P. from the Leader of the Council. 

- Ongoing communication with different resident and stakeholder groups, which 
included:

o Release of a dedicated COVID-19 webpage 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk/coronavirus from 20 March with key service 
information and the latest Government advice and guidance

o Targeted use of social media to promote key information ranging from 
Government messaging, information on SKDC services and routes to access 
support and advice – seeing a reach on Facebook of over 145,000, with over 
70,000 engagements, and our Twitter account seeing 726,000 impressions. 

147

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/coronavirus


Page 4 of 15

o A number of newspaper columns and reports highlighting key messages and 
support and features on East Midlands Today, Radio Lincolnshire and Lincs 
FM.

o Letters to those living in our 6,000 Council owned homes on 20 March 
advising of service changes and providing contact details if they were in 
need of help or support, followed by a COVID-19 special ‘Skyline’ magazine 
dispatched on 8 June

o Contacting over 18,000 residents identified as being potentially vulnerable to 
inform them of the support available to them which could be accessed by 
contacting the SK Community Hub

o Distributing a ‘COVID-19 special’ SKToday to all 64,000 households within 
the District in May.

2.10 Moving to staff and Councillors working remotely also created a number of Human 
Resources and Wellbeing risks, which SKDC has sought to address using a ‘prevention is 
better than cure’ approach.  These have included:

- Immediately undertaking a survey of 667 employees to understand their health, 
caring and childcare responsibilities to ensure that we offered appropriate levels of 
flexibility and protected those at greatest risk. This also enabled us to identify skills 
that would support the redeployment of staff, including those with HGV licences that 
could support our street care team if needed.

- Ensuring that managers hold frequent team meetings to build a sense of team and 
provide staff with ongoing engagement.

- The creation of ‘Wellbeing Wednesday’ and ‘Fun Friday’ emails that seek to 
encourage people to adopt good working practices and undertake other ‘non work 
activities’.

- Extending the Employee Assistance Programme to include all Councillors.

- Clear messaging encouraging people to continue to take leave and spend time 
engaging in non-work activities maintaining a work life balance as much as 
possible. 

- Support to our managers to help them to work through any new challenges that 
they and their team face around areas such as childcare, caring responsibilities or 
the stresses and strains of living and working during a pandemic.

2.11 In addition there were significant changes to the delivery of services, with some services 
being withdrawn completely (e.g. Arts Centres), others significantly reduced (e.g. East 
Midlands Building Control, Housing Repairs) and other new ones introduced (e.g. SK 
Community Hub, Befriending Service).  This situation required a number of key HR tasks 
to be completed to ensure that resource was focused appropriately, which resulted in:

- Redeployment of 90 staff from non-essential services to support essential activity 
and the COVID-19 response project team 

- Furloughing of a total of 70 staff from East Midlands Building Control and the Arts 
Centres. 

148



Page 5 of 15

- Reprioritisation of other workloads to focus on the most essential activity within an 
area (e.g. returning void properties to create further accommodation for the 
homeless)

2.12 A further key enabler was putting in place the governance structures to allow the Council 
to continue to make decisions in a timely manner, especially given the fast paced 
environment of an emergency response.  Cabinet on 17 March gave the Leader full 
increased delegated powers to make decisions (in consultation with others) – 14 decisions 
were made by this route.  A full calendar of meetings has now been put in place to be held 
virtually and enable ‘normal’ decision making processes to be reconvened.

2.13 Fundamental to enable the Council to operate during the COVID-19 response has been 
the role of health and safety risks assessments in service delivery.  At each stage and for 
all relevant services, risk assessments have been carried out to identify risks and ensure 
appropriate controls and mitigations are put in place (e.g. closing services, introducing 
remote working, providing appropriate Personal Protective Equipment).  As government 
guidance has changed and more information has become available the Council has used 
risk assessments to inform and adopt its processes and practices.

3 Working in Partnership
Local Resilience Forum

3.1 Across the UK there is a network of Local Resilience Forums (LRFs) that co-ordinate a 
local multi-agency response to the crises (including senior representation from Councils, 
Police, Health and Fire).  South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is an active member of 
the Lincolnshire LRF and is frequently part of a co-ordinated response to events (e.g. 
flooding).  On the 12 February the Lincolnshire LRF began to schedule a series of 
meetings to discuss Lincolnshire’s response to the emerging crisis.  SKDC has been a full 
part of this forum throughout the development of the COVID-19 Pandemic.

3.2 The structure of the LRF involved daily meetings (7 days a week) between 19 March and 
15 May (when it was decided to reduce the meetings to twice weekly) of two key groups:

- Strategic Co-ordinating Group (SCG) - to enable decisions to be made swiftly (e.g. 
providing resources for additional mortuary space or emergency food parcels) and 
keep a strategic overview of threats and risks.  These are attended by the Chief 
Executive or a member of the Corporate Management Team

- Tactical Co-ordinating Group (SCG) – to inform decision and recommendations to 
SCG and keep an operational overview of threats and risks.  These are attended by 
a member of the Corporate Management Team or another senior officer   

3.3 The SCG and TCG oversee a network of operational Cells, which has evolved as different 
challenges have emerged during the crisis and SKDC has had representation on or 
provided resource to as appropriate.  The cells include (but are not limited to) Health, 
Community and Volunteering, Personal Protective Equipment, Warn and Inform 
(communications), Mortality Planning and Business Recovery. The LRF command and 
control structure from April 2020 is attached in Appendix 1.

3.4 SKDC has also provided direct ‘mutual aid’ resource to support activity within the LRF, 
which has included communications specialists, data analysts and emergency planning 
expertise.  In addition, SKDC has supported operational activities such as the roll out, by 
the British Army, of a mobile testing centre at Grantham Meres Leisure Centre, which has 

149



Page 6 of 15

to date conducted 1,667 tests and provided a crucial facility in the south west of 
Lincolnshire.

3.5 Throughout the crisis the work and structure of the LRF has evolved and improved, which 
has been informed by regular formal and informal feedback mechanisms, which SKDC 
has been a key part of influencing.  

Other Partnership Forums

3.6 Alongside the LRF, SKDC has played an active role in a number of other groups to shape 
and support the response.  Early in the crisis it was recognised that as a District Council 
we could work most effectively to highlight the support we require from Government by 
partnering with others – therefore SKDC has been part of the following:

Forum Objectives  SKDC attendance

Lincolnshire LAs Leaders 
Groups

- Set strategic direction to LA response in 
Lincolnshire

- Identify key messages to feedback internally and 
externally

Leader of the Council

Lincolnshire LAs Chief 
Executive Group

- Strategic overview of LA response in Lincolnshire

- Adopt consistency and learn form best practice in 
the County

- Influence strategic direction of regional and 
national response

Chief Executive

Lincolnshire LAs S.151 Officers 
Group

- Focus on financial issues/challenges in 
Lincolnshire

- Adopt consistency in financial modelling and a best 
practice approach

- Coordinated lobbying of regional and national 
platforms with regard to local authority financial 
impact

Director of Finance

Lincolnshire LAs Chief 
Monitoring Officers Group

- Early identification and response to emerging 
issues (e.g. GDPR/safeguarding challenges)

- Robust and consistent response to key and 
emerging issues

- Understand issues around democratic processes 
and virtual meetings

Director of Law and 
Governance

Lincolnshire LAs Community 
Response Group 

- Adopt agreed approach to identifying and 
communicating with vulnerable residents

- Develop flexible and streamlined approach to 
utilising volunteering groups

- Learning from best practice and influencing LRF 
response

Assistant Chief Executive

East Midlands Councils - Sharing challenges and solutions Chief Executive

Local Government Association - Communicate as a single voice for the LA sector 
around challenges and support requirements

- Guidance around key issues (e.g. furloughing)

Chief Executive and 
Leader of Council

District Councils Network - Sharing challenges and solutions from a District 
Council perspective

- Communicate as a single voice to Government of 
financial challenges of District Councils (resulting in 

Chief Executive and 
Leader of Council

150



Page 7 of 15

improved provision in second round of Government 
funding)

Lincolnshire Leisure Group - Develop a consistent and informed approach 
regarding current and likely future leisure issues in 
the light of current restrictions

- Provide advice to Chief Executives on co-ordinated 
approach to the leisure sector

Head of Leisure

Lincolnshire Planning Group - Work collaboratively to embed new planning 
processes, governance and delegations

- Response collectively to new planning 
guidance/approach developed by Government

Strategic Director of 
Growth

GL Housing Delivery Group - Work collaboratively to stimulate housing growth, 
explore opportunities to attract funding into the 
housing market.

- Coordinate housing growth potential in the sub-
region and share best practice.

Assistant Director- 
Housing

Lincolnshire Environmental 
Health Managers Group

- To ensure a consistent countywide approach to the 
enforcement of the new Health Protection 
Coronavirus Restrictions Regulations 

- Share intelligence and information with other 
agencies e.g. Police and Trading Standards 

Head of Environmental

LRF Test and Trace sub-cell - To work collaboratively in order to ensure that, in 
Lincolnshire, the national Test and Trace 
programme meets the need of the local population

Head of Environmental

Lockdown

3.7 On 23 March the Government announced that the UK had entered into ‘lockdown’ and put 
in place significant measures that impact on every aspect of life, including travel, business, 
leisure and socialisation.

4 Delivering against the Priorities
4.1 This report sets out an overview of SKDC’s response against its priorities, with actions and 

outputs set out in Appendix 2. 

Priority 1: To protect the health of our staff, members and residents

4.2 Key elements of achieving this priority are:

- Reducing physical contact to essential activity only and thus minimising the risk of 
transmission 

- Identifying the most vulnerable people and ensuring there is appropriate support for 
them 

- Mobilising and enabling community and voluntary sector support across the district 
via formal and informal networks

- Communicating effectively the support available and routes to accessing it 

- Maintaining essential services which protect public health such as Environmental 
Health, licencing (eg taxi licences) and refuse collection

4.3 Five key activities that SKDC undertook to achieve this priority were:

151



Page 8 of 15

1. Conduct the staff survey to 667 employees identifying those who either have health 
conditions that made them vulnerable or live with someone who does.  The survey 
informed the deployment of home working solutions to ensure that those who were 
higher risk were prioritised in the ICT roll out.

2. Postpone all face to face Council, Committee and Cabinet meetings for Councillors 
from 17 March, but enabling critical decisions still to be made by delegating additional 
decision-making authority to the Leader of the Council.  SKDC then began a gradual 
reintroduction of the democratic process beginning with Planning Committee on 12 
May.

3. The temporary closure of face to face services (e.g. Customer Service Centres, Arts 
Centres) or facilities that promote physical contact or an environment where the virus is 
likely to be transmitted (e.g. play parks, non-essential housing repairs), while 
maintaining access to open spaces

4. Creation of the SK Community Hub from 20 March, open seven days a week 8am-
7pm, as a ‘first point of call’ for SK residents with COVID-19 queries, receiving over 
1,799 contacts as of 31 May with access to over 1,500 volunteers through a variety of 
community groups to ensure those isolating were able to access essential supplies and 
also socialisation support

5. Work in partnership with Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) and others to offer support 
to contact over 7,000 residents identified by the NHS (or self-referred via GPs) as 
shielded in South Kesteven.  Contact via LCC dovetailed with SKDC contacting nearly 
18,000 people across the District, who were identified via a range of data sets as 
potentially vulnerable and offer practical or social support (accessed via the SK 
Community Hub)

Priority 2: To maintain our critical services

4.4 Key elements of achieving this priority are:

- The enactment of established business continuity plans for services, meaning that 
no frontline service has been reduced due to lack of capacity during the crisis

- Ensuring that additional resilience is built into the most critical services to enable 
them to operate whatever and developing a daily tracker sheet, which identified any 
areas of risk to delivery of the most critical services to enable redeployment of other 
staff to support them

- Established remote working across services, enabling functions to be carried out 
without face to face contact

- Communicating the status of services and any changes to operating practices

4.5 Six key activities that SKDC undertook to achieve this priority were:

1. Established new working practices to ensure critical refuse collection services 
continued.  This included new morning procedures to enable social distancing and 
seeking to treat refuse crews as ‘family units’.  So far, there has been no disruption to 
any of the refuse, recycling, food, bulky or garden waste collections.  This was 
achieved through thorough risk assessments and close collaboration with Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership colleagues to develop innovative ways to maintain essential 
services whilst complying with government and industry guidance.

152



Page 9 of 15

2. Mobilisation of IT enabling over 400 staff and Members to work from home during the 
crisis, meaning that the St. Peters Hill Office was closed 3 days a week but services 
still provided, for example Customer Services have handled over 20,000 telephone 
calls and over 4,600 email enquires remotely and services such as Revenues and 
Benefits  have continued to function

3. Redeployed 90 staff to support critical services, including refuse collection, the COVID-
19 project team, housing repairs and the SK Community Hub supporting the collection 
of 80,000 bins per week and the delivery of 813 urgent housing repairs each within 24 
hours 

4. Recruited new staff and retrained existing ones to provide additional resource to 
support areas of identified vulnerability within critical services (e.g. HGV drivers)

5. Worked collaboratively with partners, Bed and Breakfast organisations, businesses 
and other Councils, prioritising the availability of and access to void properties to 
enable SKDC to respond to an increased number and type of homelessness issues 
enabling over 40 people to be housed 

6. Created a dedicated COVID-19 Webpage with up to date information about the status 
of services based on robust and frequent internal communications (see Appendix 3 
sample service update sheet – an internal communications document updated daily), 
which has had nearly 21,000 views.

Priority 3: To support our local business

4.6 Key elements of achieving this priority are:

- Effective and consistent communication with businesses about advice and support 
available

- Prioritising the processing of Government support packages to enable the smooth, 
effective and swift distribution of Government grants

- Consistent application of Government policy on business closures and safe 
reopening, application of social distancing

- Responsive and tailored support to businesses who have specific enquiries or 
issues

- Taking a flexible approach to the receipt of payments from businesses to help them 
manage cashflow issues

4.7 Seven key activities that SKDC undertook to achieve this priority were:

1. Provision of a dedicated webpage with up to date Government advice and signposting 
of how to access key support, alongside a phone line to support specific enquiries, 
receiving over 450 calls 

2. Prioritisation of resource to support the processing of approximately 2,200 Government 
grants injecting over £27m into the local businesses 

3. Direct communication with over 2,200 local business with information about how they 
could access government grant support

4. Consistent access and application of Government policy on business closures and 
safe re-openings, including the launch of a ‘business re-start’ website which includes 
support for food business which are planning their re-opening 

153



Page 10 of 15

5. Developed a consistent process to identify businesses that engage with SKDC, 
including those within our own supply chain who may be particularly vulnerable, 
suspended rent in Council owned premises and considering deferral of business rates 
and scaling back debt collection activities; all on a case-by-case basis.

6. Liaising closely and providing support to market stallholders to enable food stalls to 
continue to trade throughout the peak of COVID-19.

7. Environmental Health advice to businesses and other organisations, such as the 
Grantham Food Bank, to ensure that they were able to implement appropriate 
measures to operate safely and comply with the new regulations.

4.8 SKDC’s COVID-19 response has had significant financial implications for SKDC, some of 
which have been mitigated by additional Central Government support.  However, the 
2020/21 budget will require amending.  This Cabinet agenda includes the updated 
Finance report setting out the current forecasting information and Council will be 
presented with an amended budget in September of this year.

The Role of SKDC’s wholly owned companies

4.9 The COVID-19 crisis has not only required SKDC to work flexibly but has also been 
supported by the SKDC’s wholly owned companies, with the relevant approvals in place 
from the company directors.

4.10 The Council’s wholly owned economic development company, InvestSK, has been further 
refocused to ensure it was meeting the key priorities for businesses within the District.  To 
support this and the ongoing alignment with the emerging priorities as a result of the crisis 
SKDC’s Strategic Director of Growth was appointed by the Board of Directors for InvestSK 
as the Managing Director and has been leading the company’s activities.  This has 
facilitated the Council in distributing £27m in government support grants to businesses.

4.11 The Board of Directors for EnvironmentSK have also fully supported the SKDC’s response 
to the crisis by:

- Allowing the Council to contact EnvironmentSK staff and invite them to be 
seconded into the refuse and recycling team – resulting in up to 5 members of staff 
being redeployed in this way

- Responding to the changing priorities of the Council during the crisis, including 
providing additional support to cemeteries and after guidance, changed working 
with the Council to prioritise work

- Continuing to undertake commercial and external work to pursue the SKDC’s 
primary objective for the company to trade effectively. 

The Board of Directors for Gravitas has supported SKDC’s response by offering to utilise 
properties within its portfolio to tackle homelessness as temporary accommodation. 

The Role of SKDC’s Councillors

4.12 Councillors played a key role in both supporting and shaping SKDC’s response to COVID-
19.  The Leader, Cabinet and the Chief Executive communicated regularly with all 
Members via a range of mechanisms at all stages of the response to enable Members to 
be as informed as possible and provide opportunity for feedback.

4.13 The response to the COVID-19 crisis demonstrated the key role of Members in supporting 
their local communities, including:

154



Page 11 of 15

- Being part of the front-line response, with many volunteering via SKDC, LCC and 
through local community groups (formally and informally)

- Shaping the response by providing constructive challenge and input about groups 
or individuals that they believed may be vulnerable during the crisis and ways of 
supporting them

- Reinforcing and communicating key messages to residents within their community

- Signposting residents and businesses to the relevant support, either to the SK 
Community Hub, InvestSK or other support mechanisms

- Undertaking befriending with 21 Councillors signing up to make regular phone calls 
to those who were vulnerable to the impacts of social isolation

4.14 The role of Members in supporting and shaping the response has been extremely positive 
and one that should be maintained as SKDC develops its recovery plan.

5 Progressing ongoing Projects
5.1 During the response phase resource has been directed to achieving the delivery of the 

three COVID-19 related priorities set out above, however other priority projects have also 
been progressed, including:

- St Martin’s Park Stamford– the development of which has continued to progress 
during this period including:

o Undertaking stakeholder consultation (utilising remote technology)

o Marketing of the site to residential, retirement and commercial developers

o Progressing the outline planning applications (expected to be submitted by 
September)

- Enhancing Leisure Provision for All – key activities including:

o Appointment of procurement consultants

o Undertaking financial modelling to assess the impact of capital investment

o Preparation of robust business plans

- Impact of Covid on the leisure service – key activities including:

o Receipt of claim for financial assistance from the Council’s leisure provider

o Appointment of Sports and Leisure Consultancy (utilising Sport England 
funding).  Work is being undertaken to:

 Assess the true costs being incurred by the operator whilst the 
leisure centres are closed

 Prepare a 12 month business plan to assess the level of 
support the Council may need to provide during the recovery 
period

 Identify whether the decision to extend our current 
arrangement with the current contractor is still the 
recommended route given the impact of COVID-19,

155



Page 12 of 15

-  Future High Street Fund: 

o Progression of site-specific work with team of grant-funded consultants, 
following approval of draft submission earlier this year

o Governance route determined for submission of final bid on 31st July, 
including Cabinet and Full Council in June and July, respectively

- Heritage Action Zone:

o Due diligence on, and acceptance of, grant-award from Historic England

o Initial discussions with property owners in order to ensure early start on 
schemes

- Elm Street Stamford (former ambulance station)
o Planning approval secured in May

o On-site commencement planned for mid-June, with a three-month 
completion date

- Climate change
o Work to finalise the Council’s carbon footprint and to establish carbon 

reduction opportunities has continued and is due to be presented to the 
Climate Change Action Task & Finish Group on the 16th June 2020.

6 Recovery Planning
6.1 On 10 May 2020 the Prime Minister issued a statement which set out a roadmap to 

recovery and operations.  The statement set out:

- A change of emphasis, encouraging people to return to work where possible (if they 
cannot do so from home)

- Some immediate easing of restrictions on social distancing and exercise

- Plans to re-open schools for some year groups from 1 June (subject to various 
requirements being met)

- An intention to further ease restrictions on business opening, including opening 
some non-essential shops, restaurants and hospitality (subject to various 
requirements being met)

6.2 The Government also issued a framework that set out how it would decide whether the 
country was ready to enter the next phase of easing of restrictions.

6.3 SKDC’s approach to recovery planning is set out in the report ‘COVID-19 SKDC Recovery 
Plan’ elsewhere on this agenda, and is aimed to enable the Council to best mitigate 
threats and maximise opportunities associated with the transition to a ‘new normal’ over 
the next 18-24 months.

7 Lessons Learned
7.1 Part of the recovery planning will involve lessons learnt of the activity undertaken to date 

by SKDC in the immediate response to the crisis and these will be presented to Cabinet 
and via relevant scrutiny committees.

156



Page 13 of 15

7.2 However, as part of the initial COVID-19 position statement five key lessons learnt from 
the initial phase are highlighted here:

1. Systems and processes across partners – partners across Lincolnshire have played a 
proactive role in supporting the Local Resilience Forum.  However, there is a need for 
more consistency around systems and processes across partners as this can be a 
barrier to effective working.

2. Utilisation of community support and voluntary sector – the COVID-19 crisis has 
demonstrated the strength of community and the voluntary sector within the District, 
with over 1,500 formal and many more informal volunteers providing support to others.  
There are activities during the crisis (such as befriending support) where the Council 
has been the provider of activities where it would be more effective to be an enabler 
and facilitator of voluntary and community support.  Working closely with the voluntary 
and community sector will be a key part of SKDC’s Recovery Plan.

3. Supporting staff working in a new environment – due to the nature of the crisis the 
Council made a very quick transition to home working as the norm for most staff during 
week commencing16 March 2020.  This was received extremely positively by our 
employees. However, more needs to be done to ensure that those working from home 
are productive and all of the equipment is available to carry out their duties effectively. 

4. Engagement with and support to Councillors – during April 2020 feedback was 
received from a number of Councillors that although there was regular communication 
to them, more support could be provided to local Members to enable them to support 
their communities.  From the end of April all District Councillors were contacted, 
frequently asked questions provided and all Members were invited to support residents 
via the befriending service (of which 21 responded).  However, some elements of the 
support to Members could have been done earlier.

5. Improved communications with organisations carrying out services on SKDC’s behalf – 
the phase when Government guidance was changing on a daily (or sometimes even 
more frequent) basis demonstrated the need for a clear communication framework 
between the SKDC and those carrying out services on SKDC’s behalf (e.g. leisure 
provision, crematorium and cemeteries).  

8 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
8.1 As this report is for noting it has not been considered by an Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, however Members have been regularly briefed as the COVID-19 response 
developed. 

9 Available Options Considered
9.1 As the report is not asking Cabinet for any specific decisions there are no other alternative 

options considered.

10 Preferred Option
10.1 The preferred option is to note the report and recommend that Cabinet formally thanks 

Councillors, Colleagues, Volunteers and Partners for their outstanding efforts to date in 
response to the COVID-19 crisis.

157



Page 14 of 15

11 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
11.1 Cabinet is recommended to note sections 1-3 as they are a statement of the activities of 

SKDC in response to the COVID-19 outbreak.

12 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
12.1 The next steps are set out in the paper “COVID-19 – SKDC Recovery Plan” appearing 

separately on this agenda.

13 Financial Implications 
13.1 A report providing updated financial information and the forecasted financial impact is 

contained elsewhere on this agenda.  An amended budget taking into consideration the in-
year financial impact is scheduled to be presented to Council on 17 September 2020. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

14 Legal and Governance Implications 
14.1 As this report is for noting there are no legal implications associated with this report

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

15 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
15.1 As this report is for noting there are no equality and safeguarding implications associated 

with this report.

16 Risk and Mitigation
16.1 On a service by service basis, there have been service level risk assessment and building 

use assessments for any services operating.

17 Community Safety Implications 
17.1 There are no specific Community Safety implications of this report, which is a review of 

activity to date.  However, all the actions contained within have been carried out 
specifically with Community Safety at the forefront of those decisions.

18 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District Council’s 
declaration of a climate emergency?

18.1 There are no direct climate change or carbon impacts as a result of this report and the 
recommendations.  That said, the recovery phase provides an opportunity to incorporate 
climate change considerations and carbon reduction measures as part of a ‘reshaping’ of 
the new normal for SKDC, its services and the wider district.

19 Other Implications (where significant) 
19.1 None

20 Background Papers
20.1 Decisions taken during COVID-19 response period including decisions made under 

General Exception and Special Urgency arrangements – Full Council 14th May 2020 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during
%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf
COVID-19 SKDC Next Steps – Cabinet 16th June 2020
Financial Impact Report – Cabinet 16th June 2020

158

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf


Page 15 of 15

21 Appendices
21.1 Appendix 1 – LRF Command and Control Structure (April 2020)

21.2 Appendix 2 – Key Priorities, Actions and Metrics

21.3 Appendix 3 – Service Operation Status Regular Report

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

18 May 2020Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  16 June 2020

159



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 - LRF COMMAND AND CONTROL STRUCTURE (April 2020)

Cabinet Office Briefing Room (COBR)
Ministry of Housing & Local Government 

(MHCLG)

Strategic Coordination Group 
(SCG)

Chair: Jason Harwin / Mark Baxter

Tactical Coordination Group 
(TCG)

Team 1 Chair: Diane Coulson
Team 2 Chair Mark Housley

RCG Team Chair:  ?
LRF Secretariat 

Team 1: Ian Reed / Paula Danville
Team 2: Sue Whitton

Multi-Agency 
Information

Team 1: Charlotte 
Paddock

Team 2: Ben 
Standbridge

Mortality 
Planning
Chair: Sara 

Barry
Deputy: Graeme 

Hempsall

Resource & 
Logistics

Team 1: Dave 
Hopkins

Team 2: Tim 
Gadd

Business & 
Economic
Chair: Ruth 

Carver
Deputy: James 

Baty

Health & 
Social Care
Chair: Natalie 

Liddle
Deputy: Phil 

Garner

Warn & Inform
Team 1: Simon 
Cotton
Team 2:  Rachel 
McMahon 

Communities & 
Volunteer 

Coordination
Chair: Nicole Hilton
Deputy: Andy Cook

Homelessness (including 
prison release)

Chair: Daren Turner

Mental Health & Psychosocial 
Support

Care Home & Domiciliary Care

Police Silver MIR
Stuart Brinn
Pat Coates

(see separate structure)

Legal & Financial Advice

Local Authority 
Wellbeing

NHS System 
Response

(see separate 
structure)

Staffing
Dave Culy

Accommodation for 
Key Workers
Claire Rowley

Clinical Response 
Cell

Sarah Stringer

Command Support
Team 1: Mark Garthwaite

Team 2: Rachel Wells/ Calley Murray

PPE Cell
Team 1: 

Dave Stacey
Team 2: 

Dave Stacey

Recovery Coordination Group 
(RCG)

Chair: Dan Quinn

Fire Silver 
Team 1: Matt King

Team 2: Matt Perrin161

A
ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Key Priorities, Actions and Metrics

Priority Key Areas Key Actions Key Metrics (to 31 May unless otherwise indicated)
Supporting Lincolnshire County Council and other partners in contacting and 
providing essential support to the Clinically most vulnerable in South Kesteven 

Over 7,000 residents ‘shielding’ residents in South Kesteven contacted, with 
over 1,000 opting to access support such as food parcels or medical deliveries

Establishing the SKCommunity Hub as the first point of call for support and 
advice for residents in the District 

1,799 calls and emails to the SK Community Hub
68 Foodbank vouchers issued
15 Members of staff redeployed to support the service

Contacting nearly 18,000 residents identified as potentially vulnerable directly 
to offer access to practical and socialisation support during the crisis (via the 
SKCommunity Hub) 

Nearly 18,000 potentially vulnerable people contacted

Working with the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) to identify and mobilise voluntary 
and volunteers within the District – alongside many more informal voluntary 
groups

55 voluntary groups signed up
More than 1,500 volunteers

Roll out of a Befriending Service 297 residents signed up to regular befriending calls

Supporting and protecting 
residents, particularly vulnerable 
people

Communications messages throughout about the support available, including 
distribution of 64,000 ‘COVID-19 special’ SKToday magazines to ensure every 
household in the district had information about the support available

64,000 SKToday magazines distributed to residents

Face to face committee and Council meetings cancelled due to risk of face to 
face contact but additional authority delegated to the Leader of the Council to 
make decisions (with appropriate consultation) 

9 Leader key decisions made and published
3 Non-key decisions made and published
12 Officer Delegated decisions written and published

Introduced virtual committee meetings from 3 April with Alcohol, Entertainment 
and Late Night Refreshment Sub Committee, followed by:

- Planning Committee (12 May)
- Licensing Committee (22 May)
- Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee (26 May) 

6 Virtual public meetings
15 Informal meetings with Members (such as briefings and Chair’s meetings)
6 Virtual meeting training sessions
6 Public speakers took part in last Planning Committee
3 Protocols put in place (2 formal, 1 informal) 

Decision making

Full Council 14 May 2020 55 members attended
All Member Briefings 2 All member briefings sent out each week
All Staff Emails and Wellbeing briefings 5 All staff briefings each week

Communications

Key messages distributed through social media promoting safety and the 
support on offer

Nearly 21,000 hits on the Councils dedicated webpage 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk/coronavirus 

A range of services closed to protect the health of residents and staff 2 Arts Centres closed
4 Leisure Centres closed (decision made by operator)
1 Bourne Corn Exchange closed
37 Play parks and sports courts made unavailable
1 closure of a Visitor Centre
2 Payment public toilets closed

Service Closures

Car parking fees suspended to enable key workers to get to work and reduce the 
risk of transmission at parking machines

Fees suspended in 11 Car Parks 

Business closure advice and support issued, alongside guidance to businesses 
remaining open

192 Covid-19 related complaints and requests for advice from businesses, 
employees and the public

Bespoke advice and support to those supporting the vulnerable, including 
Foodbanks, the Passage and others

Individual bespoke advice provided

Business restart website created The page has had over 500 views in the first week

Protect the staff, members and 
residents of South Kesteven

Environmental Health

Food hygiene and health and safety services continue to operate Compliance checks made on over 350 businesses across the district

Waste and Recycling All refuse collection services delivered to normal standards despite the crisis 64,000 household bins collected per week
16,500 green bins per week
8 people redeployed into the service, 17 on standby
100 bulky item collections per week

Continue to deliver critical services

Housing Urgent repairs prioritised and undertaken within 24 hours 813 urgent repairs undertaken 100% attended within 24 hours
900 gas safety checks undertaken

163

A
ppendix 2

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/coronavirus


Appendix 2 – Key Priorities, Actions and Metrics

Homelessness managed through the crisis 49 void properties brought back in to use
54 homeless applicants supported and placed in accommodation.
18 new temporary accommodation beds created within the Councils stock
22 new bed and breakfast places provided, none as at 26th May 2020

Customer Services Customer services switched to contactless operations, via email or telephone 
and put in place additional support to manage

18,652 calls handled during April and May 
Call success rate 96% (up from 88% in April and May 2019)
Over 4,000 emails received 

Revenues, Benefits and Business 
Rates

Continued to operate a full service throughout the crisis 13,708 calls received in March and April (9% increase than in 2019)

Legal Services Completing legal agreements 3 Contracts completed
7 Right to Buy transfers completed
2 Leases completed (including variations)
2 Court Hearings conducted by telephone

Elections & Voting Maintaining the electoral register 1,632 Applications for adding to the electoral register
1,259 Deletions from the electoral register
78 Postal vote applications

Markets Markets remained operational with social distancing, within Government 
guidelines (i.e. food stalls only) throughout the crisis

36 markets held between March and May, with 90 traders, serving 100’s of 
customers

Continued to maintain services at this sensitive time to places of remembrance 
(crematorium, cemeteries and closed burial grounds)

Grantham cemetery and 31 closed burial groundsGrounds Maintenance

Maintained high quality public open spaces, including grass cutting, litter picking Over 200 open spaces, 3 parks, 4 leisure sites, St Peters Hill, 276 council house 
gardens and 1.5 million squared of housing amenity grass.

Business rate discount Implementation of Governments extended business rate discount scheme to 
support those in the hospitality and events sector 

920 business rate discounts applied to businesses, totalling over £20m

Grant Distribution Prioritisation of grants distribution to businesses to ensure that cash flow issues 
were mitigated wherever possible, within the top 10% of authorities for 
distribution for 2 weeks

2,234 grants awarded totalling over £27.08m injected into our local 
businesses

Environmental Health and 
Enforcement

Supporting businesses to operate safely and legally with the provision of 
support, advice and where necessary enforcement

4 update e-mails sent to registered food businesses 
1 business (hair/beauty) formally prohibited from opening as contravening 
restriction regulations
Contacted all 22 food businesses with Food Hygiene Ratings of 0, 1 or 2 (less 
than broadly compliant) to verify if they are continuing to trade and offer 
advice to do so safely

Supporting businesses that 
directly engage with the Councils

Introduced a package of measures to be applied on a case by case basis, 
including support for SKDCs supply chain, deferring or waiving rent in Council 
owned premises, deferrals of business rates and a rolling back of debt collection 
activities

Rent deferred for 32 SME’s occupying Council premises

Directly contacted businesses who were likely to be eligible for government 
grant support with advice on how to apply

Direct email to over 900 local business
Letter sent to more than 2000 businesses in the District
Phone calls to over 350 who had not applied to encourage them to do so

To support local business

Communication, support and 
advice

Dedicated phone line to handle bespoke enquiries from businesses Over 550 calls received from local businesses

164



Appendix 3 – Background Paper - Sample Service Operational Status

SKDC SERVICE UPDATE FROM: 09/04/2020 – 09:00
Services Services Operating to normal standards Services Operating to reduced standards Services Withdrawn until further notice
Waste and Recycling All services are currently operating to normal standards
Street Cleaning - The Big Clean service and street cleansing have been reduced 

to ensure waste collection services can be resourced and 
maintained

Housing (repairs and 
homelessness)

- Urgent repairs, including:
- Heating and hot water services
- Failure of mains (e.g. gas, electricity, water, foul 

drainage)
- Health and Safety Issues (e.g. gas safety, fire 

safety, legionella, asbestos)
- Issues that affect health of residents or property 

(e.g. mould, leaks)
- Issues where the security of the tenant or 

property is at risk
- Void & TA Properties (to meet Homelessness 

Needs).

- Homelessness, new tenancy sign up and management 
of temporary accommodation, including bringing void 
properties back into use

- Support for vulnerable residents
- Cleaning Service
- Caretaking Service
- Sheltered Housing and key information about residents 

(e.g. contact details of next of kin)

- Grounds Maintenance (only essential maintenance works to be 
completed)

- Tenancy Management (only urgent issues will be dealt with)

- Non urgent repairs
- Pre and post inspections of repairs work
- Planned improvement works (although works already started will be 

completed)
- New build Council housing programme (existing schemes on site will 

continue)
- Consultation and Community engagement

Housing (Private Sector) - Disabled Facilities Grant (Adaptations) – processing 
applications is still being undertaken but property surveys and 
installations are currently on hold

- Housing enforcement inspections for private rented complaints 
(urgent issues only)

Customer Services Online and Telephone Services will operate as normal (and 
customers are encouraged to utilise these routes)

- Face to face customer service centres have been withdrawn to 
ensure avoidable physical contact is minimise

Revenues and Benefits Online and Telephone Services will operate as normal (and 
customers are encouraged to utilise these routes)

- Face to face advice, site visits and house visits have been withdrawn 
to minimise avoidable physical contact 

- Please refer to the link below for further advice and support 
www.understandinguniversalcredit.gov.uk/coronavirus 

Housing Rents and Business Rates Online and Telephone Services will operate as normal (and 
customers are encouraged to utilise these routes)

- Face to face advice, site visits and house visits have been withdrawn 
to minimise avoidable physical contact 

Out of Hours Service/CCTV All
Communities and Events - Wyndham Park Visitor Centre is closed until further notice

165

A
ppendix 3

http://www.understandinguniversalcredit.gov.uk/coronavirus


- Grantham and Stamford Mid-Lent Fairs cancelled

Parks - Open spaces within parks remain open for exercise only, but 
should only be used for exercise on your own or with members 
of your own household 

- Social distancing measures should be maintained, ensuring you 
are 2 metres apart from anyone outside of your household

- Playparks, outside gyms, sports courts and other parks equipment 
are closed and should not be used

Arts Centres All three Arts Centres and venues are closed until further notice, which 
are: 

- The Guildhall in Grantham
- Stamford Arts Centre
- Main Hall in Bourne Corn Exchange

Staff are currently contacting ticket holders and hirers regarding their 
bookings.

All other gatherings or celebrations are cancelled until further notice
Leisure Facilities SKDC's Leisure Centres in Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and Deepings 

have been closed by management company 1Life until further notice 
following Govt guidance on containment of COVID-19.

Planning Services - Planning Applications, Street Naming and Numbering, 
Land Charges and Planning Support will continue to be 
provided as normal.

- Submission and payment for planning applications 
electronically via the Planning Portal are encouraged. Email 
and paper applications may take longer to process.

- All planning applications are being determined but with 
restrictions on site visits.

- The duty planner service is replaced with telephone 
appointments.

- Urgent enforcement complaints will be investigated but with 
restrictions on site visits.

- Non-statutory site notices are replaced by wider neighbour 
notification by letter.

- Planning Committee meeting on 2 April is cancelled. 

Food Hygiene and Health and 
Safety

- Food hygiene and health and safety complaints will be 
investigated with some restriction on home/premises visits

Licensing - The renewals process for existing hackney carriage and private 
hire driver licences is altered to allow self-certification of 
medical fitness and any new cautions or convictions until 
further notice

- The 6-month vehicle compliance check be replaced by a newly 
issued MOT certificate where it has not been possible for the 
licence holder to obtain a compliance check due to the closure 
of garages approved to undertake the check

- All new applications for hackney carriage and private hire driver 
licences suspended until further notice

- All taxi knowledge test are suspended until further notice

166



Environmental Health and 
Neighbourhoods

- Urgent complaints will be investigated but with restrictions on 
home/premises visits

Council and Committee Meetings - All Council and Committee meetings were postponed until further 
notice. Key decisions will be made by Leader acting as the Executive 
and non-key decisions by individual cabinet members as normal. 
Officer delegated decisions will continue to be made as normal

Support for Business - InvestSK has information about additional support 
and guidance being offered to businesses at 
https://investsk.co.uk/business/business-
continuity-2/ which includes:

- Signposting to the relevant support, funding and 
guidance to help your business cope with the 
impact of the coronavirus outbreak

- Support to understand how much funding your 
business will receive from the Government's new 
small business grant scheme

Go to www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-to-
employers-and-businesses-about-covid-19 to find guidance 
for employees, employers and businesses about the 
coronavirus outbreak.

Further specific government guidance is available on:

- The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (Furlough): 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-for-wage-
costs-through-the-coronavirus-job-retention-
scheme

- Self-employment Income Support Scheme: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-a-grant-
through-the-coronavirus-covid-19-self-
employment-income-support-scheme

Markets - Markets will remain open for stalls selling food and market 
stalls will be laid out to ensure social distancing can be 
maintained

- All visitors to the market are reminded of the importance of 
maintaining a 2 metre distance from anyone outside of their 
household

- Public toilets are closed until further notice
- Stalls providing non-food items will not be available

Car Parks - SKDC has temporarily suspended car parking charges 
and enforcement across all SKDC car parks in Grantham 
and Stamford to support key workers and others who 
have to drive to ensure the delivery of vital services

East Midlands Building Control - All services are on offer, with additional safeguards in 
place to minimise human contact and avoid anyone 
who is considered high risk

167

https://investsk.co.uk/business/business-continuity-2/
https://investsk.co.uk/business/business-continuity-2/
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-to-employers-and-businesses-about-covid-19
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-to-employers-and-businesses-about-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-for-wage-costs-through-the-coronavirus-job-retention-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-for-wage-costs-through-the-coronavirus-job-retention-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-for-wage-costs-through-the-coronavirus-job-retention-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-a-grant-through-the-coronavirus-covid-19-self-employment-income-support-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-a-grant-through-the-coronavirus-covid-19-self-employment-income-support-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-a-grant-through-the-coronavirus-covid-19-self-employment-income-support-scheme


Electoral registration - Processing of online applications and e-mail queries - There is a reduced telephone enquiry service available Due to the closure of customer service centres it is not currently possible 
to:

- View the electoral register
- Receive evidence/identification 

Public Toilets - All SKDC run public toilets are now closed 

SKDC Community Information 
Hub

- Open 7 days a week 8am-7pm matching requests for 
help from people who are vulnerable or need 
assistance with offers to help from voluntary and 
community groups or Parish and Town Councils

- Offering referrals to Lincolnshire Resilience Forum led 
community response and also providing service 
information

 Grounds Maintenance 

(EnvironmentSK Ltd is SKDC 
Contractor)

- Grounds maintenance of Grantham crematoria and 
Grantham Cemetery 

- Litter picking and grass cutting of parks and larger open 
spaces to allow the public to exercise etc.

- Emergency tree works

- Assisted Garden Maintenance to Council Properties
- Cutting of Verges, small open spaces, amenity areas, play areas, 

closed churchyards and other such land
- Horticultural works (Shrub bed maintenance, weeding etc.)
- Non-emergency tree work
- Inspection of play areas, during period of closure

Cemeteries and Crematoria - Grantham cemetery and crematorium remain operational for 
funerals and burials.  To maintain social distancing a maximum 
of 10 people are able to attend each ceremony

- Church yard cemeteries are available as a walkthrough space, 
but social distancing should be observed on all occasions

- Grantham cemetery and crematorium is closed as a walkthrough 
space

Please note that as the situation is evolving information on service access/provision is at a point in time and is subject to future change

168



Cabinet
16 June 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

COVID-19 SKDC Recovery Plan
The report sets out a framework for developing a recovery plan from the effects of COVID-19 and 
provides an overview of the activities planned to be undertaken in the current stage.

Report Author

Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 

 01476 40 60 80

Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Non-Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change 5 June 2020

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 June 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 8 June 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Approve the framework for developing a Recovery Plan
2. Note the upcoming activities in the “Restart” phase of the framework

169

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk


1 Background and Context
1.1 Following an outbreak in early 2020 the World Health Organisation declared that COVID-

19 was a global pandemic on 11 March 2020.  The ongoing spread of the disease across 
Europe initiated a response from Government and authorities across the United Kingdom.  
The situation is rapidly changing and there remain high levels of uncertainty over how the 
pandemic will progress, the measures that may have to be taken and if some decisions 
will have to be reversed.

1.2 The initial response was, by necessity primarily reactive.  The details of actions to date are 
presented within a separate report on this agenda.  SKDC is seeking to build on the 
positive activity in the ‘response’ stage and embed lessons learnt in developing a longer-
term recovery plan.

1.3 Alongside the COVID-19 Recovery Plan the Council is developing a Corporate Plan and a 
revised Budgetary Framework.  It is intended that the Corporate Plan, COVID-19 
Recovery Plan and revised Budget Framework are developed alongside each other to 
ensure a joined-up approach to planning and resourcing priorities.  It is anticipated that all 
three documents will be presented to Cabinet and Full Council in September 2020, 
establishing key priorities for South Kesteven and providing the cornerstone of the 
performance management framework.

2 Framework for recovery
2.1 Even though the environment is uncertain and dynamic, the initial reactive measures have 

been accomplished so there is now the potential to plan our next steps in a more proactive 
manner.  The overwhelming focus is on ensuring that the District emerges in the best 
possible state from COVID-19 and SKDC leads the District effectively.  

2.2 To best enable the District to recover and thrive in the longer term it is essential that the 
Council, and other key stakeholders are proactive in planning, managing and delivering a 
recovery plan and that it enables the Council to take a strategic approach to shaping the 
future rather than aiming to simply recreate a pre-COVID-19 environment.
The proposed framework is set out in the Figure 1 below.
Figure 1: COVID-19 Recovery Plan framework 

2.3 The proposal is to follow a four stage process for the COVID-19 Recovery Plan, with an 
expectation that between stages, a ‘reset review’ is undertaken to ensure that the route 
being taken is still appropriate, assumptions are valid and to apply any learning from 
events to date.  The four phases are:

170



 Response – the immediate, primarily emergency / reactive things happening as the 
pandemic developed (e.g. closing public buildings, staff working from home, initial 
business grant distribution) 

 Restart – the phased re-opening of operations (sports facilities, supporting wider 
businesses to re-open, arts activities)

 Recover – stimulating activities to spark wider businesses (sector specific support, 
focus of InvestSK)

 Reshape – revising our long-term plans to incorporate wider changes in behaviours 
and role in community leadership (greater digital service offering, increased working 
from home, embedding carbon reduction into new ways of working)

2.4 SKDC is currently transitioning from the ‘Response’ to ‘Restart’ phases and expected 
activities are explained in section 4 of the report.

2.5 When services are looking to move to the next stage, it is important that a review and 
resetting of assumptions takes place.  This is to ensure that all latest guidance and 
information is considered, lessons learned (both internally and elsewhere) are 
incorporated and what we planned to achieve is still appropriate given any changes in 
circumstances.  This is further considered in section 5 of the report.

2.6 Activities should be planned with an end goal in mind.  It may be inefficient to re-open a 
service in its current form if there are plans to substantially change the way it is provided 
very soon thereafter (for example moving to much more online and digital provision).

2.7 The uncertain nature of the environment is not conducive to placing firm timeframes for 
each of these phases; for some or all services there may be a need to go back stages (for 
example if there is a second peak and a more constrained lockdown).  

3 Interaction with existing plans and the developing Corporate Plan
3.1 Figure 2 sets out the interactions between intended actions built into the current year’s 

budget and the new developments required in response to COVID-19.  Based upon some 
initial analysis and emerging challenges and opportunities, these actions have been 
themed into five areas.
Figure 2: Developing an overall approach for the District combining the COVID-19 response and other 
priorities

171



3.2 The above diagram demonstrates that COVID-19 has imposed an additional set of 
requirements and constraints.  The interaction of the original plan and COVID-19 
Recovery Plan creates a set of activities.  Some of these will be overseen by existing 
project and programme boards some operational changes through normal line 
management arrangements and the remainder through a COVID-19 Response Group.  
These additional actions in the ‘Response’ phase are detailed in a separate report on the 
agenda; the actions for the ‘Restart’ phase are contained within Appendices 1-5.

3.3 All activities have been linked to the emerging themes, which have been given the working 
titles set out below – however it should be noted that these themes are subject to change 
during the development of the Recovery Plan and other documents under development:
 Delivering Growth of our Economy
 Housing that meets the Needs of our Residents
 Strong Communities with High Quality Facilities
 A Clean and Sustainable Environment
 A High Performing Council. 

3.4 COVID-19 has had a real impact upon the objectives (such as supporting business and 
employment in the area), although it is also presenting a number of opportunities in some 
areas (addressing carbon emissions through changes in working arrangements).

3.5 Alongside the COVID-19 response, work is progressing to develop a draft Corporate Plan.  
More details are contained within the ‘Next Steps’ section (section 12 of the report).

4 Restart Phase
4.1 This phase is characterised by the phased re-opening of certain services.  Broadly 

speaking the ‘Restart Phase’ is anticipated to run between June and September 2020.  
Although it should be noted that there will by necessity be variations between different 
service areas and the nature of the response is that the wider environment (e.g. a second 
wave) could result in a return to an earlier phase. The key activities per draft recovery 
themes are as follows:

Theme Activity
Commence discretionary fund for business
Re-opening town centresDeliver Growth of our 

Economy Progressing priority capital projects
Restart housing management, maintenance and repairs 
services
Start construction of new build Council Housing on sites 
with planning approval

Housing that meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Prioritising development within Grantham
Supporting the Government’s ‘Track and Trace’ scheme
Phased re-opening of Arts Centres and leisure facilitiesStrong Communities with 

High Quality Facilities Reshaping support for the voluntary sector and 
befriending services
Publish SKDC’s carbon footprint and carbon reduction 
opportunities
Phased restart of wider Environmental Health and 
Licensing services

A Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

Review the service outcomes for Street Scene, Waste 
and Recycling

172



Amended budget produced
Recommend the Constitution reviewA High Performing Council. 
Phased return of face-to-face customer services

4.2 The full list of activities is provided as Appendices 1-5.  Due to the fluid nature of the 
situation and the potential that we could move backwards in stages, especially if there is a 
second peak of the pandemic, there are no target dates associated with these activities.

4.3 The purpose of this report is to enable us to be prepared to transition effectively to future 
phases.  These will be detailed in a further report presented in September.

5 Changes, Reset Reviews and Lessons Learnt
5.1 It is important that in this unprecedented and volatile situation that the outcome of our 

actions and the wider environment are considered at a regular basis.  While each service 
may have its own timelines (and be dependent on guidance from Central Government), it 
is felt that broadly we are moving from the ‘Response’ stage into the ‘Restart’ stage.

5.2 As we progress through each stage, it is important to consider risks, opportunities and 
lessons learned to shape our future direction, looking at what went well and what needs to 
be improved. 

5.3 It is recommended that there should be a formal ‘reset review’ at key points where the 
overall emphasis changes to ensure that assumptions are still valid and that resources are 
directed to the right activities to best achieve the long term aims.  Based upon the fluidity 
of the situation, it could well be that we move backward through the stages at some points 
if the local or national position deteriorates and further restrictions are (re)introduced.

6 Governance and Accountability including the Role of Members
6.1 The general principles of this approach are to be open, transparent and subject to 

scrutiny.  However, the initial stages were much more reactive and by their nature needed 
operational and immediate decisions.  It should be noted that this could be the case again 
if the need for greater lockdown measures arise again or certain sectors are required to 
close.  However, as we move through the stages the decisions become more strategic 
and it is fully expected that decisions will follow constitutional requirements.  

6.2 The Leader of the Council will be responsible for the development and delivery of the 
COVID-19 Recovery Plan.  However, the nature of the Recovery Plan is such that it will 
cut across all of the Cabinet portfolios and Cabinet Members will be responsible for 
delivery of actions within their portfolios.  It is anticipated that scrutiny will be invited to 
support both the development and delivery of the Recovery Plan, with Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny committee providing scrutiny 
for the overall plan.

6.3 The Senior Accountable Officer for the COVID-19 response is the Chief Executive and the 
strategic Member lead is the Leader of the Council.  Activities are broken down into 
themes and these will be jointly led by officers from the Corporate Management Team and 
Cabinet Members.  However, the practical governance steps will change on a phase by 
phase basis.

6.4 A key element of the response phase for SKDC was the role of Members in supporting the 
community, informing and shaping the response of SKDC.  The intention is to continue to 
enable all Members to proactively engage with and shape the recovery plan both formally 

173



and informally.  The mechanisms for doing this will be outlined in the detailed September 
report and will be informed by feedback from Members.

Response Phase
6.5 Due to the urgent and reactive nature, decisions were taken on a delegated basis by the 

Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive.  As we are reaching the end of this phase, 
all decisions taken via this emergency route were reported to Full Council (on 14th May 
2020).  A paper setting out all the operational decisions is presented elsewhere on this 
agenda.

Restart Phase
6.6 Most of the decisions are operational in basis, primarily re-opening services and providing 

support to others reopening as the situation and Government guidance allows.  However, 
as these actions are more proactive, this paper (and in particular Appendices 1-5) sets out 
the activities planned in advance for approval by Cabinet.  Figure 3 sets out the proposed 
internal governance structure for this phase.
Figure 3: Internal Governance approach for Restart Phase

Recovery Phase 
6.7 Three papers are intended to be presented to Cabinet in September 2020.  These are an 

amended budget paper, a COVID-19 Recovery Plan and a Corporate Plan.  These papers 
will set the context and approach for this recovery phase.  Although internally certain tasks 
will be overseen as part of a COVID-19 response project, services will be subject to usual 
Scrutiny processes.

Reshape Phase
6.8 It is expected that activities will be built into business as usual processes by this stage.  A 

Corporate Plan incorporating COVID-19 responses will be produced and future annual 
Budgets and Medium-Term Financial Plans will incorporate all such activities within them.  
Portfolio Holders will have oversight of all activities relating to their areas of responsibility.

174



7 Working with Partners
7.1 One of the key positive features of the immediate response was the very positive 

relationship with partners including businesses, the voluntary sector and other areas of the 
public sector.  The framework has been developed to harness the potential of these 
partnerships and to ensure that community leadership within the District is enhanced 
through activities within the response.

7.2 One of the key partnerships enhanced during the response, has been though the 
Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (LRF).  The details of the work undertaken to date through 
the ‘Response’ phase are detailed in a separate report on this agenda.  We intend to 
sustain our relationship within the LRF through the future phases of our response, to 
ensure a pan-Lincolnshire co-ordinated response.  The LRF is continuing to operate 
Strategic and Tactical Co-ordination Groups on which SKDC will be fully represented, 
alongside this the focus of the activity has moved to the development of a Recovery Plan, 
which itself contains various task and finish groups (e.g. communities, business and 
economy, communications, resources and finance)

7.3 This will not always mean doing the same things as other local authorities in the area; but 
ensuring that activities and their impact are understood.  The governance structure for the 
LRF recovery phase is attached in Appendix 6.

7.4 A summary of the other groups that SKDC is a part of and the objectives are set out 
below:

Forum Objectives  SKDC attendance

Lincolnshire LAs Leaders 
Groups

Set strategic direction to LA response in Lincolnshire

Identify key messages to feedback internally and 
externally

Leader of the Council

Lincolnshire LAs Chief 
Executive Group

Strategic overview of LA response in Lincolnshire

Adopt consistency and learn form best practice in the 
County

Influence strategic direction of regional and national 
response

Chief Executive

Lincolnshire LAs S.151 Officers 
Group

Focus on financial issues/challenges in Lincolnshire

Adopt consistency in financial modelling and a best 
practice approach

Coordinated lobbying of regional and national 
platforms with regard to local authority financial impact

Director of Finance

Lincolnshire LAs Chief 
Monitoring Officers Group

Early identification and response to emerging issues 
(e.g. GDPR/safeguarding challenges)

Robust and consistent response to key and emerging 
issues

Understand issues around democratic processes and 
virtual meetings

Director of Law and 
Governance

Lincolnshire LAs Community 
Response Group 

Adopt agreed approach to identifying and 
communicating with vulnerable residents

Develop flexible and streamlined approach to utilising 
volunteering groups

Learning from best practice and influencing LRF 
response

Assistant Chief Executive

East Midlands Councils Sharing challenges and solutions Chief Executive

175



Local Government Association Communicate as a single voice for the LA sector 
around challenges and support requirements

Guidance around key issues (e.g. furloughing)

Leader of Council and 
Chief Executive

District Councils Network Sharing challenges and solutions from a District 
Council perspective

Communicate as a single voice to Government of 
financial challenges of District Councils (resulting in 
improved provision in second round of Government 
funding)

Leader of Council and 
Chief Executive

Lincolnshire Leisure Group Develop a consistent and informed approach regarding 
current and likely future leisure issues in the light of 
current restrictions

Provide advice to Chief Executives on co-ordinated 
approach to the leisure sector

Head of Leisure

Lincolnshire Planning Group Work collaboratively to embed new planning 
processes, governance and delegations

Response collectively to new planning 
guidance/approach developed by Government

Strategic Director of 
Growth

Greater Lincolnshire Housing 
Delivery Group

Work collaboratively to stimulate housing growth, 
explore opportunities to attract funding into the housing 
market.

Coordinate housing growth potential in the sub-region 
and share best practice.

Assistant Director- 
Housing

Lincolnshire Environmental 
Health Managers Group

To ensure a consistent countywide approach to the 
enforcement of the new Health Protection Coronavirus 
Restrictions Regulations 

Share intelligence and information with other agencies 
e.g. Police and Trading Standards 

Head of Environmental 
Services

LRF Test and Trace sub-cell To work collaboratively in order to ensure that, in 
Lincolnshire, the national Test and Trace programme 
meets the need of the local population

Head of Environmental 
Services

8 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
8.1 The framework for the COVID-19 Recovery Plan and strategic fit with other documents 

was discussed with Councillors at the all Members Briefing on 1 June 2020. 

8.2 SKDC officers and Members have been consulting with partners and external 
stakeholders about the nature of the recovery plan, including others that are developing 
similar plans to ensure they interact effectively.  These include, but are not limited to, the 
groups outlined in the table above.  Part of SKDC’s consultation includes partners, such 
as the key representatives in the voluntary sector who have indicated a keenness to work 
with SKDC in developing the recovery plan.

8.3 This report has not been considered by a scrutiny committee as it is setting a framework 
for future activity, however the full report, which is expected to be considered by Cabinet 
and Full Council in September, will engage fully through the scrutiny process.

176



9 Available Options Considered
9.1 Alternative options considered and rejected are as follows:

 Do nothing – effectively continue with a reactive approach and delegated decisions for 
the foreseeable future; this was rejected as it is felt that it is important to ensure plans 
are developed to steer activity

 Do minimum – waiting to produce the September amended budget report and 
incorporate all future actions into this; this was rejected as this would combine strategy, 
finance and an emerging COVID-19 environment into a single document, which would 
be very complex and therefore less transparent

 Return to ‘normal’ – create a Corporate Plan and amended Budget through standard 
processes and rely on adopted Scrutiny and decision making processes (and internal 
line management) for enacting decisions; this was rejected as we feel the situation is 
too volatile for this at the moment; this is seen to be more appropriate at the ‘Reshape’ 
phase

10 Preferred Option
10.1 The preferred option is to form a specific approach to the changing COVID-19 

requirements and integrate this back into business of usual in a phased approach.  This 
maximises the transparency, openness and scrutiny opportunity while balancing the need 
for reactive responses during emergency periods.

11 Reasons for the Recommendation(s)
11.1 To set out an appropriate framework to develop and over time to integrate our COVID-19 

response to usual activities and to present the actions proposed in the next stage of our 
response.

12 Next Steps, Communication and Implementation of the Decision
12.1 Internal and external communication form specific actions within the COVID-19 response.  

The focus on communication will be on specific activities within the plan, rather than 
communicating about the framework itself.

12.2 A draft Corporate Plan is being developed.  This will be informed by a range of informal 
briefings and workshops with Cabinet and other Councillors and also via formal scrutiny 
and oversight, before being presented to Cabinet in September.  If supported by Cabinet it 
will then be considered by Full Council.  Research and performance data are being 
collated and validated by officers currently as part of internal consultation to ensure that 
priorities and actions are evidence based.

13 Financial Implications 
13.1 There will be a requirement to present an amended budget to reflect the known changes 

to the approved budgets and put forward the options for financing the forecast changes in 
the budget framework.  The actions contained in this report will be met from existing 
resources and any variations to existing budgets will be considered as part of the 
amendments.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

177



14 Legal and Governance Implications 
14.1 A planned, structured approach to recovery and reshaping the Council’s services is to be 

welcomed, as it provides a structured, transparent and accountable framework for the 
Council’s functions, duties, and responsibilities towards the communities of South 
Kesteven.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

15 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
15.1 An equality impact assessment has been carried out and is presented in Appendix 7.  As 

the actions are primarily intended to support people and businesses within the District 
disadvantaged by COVID-19 the general assessment is positive.  There remains a risk 
that a move to more remote and digital service provision could negatively impact older 
people and those without access to internet (potentially in the more rural areas); these will 
need to be assessed and mitigated on a service-by-service basis as those plans are 
developed.

16 Risk and Mitigation
16.1 A risk register is presented as Appendix 8.  The headline risks / threats and the mitigation 

actions are highlighted below:

 That the impact of COVID-19 puts pressure on the Council’s financial position – this is 
mitigated by ongoing monitoring of the financial position of the Council and with the 
development and presentation of an amended budget to Council planned for 
September

 That there is a second wave of COVID-19 infections – the framework is setup to allow 
a reversion to a more reactive phase as needed to deal with any emergency situations 
and processes are in place to allow the Council to work in this way

 That COVID-19 has a significant financial impact on business and residents throughout 
the District – the framework focuses on actions to support people and businesses 
throughout, but a focus is given in the ‘Recover’ phase of activities.  Individual actions 
throughout (such as the rates relief scheme) are in place to support businesses and 
residents as much as possible

16.2 In addition, on a service by service basis, there will be a service level risk assessment and 
building use assessment before any changes are made.

17 Community Safety Implications 
17.1 There are no direct community safety implications in this report.  Re-opening and 

changing services may have specific implications and these will be considered on a 
service by service basis; but the adoption of this framework does not.

18 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Councils declaration of a climate emergency?

18.1 The approach recommended retains ‘A Clean and Sustainable Environment’ as one of five 
key themes identified for consideration for both the COVID-19 response and the 
developing Corporate Plan.  This is to ensure that the impact or carbon and general 
sustainability is fully considered in all decisions.

178



19 Other Implications (where significant) 
19.1 All significant implications are highlighted above.

20 Background Papers
20.1 Decisions taken during COVID-19 response period including decisions made under 

General Exception and Special Urgency arrangements – Full Council 14th May 2020 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during
%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf
COVID-19 Budget Position – Cabinet 16th June 2020
COVID-19 Position Statement – Cabinet 16th June 2020

21 Appendices
21.1 Appendices 1-5 – Activities in COVID-19 ‘Restart’ Phase

Appendix 6 – Governance Structure for LRF Recovery Phase
Appendix 7 – Equality Assessment
Appendix 8 – Risk Register

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

18 May 2020Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  16 June 2020

179

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 – Vibrant and Resilient Economy

Outcomes Required: 
Ensure there is timely and high-quality support for businesses to enable them to recover from COVID-19 and achieve future growth

COVID-19 Impacts: 
+ Opportunity to reshape town centre offers
+ Potential for more targeted funding/support to achieve economic growth (housing, infrastructure and business)

- Expected increase in unemployment, business closures and increased demand for social and other rented accommodation 
- Potential wider loss of confidence in economy creating uncertainty and reduced appetite for investment and growth
- High competition for funding support

Lead Directorate Key Areas Restart Phase - Actions

Discretionary Fund open for applications
ISK Business Survey results to be fed back to ISK breakfast event

Growth Supporting businesses

ISK recovery plan to be agreed
Growth Planning Service Commence the Planning Review

Programme of fortnightly virtual planning committeesGrowth Enabling new construction and development activity to 
restart Local Plan – Issues and Options stage to commence

Consideration of Government and sector guidanceGrowth Re-open town centres
Action plan developed with stakeholders
Explore opportunities for expansion of goods on offerGrowth Town Markets
Ensure safe working practices and social distancing measures
St Martins Park, Stamford
Future High Streets Fund - final bid submission
Heritage Action Zone – delivery commercial

Growth Progress delivery of priority capital priority projects

Elm Street, Stamford, refurbishment commissioned
Monitor all properties in ownership
Carry out priority repairs and maintenance

Growth To support commercial tenants of Council assets

Maintain contact with tenants and consider any requests for support
Review and respond to easing of restrictions per sector
Respond to resident complaints that businesses are not following COVID-19 secure 
guidance

Commercial and 
Operations

Enabling businesses to re-open safely

Advice and guidance to businesses planning to re-open
Ensure car park payment machines are able to switch to current approved rates
Carry out checks of car parks / signage & introduce social distancing measures around 
payment machines
Advise permit holders of (re)commencement of season tickets and confirm renewal dates

Commercial and 
Operations

Re-introduction of car parking charges

Reintroduce parking enforcement
Review Hub operations
Combine contact phone numbers and email addresses

Commercial and 
Operations

Reshape telephone call / email handing element of SK 
Community Hub offer to meet future need

Create a database / script for customer service centre call handlers
Removal of temporary restrictions to taxi licensing policy
Work through the backlog of animal licensing inspections

Commercial and 
Operations

Licensing – resumption of full operations

Prepare for potential increase in temporary event notice applications

181

Appendices 1 - 5



APPENDIX 2 – Housing that Meets the Needs of our Residents

Outcomes Required:     
Meeting our housing needs of the District in a sustainable manner:

 High quality council housing
 Homes being built of all tenure
 Affordable and accessible to the residents of South Kesteven 

COVID-19 Impacts:  
+ Increased demand for market, affordable and social rented accommodation

-  Likely to be a fall in housing sale values 
- Potentially increase in material and labour costs

Lead Directorate Key Areas Restart Phase – Actions

Recommence Housing / Tenancy management services; phased recommencement of 
Housing Officer duties / visits: 
Phase 1 - Dealing with non-urgent ASB, Nuisance, Harassment, subletting, allocations from 
register, sign up for new tenancies, mutual exchanges, successions, assignments, 
abandoned properties; 
Phase 2 - 6 week follow up visits, estate walkabouts, property condition/hoarding, 
accompanied viewings, boundary disputes
Phase 3 - Garage management/visits, grounds maintenance inspections

Growth Support our tenants and those in housing need: -
Tenancy Services
Sheltered Housing
Homelessness, Temporary Accommodation and 
allocations

Recommence Housing Allocations; allocating people back into priority banding
Growth Maintaining and addressing backlog of routine repairs Phased response to repairs:

Phase 1 - Start to issue external backlogged routine repairs
Phase 2 - Start to issue internal (less than 3 hours) backlogged routine repairs
Phase 3 - Start to issue larger routine repairs

Growth Recommence Improvement programmes to continue 
to meet the Decent Homes Standard.
Statutory and H&S works have continued through the 
period:

Lifts, Asbestos removal, Fire Extinguishers service and 
maintenance, H&S testing

Phase 1 - Communal Room refurbishment, major voids, external adaptations, main roofs, 
external wall finishes/pointing, DFGs (external), sewage refurbishment, drainage and 
water services, external painting programme, new parking schemes, resurfacing existing 
(tenant) car parking programme
Phase 2 - Loft insulation and cavity fill, internal adaptations, structural works, re-wiring, 
heating upgrades, window/doors replacement, DFGs (internal), communal doors, 
smoke/heat detector upgrading
Phase 3 - Full Kitchen/Bathroom replacement
Progress 10 local housing schemes: 

1. Earlesfield Lane, 
2. Kinoulton Court, 
3. Meadow Close, 
4. Trinity Road, 
5. Swinegate, 
6. Riverside Walk, 
7. Blessed Hugh Moore site, 
8. Shaw Road, 
9. Trent Road, 
10. Wellington Way

Complete 2 modular housing schemes
Virtual community consultation on major housing development in Grantham
Procure construction developers on planning approved schemes

Growth To deliver new Council Housing to meet housing need

Submit further planning applications for capital schemes
Collection of project data of growth opportunities
First officer working group

Growth Delivering Housing Growth

Development of proposition for future funding submissions
Finalise Choice Based Lettings (CBL) Business Case
Review Allocations Policy to adopt CBL
Draft Housing Asset Management Strategy (HAMS) (maximise the potential/opportunities 
of stock/land to include remodelling)

Growth Progress on key polices and Strategies outlined in the 
approved Housing Strategy and business essential.

Homelessness Strategy - review of strategy against 2 years’ outcomes following 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

182



APPENDIX 3 – Strong Communities with High Quality Facilities 

Outcomes Required:
 Establish and communicate revised service offering (in line with Council priorities) and delivery to desired quality
 Clear strategy enabling the Council to demonstrate effective leadership with the voluntary sector – clear and executed roles and responsibilities
 Strong and resilient communities

COVID-19 Impacts:    
+ Established role and relationships as ‘Community Leader’ during crisis, strong foundation for further working
+ Opportunity to engage with Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS), in new ways with clearer strategy and a more joined up approach

- Community volunteering effort may reduce after initial wave of support
- Weaker voice on Local Resilience Forum
- Negative impact on Leisure sector and arts activities 
Lead Directorate Key Areas Restart Phase - Actions

Continued liaison with the leisure operator regarding closure and property maintenance 
requirements of SK’s leisure assets
Appointment of consultant support to advise on current financial and contractual 
situation with leisure operator
Develop a procurement strategy to secure a new long term contractual arrangement

Growth Development of new leisure programme + operations 
in leisure centres

Development of an investment programme to rebuild/refurbish leisure centres
Virtual Cultural programme in developmentGrowth Delivery of Culture and Arts to residents
Plan for phased reopening of Arts Centres developed
Explore phased migration to charity provider / self-service model
Promotion of support available

Transformation and 
Change

Remodelling the befriending service to meet future 
need

Options appraisal to meet future needs
Maintain effective dialogue with groups, charities and volunteers
Map provision of community support and identify gaps
Review community funding opportunities

Commercial and 
Operations

Ongoing volunteering and wider community support

Develop a VCS Community Forum
Maintain open dialogue with key Members and other volunteers
Re-engage the Parks and Events Community Engagement Officer to recruit new 
volunteers
Work with external agencies to promote opportunities for park-based volunteer work

Commercial and 
Operations

Park specific volunteering and wider community 
support

Develop Green Spaces Forum
Dialogue with traders regarding layouts and siting of stalls
Dialogue with traders regarding alternative service offers
Review opportunities for surrounding businesses that might be able to partially open

Commercial and 
Operations

Markets offering

Determine future resource requirements
Audit Parks to ensure compliance with directives
Provide banners and signs
Re-enable public access to facilities currently closed

Commercial and 
Operations

Re-opening of public space and external activity 
facilities

Consider re-opening park based public toilets
Return of staff from furlough based on business needCommercial and 

Operations
Restart of East Midlands Building Control ‘normal’ 
operations Consideration of full site visit program

Work with the LRF sub-cell to oversee and co-ordinate the local response
Environmental Health to support investigations in local settings

Commercial and 
Operations

Supporting to national Contract Tracing Advisory 
System (CTAS)

Continue to support needs of those isolating
Maintain dialogue with current and regular hirers of facility
Audit the venue to ensure compliance
Procure new signage, barriers and PPE
Dialogue with Artists and acts book to re-schedule
Consider new events for venue to replace gaps in market

Commercial and 
Operations

Bourne Corn Exchange – re-opening venue for general 
hire and events

Monitor success of bookings and events

183



APPENDIX 4 – A clean and sustainable environment

Outcomes Required:  
 Continuing to keep the District clean and safe
 Building on and embedding carbon reductions  

COVID-19 Impacts:    
+ Decreased activity and commuting will have had a positive impact on pollution levels
+ Increased levels of public support and appreciation for the work of street care operatives

Lead Directorate Key Areas Restart Phase - Actions

Monitor for advice on when ‘shielders’ will be able to return to work + any additional 
measures to support
Review additional waste impacts on different waste streams
Review staffing requirements

Commercial and 
Operations

Street Care and Waste and Recycling Services – 
operating in a ‘new normal’

Reschedule Big Clean Teams’ work
Publish SKDC carbon footprint and reduction opportunities report
Review investment implications in light of climate emergency and COVID-19
Review opportunities to lock in behaviours around travel, remote working and energy use

Commercial and 
Operations

Carbon Reduction, messaging and opportunities for 
embedding

Evaluate climate emergency sections of reports
Food Standards Agency expect to produce national recovery plan for food hygiene 
inspections
Surveyor visits and disabled adaptation installations to resume in phased approach
Reactive inspections / site visits in response to wider range of complaints

Commercial and 
Operations

Environmental Health – gradual resumption of 
‘normal’ services

Deal with backlog of proactive (non-food) inspections
Resume installation of noise monitoring equipment
Reactive site visits in response to wider range of complaints, with precautions

Commercial and 
Operations

Re-mobilising Neighbourhoods and other services

Resumption of car parking and litter enforcement
Continue with current revised management and operating proceduresCommercial and 

Operations
Managing the depot to deliver services safely

Review and maintain risk assessments
Maintain and review the risk assessment
Work in partnership with LCC as demand increases

Commercial and 
Operations

Issues around traffic to LCC Household Waste 
Recycling facility

Influence LCC operations as required
Service review process to restart when feasibleCommercial and 

Operations
Recommence Street Scene service review

Undertake salary review
Re-evaluation of finances and staffing levels
Budget approval if required

Commercial and 
Operations

Review of additional payment given to Street Scene 
staff

Decision as to when additional payment will stop/change/continue
Service level risk assessments
Building use assessments

Commercial and 
Operations

Continued compliance with safety legislation and 
guidance

Support of home workers

184



APPENDIX 5 – A high performing Council. 

Outcomes Required:  
 Ensure financial sustainability for SKDC (and support delivery of priorities)
 A safe, engaged, effective and efficient workforce
 Increased value for money in service delivery
 Strong performance metrics and high levels of citizen satisfaction

COVID-19 Impacts:     
+ Increased working from home and agile working
+ Improved IT and digital infrastructure and performance and increased expectation/capability of remote customer engagement
+ Democratic processes

- Loss of income and increased cost leading to significant financial pressures
- Loss of engagement/consistency in some democratic processes due to postponed meetings
- Redeployment/removal of some services is likely to have led to disengagement from some members of staff

Lead Directorate Key Areas Restart Phase - Actions

1:1’s to keep staff motivated and aligned with clear work plans
Operational performance dashboards displaying key metrics for each area
Monthly business partner meetings to identify challenges and improvements
Redefining learning and development plans

Transformation and 
Change

Managing productivity and performance in remote 
working world

Staff engagement survey focussing on the tools and support currently in place and 
additional support required to undertake their roles effectively 
Identifying and understanding demand for seasonal high-volume services requiring 
digitisation and remodelling
Modelling initial digitisation of face-to-face provision

Transformation and 
Change

Digital – Increased customer self service

Implementation of trail face-to-face digital solution
Deployment of voting solution
Full deployment and training for Microsoft Teams
Specify requirements for future virtual meetings

Transformation and 
Change

Effective teams operating remotely with resilient IT 
provision  

Softphone solution to home-based staff
Ensure key messages are clear, relevant and timely
Use channels that we know staff engage with
Ensure staff get issues first-hand

Transformation and 
Change

Well informed staff

Seek and use regular feedback
Ensure key messages are clear, relevant and timely
Use all channels effectively
Clearly identify who we want/need to engage with, when and who responsible

Transformation and 
Change

External stakeholders kept informed

Seek and use regular feedback
Determine appointment only face-to-face operating models for each site
Telephony – support migration of hub into contact centre
Identify key transactions for digitisation

Transformation and 
Change

Customer services – reduction / removal of restrictions 
aligned to 5 stages of Government risk levels

Produce complaints and compliments performance dashboard
Identification of key projects
Realignment of resources

Transformation and 
Change

Rapid innovation and solution delivery in response to 
changes in government policy or customer demand

Determine funding requirements for work that can be accelerated through partners
Service level risk assessments + identify additional controls and resources to support
Building use assessments + identify adaptations and additional controls required

Commercial and 
Operations

Demonstrate the Council’s continued compliance with 
safety legislation and guidance

Support of home workers
Recommend the Constitution Review programme
Enhanced Member development programme
Streamlining of democratic processes

Legal & Democratic Re-mobilising and improving democratic processes 
and governance

Legal service review – options for future delivery models
Amended budget for 2020/21
Review of Medium-Term Financial Plan for 2020/21 and 2 years thereafter
Budget setting for 2021/22

Finance & Resources Finance and Resources – development of a revised 
budget

Rebasing of savings and transformation plans
Review of supply chains across key servicesFinance & Resources Review of procurement activities across the Council
Baseline procurement saving plans in light of above

185



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 – LRF Recovery Structure Chart

187

A
ppendix 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

COVID-19: Initial Actions + 
Recovery Plan

Lead officer:
Ken Lyon
Assessors:
Paul Clarke

Service Area:

Corporate

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

04/06/20

189

Appendix 7



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

COVID-19 Response.  This assessment considers two aspects of the 
response.
The first is looking at the initial and planned actions as a response to the 
COVID-19 outbreak.
The second is developing a framework, structure and governance for the 
later stages of the response, as we move from a more reactive, to a more 
planned approach.
A future report will outline specific actions to be taken in later stages of our 
response, as services are considered for longer-term reshaping and we look 
to recover from the immediate shock to people and the economy caused by 
COVID-19.  As these actions are unknown at this stage, Annex A highlights 
some of the equality issues that may need to be considered alongside these 
decisions.

Is this a new or existing policy? New

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or negative 
impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or diversity 
strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local consultations 
evaluation forms, comments and complaints, etc.

Equality Group Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Positive Certain new services such as 
the befriending service focus 
primarily on ensuring older 
residents are supported.

Disability Positive Additional services focussed 
on the “shielding” group, 
having long-term health issues

Race None The initial response aimed at 
protecting all.  There is a risk 
that longer-term decisions 
could place greater risk on 
certain BAME groups 
considered (see Annex A for 
more detail)

190



Gender 
Reassignment

  

None This policy will not impact on 
gender reassignment.

Religion or 
Belief  

None The initial closures included 
closures of places of worship 
and restricted access to 
funerals.  Longer-term 
decisions about reopening 
could have an impact – see 
Annex A

Sex

  

None This policy will not impact upon 
people based upon their sex.  

Sexual 
Orientation

None This policy will not impact upon 
people based upon their 
sexual orientation.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

None This policy will not impact upon 
people based upon pregnancy 
or maternity.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

None This policy will not impact upon 
marriage and civil 
partnerships. Longer-term 
decisions may – see appendix

Carers None This policy will not impact upon 
people based upon their caring 
duties.

Other groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities; 
those with past 
offences)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

Positive Some of the initial actions will 
have had a positive income on 
people from low incomes, such 
as the expansion of the 
Council Tax hardship fund and 
offering payment holidays 
where needed.

However, the longer-term 
decisions could affect those 
from rural areas, those with 
underlying health conditions 
and those on low incomes (see 
Annex A)

General 
comments

While the development of a plan and the initial response will 
have a broad positive impact on several equality groups, later 
stages carry a risk of having an adverse effect.  Annex A lists 
key stages where a negative impact could result and how these 
can be mitigated.

191



3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of the 
proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant consultation 
and key findings)

Internal consultation was carried out throughout the development of the 
Recovery Plan.  This consultation made sure that the role of Risk 
Assessments and Building Assessments were fully integrated into the 
Recovery Plan.

Staff surveys have been undertaken to identify those in higher risk groups 
and mitigations put in place to protect them.

Discussion with the wider Lincolnshire Resilience Forum, checked alignment 
to the wider response across the county and minimise overlaps and shared 
approach where appropriate to do so.  This resulted in changes to focus of 
activity on initial responses such as the befriending service to minimise 
conflict with a county-wide service for shielded residents.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will they be 
addressed?

Risk and building assessments will continue on a service by service basis 
throughout the Recovery Plan and these will continue to use consultation and 
monitoring data as required.

Monitoring information will continue to be made available during the lifetime 
of the plan and this will be used to form responses.  Moving from phase to 
phase has a built-in reset and review period, and this will be a specific 
chance to feed in additional information about the impact our approach is 
having.  This will include national data (such as changes in infection rates), 
regional data (co-ordinated by the LRF such as numbers of visits to mobile 
testing stations) and local data (volume and types of queries). 

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be required 
to provide evidence to support the recommendations made). Please check 
one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken.

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis 
or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and 
b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

192



If you have checked option c) you will need to answer question c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative equality 
impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of who you will consult on the proposed changes and 
if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale behind that 
decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality analysis. 
You should consider in Stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to reduce the 

negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Ken Lyon
(Name and title) Assistant Chief Executive

Date completed: 04/06/20 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    04/06/20

193



Annex A
Potential Decisions that could have an Equality Impact

Purpose
There are several future decisions and processes that could have an equality impact 
(either positive or negative).  This annex sets out the areas identified that could have an 
equality impact in the later stages of the COVID-19 response.

Elements that could have an Equality Impact
Move to more online service delivery model
Moving to a more online service delivery model could risk a reduced service for those not 
able or wishing to engage via digital channels.  This could disproportionately affect older 
people and people living in rural areas (the latter that might struggle to get a stable internet 
connection).

To mitigate against this risk then full consideration of the impact will need to be given at 
the time of changes to service provision and consultation is undertaken.  Alternative 
options for interaction will need to be considered and incorporated into the overall 
assessment of value for money for the services offered.

Furthermore, websites and applications used for wider interaction with the public should be 
built to high accessibility standards to ensure that the design does not prevent usage.  This 
should include ensuring they work on computers, tablets and mobiles, text is scalable and 
that high contrast backgrounds can be chosen – consultation will take place alongside 
South Lincolnshire Blind Society to ensure accessibility standards are met.

Decisions to re-open / grant wider gatherings in places of worship, burial grounds and 
venues where marriages can be performed
There needs to be a balance struck between Public Health and meeting people’s wishes.  
There is a desire to re-open as long as this meets with national guidance and it is felt safe 
to do so locally.  Decisions will be supported by service specific risk assessments and 
building assessments.

Return to work for employees of SKDC
As people are asked to return to normal places of work and/or come back into more face-
to-face interactions with the public there are a number of factors that influence risk to 
catching and likely severity of COVID-19.  Risk assessments should include ethnicity, age 
and other health and disability factors that could make people more susceptible to COVID-
19.

Longer-term impact of withdrawing financial support and deferred payments
Whilst the deferring of Council Tax and additional support for both individuals and 
businesses removed some of the immediate financial pressure, the impact of seeking to 
recover the deferred income will need careful consideration.  The cost and benefits and 
timing of reintroduction of charges will need careful planning and consideration. 

194



APPENDIX 8 - RISKS AND ISSUES

Ref Date Raised Risk or Issue Description R
is

k 
o

r 
Is

su
e

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

Im
p

ac
t

Se
ve

ri
ty

Mitigation or Action Plan - Mitigation of Impact (I) or 

Likelihood (L) R
is

k 
o

r 
Is

su
e

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

Im
p

ac
t

Se
ve

ri
ty

Status Date Closed

People and Resources

P1

Some staff struggle to adjust to homeworking and the 'new normal' ways 

of working

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h Staff surveys, tailored responses for individuals, looking at 

re-training, access to office, and/or reassignment (I) R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Open

P2

Increased demands for affordable rent and social housing, relatively 

limited supply in South Kesteven

R
is

k

4 3 V
er

y 
H

ig
h

Build more rented accommodation (I) R
is

k

4 2 H
ig

h

Open

P3

Loss of jobs / homes as a result of a deep recession following the COVID-

19 related lockdown R
is

k

2 4 H
ig

h Provide safety net through social / rented housing (I)

R
is

k

2 3 H
ig

h Open

P4

Without effective communication, we could lose community volunteering 

effort between waves of outbreaks or before alterative uses are decided

R
is

k

4 2 H
ig

h Plan early for next stages (L)

Effective engagement with voluntary groups (L) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m Open

P5

Rise in domestic violence cases

R
is

k

3 5 V
er

y 
H

ig
h

Work with partners to ensure service availability (I)

Increased awareness for staff, both for visiting residents and 

for line management (I) R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h

Open

P6

The 'bandwidth' of the Council to undertake other projects / activities is 

reduced due to the required focus on COVID-19

R
is

k

4 2 H
ig

h

Effective prioirisation (I) R
is

k

4 1 M
ed

iu
m Open

P7

Workforce engagement is more challenging given remote working and/or 

some staff being 'disegnaged' with the COVID-19 response

R
is

k

4 2 H
ig

h

Effective communication (L) R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Open

P8

Increased sickness absence due to Covid-19, or impacts of elgongated 

period of remote working

R
is

k
2 2 M

ed
iu

m

Sickness monitoring reported to HoS(L)

Regular engagement with staff on home working 

arrangements (L)

Encouraging flexibility in working patterns (I) R
is

k

1 1 Lo
w

Open

P9

Challenges in effectively recruiting and onboarding new employees to fill 

vacant posts

R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m

Adoption of modern technologies to support recruitment 

process (L)

Utilisation of processes to enable teams to effectively 

respond (I) R
is

k

1 1 Lo
w

Open

P10

Reduced employee engagement levels due to remote working 

arrangements

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h
Regular 1:1s (L)(I)

Team meetings (L)

Regular coffee catch ups (L)

Regular internal communications (corporate and service 

specific) (L)

Proactive response to challenges faced by remote 

employees (I) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m

Open

P11

Performance data is not available to measure performance and 

productivity during the recovery phase

R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Deployment of service level performance dashboards (L)

R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m Open

P12

Lack of capacity or skills in key areas to support recovery process and 

ensure business as usual is effectively delivered

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h

Alignment of resource to corporate plan (L)

Creation of recovery team with key skills (I)

Variation of service offer during recovery phase (I) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m Open

Project Name: Covid-19 Response
Last Reviewed: 29th May 2020
Risk refers to the combined likelihood the event will occur and the impact on the project if it does occur

195

A
ppendix 8



P13

Local increase in COVID-19 infection rates

R
is

k

2 3 H
ig

h

Consider temporary closures of buildings / serivces (I)

Increased working from home (I)

R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m Open

Legal, Statutory, Compliance and Reputation

L1

A decline in businesses reduce the attractiveness of other businesses to 

locate in the District

R
is

k

4 3 V
er

y 
H

ig
h

Activities and support to businesses to try to minimise the 

loss of businesses during COVID-19 (L)

Strong marketing, based partially on support given through 

COVID-19 stages (I)

R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Open

L2

The timing of growth planned may be imbalanced between houses, job 

and amenities due to speed of recovery in different areas and this could 

lead to a reduction in the desirability of the District as a location to live 

and work within R
is

k

4 2 H
ig

h

Public sector to interevene in areas of market failure (L) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m

Open

L3

Government changes rules or regulations regarding our services, which we 

have to adapt to with little or no warning

R
is

k

5 2 H
ig

h Develop flexible workforce and response process to adapt 

as changes announced (I) R
is

k

5 1 M
ed

iu
m Open

L4

Failure to align service offer with available resources during the response 

phase could result in reputational damage

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h

Proactive external communications (L)

Review of provision against government guidance (L)

Allocation of resource into priority areas (L)

Engagement with 3rd sector and key partners (I) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m

Open

L5

Local businesses operate working environments that are contrary to 

government advice / legislation

R
is

k

2 3 H
ig

h

Visits by environmental health officers (I) R
is

k

1 3 M
ed

iu
m Open

Service delivery and Process

S1

Existing developments in the region may be slowed or postponed due to 

the epidemic

R
is

k

4 3 V
er

y 
H

ig
h

Consider public sector intervention in the highest priority 

developments (L) R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h

Open

S2

COVID-19 could hinder the delivery of key projects within the District

R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Ongoing discussions with key stakeholders to minimise 

disruption (L)

Continuous monitoring of potential impacts and adapt plans 

accordingly (I) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m

Open

S3

Increased homelessness declarations could overwhelm service

R
is

k
4 3 V

er
y 

H
ig

h

Provision of additional rented and social housing (I)

R
is

k

4 2 H
ig

h

Open

S4

There is a second wave of COVID-19, with a sufficient peak to require 

lockdown again (either locally or nationally) R
is

k

2 5 H
ig

h

Maintain business continuity readiness (I) R
is

k

2 4 H
ig

h Open

S5

The leisure centre contract is ending during the time with significant Covid-

19 impact, leading to less competitive offers for contract renewal

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h Engage specialist support to provide advice on contractual 

options and solutions (I) R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Open

S6

Vistor numbers reduced and take longer to rebuild previous numbers of 

tourists when things re-open

R
is

k

5 2 H
ig

h Put in protection measures (I)

Advertise events alongside safety measures (I) R
is

k

5 1 M
ed

iu
m Open

S7

Lack of flexibliity of resource results in backlogs of work in key areas / 

increases cost through the utilisation of agency workers

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h

Performance monitoring (L)

Revision of expected sevice standards (L)

Utilisation of agency framework (I) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m Open

S8

People break social distancing rules

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h

Consider closing services affected temporarily (I)

Communication (L)

Share CCTV footage with police (I) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m Open

Financial and Budgetary Impacts

196



F1

An increase in unemployment results in increased demand for services 

and decreased Council Tax

R
is

k

4 3 V
er

y 
H

ig
h Increase hardship fund (L)

Monitor and prepare emergency budget on basis of re-

based expectations (I)

R
is

k

2 3 H
ig

h

Open

F2

The number of vacant business premises increased, resulting in a 

reduction in national non-domestic rates collected

R
is

k

4 3 V
er

y 

H
ig

h Monitor and prepare emergency budget on basis of re-

based expectations (I) R
is

k

1 3 M
ed

iu

m

Open

F3

Rent collection levels could fall

R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h Monitor, consider use of reserves, step back up collection 

activities once new 'normal' returns (I) R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h Open

F4

SKDC companies less likely to hit profit targets

R
is

k

4 2 H
ig

h Monitor and prepare emergency budget on basis of re-

based expectations (I) R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m Open

F5

Parts of the commercial portfolio, including property and traded services 

are negatively impacted to a point that they are unable to recover

R
is

k

2 2 M
ed

iu
m

Look to develop revised business cases; and review future 

options (I) R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Open

F6

Delivery of projects and service improvement initiatives as part of revised 

budget may be frustrated due to other commitments

R
is

k

3 3 H
ig

h

Project management (L)

Regular updates to CMT (L)

Budget monitoring and reporting (I)

Allocation of resource to priority projects (L)

R
is

k

3 2 H
ig

h

Open

197



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
16 June 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated 
Powers 
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 17 March 2020.

Report Author

Naomi Page, Democratic Officer

01476 406539

naomi.page@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 21 May 2020

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 26 May 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 4 June 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the decisions taken by individual Cabinet 
Members in the period since the last Cabinet meeting was held on 17 March 2020.

199

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Under the Leader and Cabinet model of governance, the Leader can allocate decision-

making power to individual Cabinet Members. Individual Cabinet Members may make 
decisions at any time in accordance with the relevant Regulations.

1.2 At the last meeting of the Cabinet on 17 March 2020, the Leader of the Council 
announced that all Council and Committee meetings would be temporarily suspended, 
following Government guidance in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The scheme of 
delegation was revised to allow the Leader to take responsibility for Key Decisions during 
the COVID-19 response period.

1.3 Key Decisions taken by the Leader subsequent to the suspension of Council meetings 
have been published on the Council’s website. Urgent decisions were taken in line with 
General Exception or Special Urgency procedures (as appropriate) as set out in the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

1.4 Decisions taken during the COVID-19 response period were reported to Council at its 
meeting on 14 May 2020 (attached as a background paper to this report) and those taken 
by the Leader in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member(s), Committee Chairmen 
and officers are listed below: 

 Gravity Fields Festival 2020 
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Culture and Visitor Economy on 9 April 2020 under General Exception 
provisions
Date decision effective: 23 April 2020

 Council Tax – Hardship Fund
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources on 11 May 2020 under General Exception 
provisions
Date decision effective: 19 May 2020

 Ward Member Grant Scheme
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources on 23 March 2020 under Special Urgency 
provisions
Date decision effective: 23 March 2020

 Temporary Amendments to the South Kesteven District Council Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations on 24 March 2020 under Special Urgency 
provisions
Date decision effective: 24 March 2020

200



 Deferral of rental income for specific organisations occupying Council 
commercial premises
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources on 25 March 2020 under Special Urgency 
provisions
Date decision effective: 25 March 2020

 Remuneration for street scene officers during the COVID-19 outbreak
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Members for Commercial and Operations and Finance and Resources on 30 March 
2020 under Special Urgency provisions
Date decision effective: 30 March 2020

 Refuse and Recycling Collection - operational policies
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations on 31 March 2020 under Special Urgency 
provisions
Date decision effective: 31 March 2020

 Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources on 22 April 2020 under Special Urgency 
provisions
Date decision effective: 22 April 2020

1.5 The following decision was made by the Leader during the COVID-19 response period 
after the above decisions were reported to Council:

 Award of Insurance Contract
Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources on 27 May 2020 under General Exception 
provisions
Date decision effective: 4 June 2020
Report, decision notice and General Exception Notification attached as Appendix 1

1.6 All other decisions made by individual Cabinet Members since the Cabinet last met are 
attached as appendices to this report. Both the report on which the decision was based, 
and the decision notice are attached.

1.7 Since the Cabinet met on 17 March 2020, the following decisions have been made: 

 Authorisation to write off £74,378.14 in uncollectable non-domestic rates
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources on 17 
March 2020
Date decision effective: 26 March 2020
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 2

 Disposal of land in Grantham
Non-key decision taken by the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and Transformation on 7 April 2020

201



Date decision effective: 21 April 2020
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 3

 Suspension of Recovery Action
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources on 11 May 
2020
Date decision effective: 20 May 2020
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 4

1.8 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next meeting 
of the Cabinet. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
The report that is presented to the decision-maker includes information on consultation 
and feedback received in respect of the matters to which the decisions listed in this report 
relate.

3 Available Options Considered
This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 
were considered. 

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 The financial implications are set out within each decision.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the Leader are set 

out at Article 8 of the Constitution. The Council’s Executive arrangements were adopted in 
accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The 
decisions taken are in accordance with the Council’s Constitution.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been taken. Each individual report 

on which a decision is based will consider any equality or safeguarding implications. 

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no high risks were identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

9.1 There are no climate implications as a result of this report. The carbon and climate impact 
of individual Cabinet Member decisions is contained within the relevant reports (see 
appendices 1-3).  

202



10 Background Papers
10.1 Decisions taken during COVID-19 response period including decisions made under 

General Exception and Special Urgency arrangements: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during
%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf 

11 Appendices
11.1 Appendix 1: Award of Insurance Contract

11.2 Appendix 2: Authorisation to write off £74,378.14 in uncollectable non-domestic rates

11.3 Appendix 3: Disposal of land in Grantham

11.4 Appendix 4: Suspension of Recovery Action

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 17 March 2020

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  16 June 2020

203

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25571/Decisions%20taken%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20response%20period.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Key Decision
18 June 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke

The Leader of the Council

        

Award of Insurance Contract
The Council’s current insurance contract is due to expire on 30 June 2020. A procurement 
exercise has been undertaken in preparation for the new contract which commences on 1 July 
2020.

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

 01476 406210

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet Member 
consulted

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member 
for Finance and Resources 12 May 2020

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 18 May 2020

Public or Exempt Public 

Reasons for exemption Appendix 1 is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because of the 
likelihood that information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of an individual or organisation would be disclosed. In this 
instance the exempt information relates to bids submitted as part 
of the procurement process and the evaluation of those bids. 

Conflicts of interest None

Recommendation to decision-maker

1. Approve the award of the Council’s insurance contract to the bidder with the 
highest score (further details in exempt Appendix 1) for the initial period of three 
years (with an option to extend for a further two years plus two years) commencing 
from 1 July 2020.

205

Appendix 1a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 A procurement exercise has been undertaken, in accordance with the Council’s Contract 

Procedure Rules, in preparation for the new insurance contract which commences on 1 

July 2020. The contract is for a period of three years with the option to extend for two 
periods, each for a duration of two years. The Council appointed a broker in December 
2019 to assist with the procurement which was undertaken via the YPO Insurance 
Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS).  This   was deemed the most effective and efficient 
route to market. The DPS contains 21 suppliers and all were invited to submit a bid.

1.2 With the support of the broker and YPO, a mini competition was issued through the DPS 
on 5 March 2020 with a closing date of 8 April 2020 to all 21 suppliers. The mini 
competition contained the following Lots:

Lot 1:  Material Damage
Lot 2:  Combined Liability
Lot 3:  Motor
Lot 4:  Crime
Lot 5:  Engineering
Lot 6:  Personal Accident and Travel

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The procurement approach was agreed with the Interim Director of Finance.

2.2 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources has been consulted in the preparation of 
this report.

2.3 This report is being taken under general exception arrangements set out in the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. It is therefore necessary to give notice in writing to the Chairman of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, setting out why the decision cannot wait for 
the publication of the next Forward Plan and the passing of 28 days.

2.4 The purpose of the report is to award a contract for the provision of insurance cover for 
South Kesteven District Council. To wait until the next Forward Plan is published and the 
passing of 28 days means that there would be a period during which the Council would not 
have insurance cover if any of the bidders challenged the selection of the appointed 
provider.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 As a result of the procurement exercise five insurers responded to the invitation to tender.

3.2 Bids were evaluated using the criteria stipulated in the invitation to tender which was 
based on 60% Price and 40% Quality with the quality criteria being broken down into Core 
Cover Requirements (20%), Claims Handling (15%) and Added Value (5%).

3.3 Further information about the results of the evaluation can be found in exempt Appendix 1. 

4 Preferred Option
4.1 Upon completion of the evaluation, the Council is able to award a contract to the bidder 

with the highest evaluation score. Further details of the evaluation and the bidder can be 
found in exempt Appendix 1.

206



5 Reason for the Recommendation
5.1 The procurement leaves the Council with two choices, either to award to the bidder with 

the highest evaluation score or not to award a contract at all. The second option is not 
realistic (the Council would be left without insurance) and therefore awarding a contract to 
the bidder with the highest evaluation score is recommended as the way forward.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 If the award is approved, the Council will send out notification of award letters to all 

bidders offering feedback and detailing the standstill period. Once the standstill period is 
ended the award can take place.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The Council’s insurance contract has been tendered in accordance with the Contract 

Procedure Rules and the tenders have been evaluated by the Council’s broker and 
officers involved in the procurement. Further information about the value of the bids can 
be found in exempt Appendix 1. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The contract is being let in accordance with the Council’s own Contract Procedure Rules 

and with the legal requirements of the Public Contract Regulations 2015.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy, Legal Services

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications
9.1 None identified

10 Risk and mitigation
10.1 The risk of the Council not having in place adequate insurance has been mitigated by the 

timely completion of a compliant procurement process. 

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

11.1 This decision has no climate impact.

12 Appendices
12.1 Appendix 1: Commercially confidential information regarding the bids and evaluation. This 

appendix is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended) because of the likelihood that information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of an individual or organisation would be disclosed. In this instance the 
exempt information relates to bids submitted as part of the procurement process and the 
evaluation of those bids. 

Call-in deadline 3 June 2020Report Timeline:

Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 4 June 2020

207



Decision: To approve the award of the Council’s insurance contract to the 
bidder with the highest score (further details in exempt Appendix 
1 to this report) for the initial period of three years (with an 
option to extend for a further two years plus two years) 
commencing from 1 July 2020.

Date: 27 May 2020

Decision made by:

In consultation with:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive

208



Document is Restricted

209

Appendix 1b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Decision made by: Councillor Kelham Cooke

Decision: To approve the award of the Council’s insurance contract to the 
bidder with the highest score (further details in exempt Appendix 
1 to the decision report) for the initial period of three years (with 
an option to extend for a further two years plus two years) 
commencing from 1 July 2020.

Date: 27 May 2020

Publication date: 27 May 2020

Date decision effective: Thursday 4 June 2020 (subject to the decision not being called 
in by 5 members of the Council or the Chairman of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee)

Public or Exempt: The decision notice is a public document. The report related to 
this decision is public with an exempt appendix

Reasons for exemption: Appendix 1 is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because of the 
likelihood that information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of an individual or organisation would be disclosed. In 
this instance the exempt information relates to bids submitted as 
part of the procurement process and the evaluation of those 
bids.

Conflicts of interest: None

Dispensations: None

1. Delegated authority for this decision 
1.1 As set out in Article 8 of the Council’s Constitution the Leader will allocate decision-making 

power to Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members. The Leader has determined that during 
the Covid-19 response period, he will take responsibility for the making of all Key Decisions 
in consultation with the Council’s Chief Executive. 

        

Record of Member 
Decision

211

Appendix 1c

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


2. Preferred Option
2.1 To award a contract to the bidder with the highest evaluation score. Details of the 

evaluation and bidder can be found in exempt Appendix 1 to the decision report.

3. Reasons for decision
3.1 A procurement exercise has been undertaken, in accordance with the Council’s Contract 

Procedure Rules, in preparation for the new insurance contract which commences on 1 July 
2020. The contract is for a period of three years with the option to extend for two periods, 
each for a duration of two years. The Council appointed a broker in December 2019 to 
assist with the procurement which was undertaken via the YPO Insurance Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS).  This   was deemed the most effective and efficient route to 
market. The DPS contains 21 suppliers and all were invited to submit a bid.

3.2 With the support of the broker and YPO, a mini competition was issued through the DPS on 
5 March 2020 with a closing date of 8 April 2020 to all 21 suppliers. The mini competition 
contained the following Lots:

Lot 1:  Material Damage
Lot 2:  Combined Liability
Lot 3:  Motor
Lot 4:  Crime
Lot 5:  Engineering
Lot 6:  Personal Accident and Travel

3.3 The procurement leaves the Council with two choices, either to award to the bidder with the 
highest evaluation score or not to award a contract at all. The second option is not realistic 
(the Council would be left without insurance) and therefore awarding a contract to the 
bidder with the highest evaluation score is recommended as the way forward.

3.4 As a result of the procurement exercise five insurers responded to the invitation to tender.

3.5 Bids were evaluated using the criteria stipulated in the invitation to tender which was based 
on 60% price and 40% quality with the quality criteria being broken down into Core Cover 
Requirements (20%), Claims Handling (15%) and Added Value (5%)

3.6 Further information about the results of the evaluation can be found in exempt Appendix 1 
to the decision report.

4. Consultation
4.1 The procurement approach was agreed with the Interim Director of Finance.

4.2 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources has been consulted in the preparation of 
this report.

4.3 This report is being taken under general exception arrangements set out in the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. It is therefore necessary to give notice in writing to the Chairman of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, setting out why the decision cannot wait for the 
publication of the next Forward Plan and the passing of 28 days.

4.4 The purpose of the report is to award a contract for the provision of insurance cover for 
South Kesteven District Council. To wait until the next Forward Plan is published and the 
passing of 28 days means that there would be a period during which the Council would not 

212



have insurance cover if any of the bidders challenged the selection of the appointed 
provider.

5. Approval

Signed: 

Leader of the Council

27 May 2020

Dated: ____________________________________________

213



This page is intentionally left blank



KEY DECISION – GENERAL 

EXCEPTION NOTIFICATION 

Notice given to Councillor Graham Jeal, Chairman of the 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Notice is hereby given that the following decision will be taken under 

the general exception provisions set out in Section 10 of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

The decision relates to the awarding of an insurance contract for 

South Kesteven District Council, commencing on 1 July 2020. 

 

The decision will be made under these provisions because it has not 

been possible to give 28-days prior notification of the intention to 

make this decision on the Forward Plan. To wait for the next plan to 

be published and the passing of 28 days would mean that the Council 

could be left without insurance cover. The Council’s response to the 

COVID-19 pandemic has affected staff availability to complete 

necessary documents and to get a decision taken at an earlier stage. 

 

       Shahin Ismail 

       Monitoring Officer 

Council Offices 

St. Peter's Hill 

Grantham 

 

 

Monday, 18 May 2020 

215

Appendix 1d



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-key Decision

Councillor Adam Stokes

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources

        

Authorisation to write off £74,378.14 in uncollectable 
non-domestic rates

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

 01476 406210

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Approved for 
publication:

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources 10 March 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the sums contained within this report are written off as 
uncollectable in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.

217

Appendix 2a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 To seek approval to write off uncollectable non-domestic rates detailed within this report in 

accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.   

2 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
2.1 The sums, detailed below, have become irrecoverable. 

2.2 Amount: £28,639.18
Address: 26/27 Isaac Newton Centre

Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6EE

On 11 June 2019 the company entered into a Corporate Voluntary Arrangement (CVA) 
which had been approved by the requisite 75% of its creditors. The effect of the CVA is to 
render the debt irrecoverable.

Amount: £45,738.96
Address: Offices and Premises

Harlaxton Road
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 7SB

The sum in question represents 50% of the non-domestic rates due. Due to legal 
complexities, the Council took specialist legal advice, as a result of which the Council  
agreed to accept 50% of the liability (which has been paid). The Council could have 
attempted High Court debt recovery action for the full amount, but would have been at risk 
of a substantial costs order should recovery of the full amount have been unsuccessful. The 
debt detailed here is therefore the remaining 50%.  

3 Financial Implications 
3.1 The report confirms that all attempts have been made to recover the outstanding sums and 

there is no alternative but to recommend the first debt is written off and in respect of the 
second, the Council has followed legal advice. From a financing perspective and due to the 
funding mechanism of the business rates, 40% of the debt will be met by the Council with 
the remaining 60% shared between the Government and Lincolnshire County Council on a 
50:10 basis.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

4 Legal and Governance Implications 
4.1 In respect of the first debt, the Council would stand no reasonable chance of recovering its 

debt. In respect of the second debt, the Council has taken independent legal advice from a 
barrister, and the write off is recommended due to the legal risks of litigation. Both write offs 
are therefore justified in legal terms. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

218



5 Equality and Safeguarding implications
5.1 None

6 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

6.1 Nothing identified when preparing this report.

7 Appendices
7.1 None

Date decision due to be made 17 March 2020
Call-in deadline 25 March 2020

Report Timeline: 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 26 March 2020

219



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is given to write off £74,378.14 in uncollectable non-domestic 
rates in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations. 

(1) Details of Decision

To allow the Council to write off the uncollectable sum of non-domestic rates 
debt following specialist legal advice. 

(2) Considerations/Evidence

In respect of the first debt, the Council would stand no reasonable chance of 
recovering its debt. In respect of the second debt, the Council has taken 
independent legal advice from a barrister, and the write off is recommended 
due to the legal risks of litigation.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The sums, detailed below, have become irrecoverable. 

Amount: £28,639.18
Address: 26/27 Isaac Newton Centre

Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6EE

On 11 June 2019 the company entered into a Corporate Voluntary 
Arrangement (CVA) which had been approved by the requisite 75% of its 
creditors. The effect of the CVA is to render the debt irrecoverable.

Amount: £45,738.96
Address: Offices and Premises

Harlaxton Road
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 7SB

The sum in question represents 50% of the non-domestic rates due. Due to 
legal complexities, the Council took specialist legal advice, as a result of 
which the Council  agreed to accept 50% of the liability (which has been 
paid). The Council could have attempted High Court debt recovery action for 
the full amount, but would have been at risk of a substantial costs order 

221

Appendix 2b



should recovery of the full amount have been unsuccessful. The debt detailed 
here is therefore the remaining 50%. 

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

None

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

None

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources

Date of Decision: 17 March 2020

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 18 March 2020

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 

26 March 2020

222



Non-key Decision
13 March 2020

Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council 

        

Disposal of land in Grantham

Report Author

Chris Pike, Asset Manager

07811845679

c.pike@southkesteven.gov.uk

Approved for 
publication: Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 31 March 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. To approve the disposal of land in Grantham (outlined in red on the plan at 
appendix 1 to the report)

223

Appendix 3a



1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 To obtain authority for the disposal of land as described and highlighted in red on the plan 

attached at Appendix 1.
1.2 The land in question forms part of a road and is accessible off Earlesfield Lane, Grantham. 

The road has been adopted as a Public Highway by Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) 
and LCC could apply for a stopping up order following the disposal to alleviate any repair 
and maintenance liability. 

1.3 The section of land is part of a turning point at the end of the road. There is no through-
road. All rights and restrictions over the land will pass with the transfer of the land.

1.4 Travellers have recently been removed from the land following their unlawful occupation.  
This caused disruption and damage and nuisance to the local residents.   Although, it is 
LCC who are currently responsible for preventing this encampment and removing any 
unauthorised persons from the site, there has been a joint approach taken.

1.5 A local business has expressed an interest in purchasing the land. Terms have been 
agreed to dispose of the land as per the heads of terms dated 11th December 2019, 
attached in exempt Appendix 2. This purchase would allow the business to closely 
monitor and manage the land.

1.6 The land is currently used as an access road only and not to park, block or store any items 
on the land.

1.7 The disposal price is set out in the draft heads of terms at appendix 1 and subject to a 
covenant restricting the use of the land as a road only and not to park, block or store any 
items on the land which prevent the use of the land as a turning point for cars and other 
vehicle activity. 

1.8 Completion will be scheduled for 3 months after Exchange of Contracts. Upon the 
completion of the sale of the land, SKDC will cease to have any ongoing liability for the 
maintenance, repair and statutory compliance.

1.9 The purchaser will take on the full responsibility for the land including cleaning and 
maintenance.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 No other options for the disposal have been considered. The business in Grantham that 

would like to acquire the land owns the land adjacent and by transferring the land to them 
will give them greater control.

3 Preferred Option
3.1 To dispose of the land in line with the heads of terms attached in Appendix 2.

4 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
4.1 The land is owned by SKDC. The Council has the power to dispose of land in accordance 

with s123 of the Local Government Act 1972.

4.2 The proposed purchaser approached SKDC to purchase the land after recent disruption 
from travellers. The Council is seeking to sell the land to the purchaser for less than best 
value because the land is surplus to requirements and SKDC has no intended future use 
of the road. By disposing it to the purchaser they would have more options to take action 
against the unauthorised use of the land.

224



5 Financial Implications 
5.1 The financial implications of this disposal are detailed in the body of this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

6 Legal and Governance Implications 
6.1 There are no legal implications other than those set out within the report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy, Legal Executive

7 Equality and Safeguarding implications
7.1 None

8 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

8.1 There are no carbon benefits for disposing of the land.
9 Appendices
9.1 Appendix 1 – outline plan showing land for disposal

9.2 Appendix 2 – Heads of Terms

This appendix is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended because it contains information relating to financial matters relating to 
the disposal of the land. This exemption will be reviewed once the sale has completed. 

Date decision due to be made Tuesday 7 April 2020
Call-in deadline Monday 20 April 2020

Report Timeline: 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in) Tuesday 21 April 2020

225



Appendix 1

226



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the disposal of land shown marked in red below.

(1) Details of Decision

The disposal of land in Grantham as per the attached plan at Appendix 1 to 
the report. 

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The land in question forms part of a road and is accessible off Earlesfield 
Lane, Grantham. The road has been adopted as a Public Highway by 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) and LCC could apply for a stopping up 
order following the disposal to alleviate any repair and maintenance liability. 

The section of land is part of a turning point at the end of the road. There is 
no through-road. All rights and restrictions over the land will pass with the 
transfer of the land.

Travellers have recently been removed from the land following their unlawful 
occupation.  This caused disruption and damage and nuisance to the local 
residents.   Although, it is LCC who are currently responsible for preventing 
this encampment and removing any unauthorised persons from the site, there 
has been a joint approach taken.

A local business has expressed an interest in purchasing the land. Terms 
have been agreed to dispose of the land as per the heads of terms dated 11th 
December 2019 (at the current time contains exempt information). This 
purchase would allow the business to closely monitor and manage the land.

The land is currently used as an access road only and not to park, block or 
store any items on the land.

The disposal price is set out in the heads of terms (see above) and subject to 
a covenant restricting the use of the land as a road only and not to park, 
block or store any items on the land which prevent the use of the land as a 
turning point for cars and other vehicle activity. 

Completion will be scheduled for 3 months after Exchange of Contracts. 
Upon the completion of the sale of the land, SKDC will cease to have any 
ongoing liability for the maintenance, repair and statutory compliance.

The purchaser will take on the full responsibility for the land including 

227

Appendix 3b



cleaning and maintenance.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The land is owned by SKDC. The Council has the power to dispose of land in 
accordance with s123 of the Local Government Act 1972.

The proposed purchaser approached SKDC to purchase the land after recent 
disruption from travellers. The Council is seeking to sell the land to the 
purchaser for less than best value because the land is surplus to 
requirements and SKDC has no intended future use of the road. By disposing 
it to the purchaser they would have more options to take action against the 
unauthorised use of the land.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader and Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Transformation

Date of Decision: 07 April 2020

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 08 April 2020 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

21 April 2020 

228



Appendix 1

229



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

231

Appendix 3c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-key Decision
24 April 2020

Councillor Adam Stokes

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources

        

Suspension of Recovery Action
To suspend recovery action as part of the Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

01476 406210

r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Approved for 
publication:

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources 5 May 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources is asked to approve the:

 Suspension of the Fair Collection and Debt Recovery Policy up to 30 June 2020

 Cease any legal and external debt collection activity

 Offer deferral for Council Tax and Business Rates instalments for those paying in 10 
monthly instalments from April 2020 – January 2021 until June 2020 – March 2021

 Continue to co-ordinate support for businesses through InvestSK, but consider any 
additional support over and above existing rate relief on a case-by-case basis

 Review after 30 June 2020 

233

Appendix 4a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


1 The Purpose of the Report
1.1 The current Recovery Policy is not appropriate in the current circumstances and could 

place financial burden on specific elements of the community during the pandemic period.  
Therefore the recommendation is to suspend the policy for the current period and 
introduce specific and individual support to those experiencing financial difficulties during 
this period.

1.2 These recommendations have been developed alongside reviewing the evolving 
approaches other local authorities are undertaking.  This was carried out through a review 
of websites and consultation with specific local authorities.  The recommendations made 
are consistent with the majority of local authorities that have made changes.

1.3 This overall approach allows those that can pay continue to do so and thus reduce the risk 
of greater debt once normal debt recovery procedures are adopted.

1.4 Encouragement of contact if struggling to pay will help us to target help and resources 
where needed and may help us to signpost residents and businesses to wider support 
and/or grants and benefits that might be available.  The failure to pay the Council may be 
an indicator of wider financial difficulties, so it can be used as a way of identifying 
residents that could need additional support.

1.5 Offering to defer Council Tax for ten instalments from June-March and suspending 
external debt collection / legal recovery is in line with many other local authorities and is 
felt a proportionate response in the current circumstances.

1.6 Reviewing the suspension of usual processes will allow monitoring of the developing 
situation and any further advice or guidance from Government.  It will also enable us to 
see what impact this has on collection rates, feed in any data gathered from the resilience 
forums and requests for financial support.  Furthermore, legislation has been introduced to 
prevent repossessions orders commencing for non-payment of rent in both private and 
social accommodation for at least 3 months, therefore this approach aligns debt collection 
approaches across Council services.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 Retain existing policy – this option was rejected as it fails to take into consideration the 

real financial hardship that some residents and businesses are going through due to the 
impact of Covid-19 and the social isolation measures.

2.2 A more relaxed income recovery strategy – all attempts to collect income could be delayed 
or postponed.  This was rejected for two main reasons; firstly, a proportion of residents are 
still in employment and businesses are still operating and are able to pay and secondly, 
automatically deferring debt may compound issues for residents and businesses later, 
creating further problems for them at a later date.

3 Preferred Option
3.1 This is set out in the report.

4 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
4.1 This recommendation is required given the current economic context.

234



5 Financial Implications 
5.1 The financial implications of the current situation is under constant review with particular 

focus on cash flow and budgetary impact.  Income receipts from residents and businesses 
are a key element of the Council’s cash flow management and any suspension, as 
recommended in this report, can only be temporary in order to protect the Council.  
However it is recognised that it is an appropriate action given the difficulties experienced 
by specific stakeholders.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

6 Legal and Governance Implications 
6.1 The service must be satisfied that any contract between the Council and enforcement 

agents permits suspension.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance

7 Equality and Safeguarding implications
7.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications.

8 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

8.1 Not applicable

9 Appendices
9.1 Not applicable

Date decision due to be made 11 May 2020
Call-in deadline 19 May 2020

Report Timeline: 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in) 20 May 2020

235



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to 

 Suspension of the Fair Collection and Debt Recovery Policy up to 30 
June 2020

 Cease any legal and external debt collection activity

 Offer deferral for Council Tax and Business Rates instalments for those 
paying in 10 monthly instalments from April 2020 – January 2021 until 
June 2020 – March 2021

 Continue to co-ordinate support for businesses through InvestSK, but 
consider any additional support over and above existing rate relief on a 
case-by-case basis

 Review after 30 June 2020 

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to suspend recovery action as part of the Council’s 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The current Recovery Policy is not appropriate in the current circumstances 
and could place financial burden on specific elements of the community 
during the pandemic period.  Therefore, the recommendation is to suspend 
the policy for the current period and introduce specific and individual support 
to those experiencing financial difficulties during this period.

These recommendations have been developed alongside reviewing the 
evolving approaches other local authorities are undertaking.  This was carried 
out through a review of websites and consultation with specific local 
authorities.  The recommendations made are consistent with the majority of 
local authorities that have made changes.

This overall approach allows those that can pay continue to do so and thus 
reduce the risk of greater debt once normal debt recovery procedures are 
adopted.

237

Appendix 4b



Encouragement of contact if struggling to pay will help us to target help and 
resources where needed and may help us to signpost residents and 
businesses to wider support and/or grants and benefits that might be 
available.  The failure to pay the Council may be an indicator of wider 
financial difficulties, so it can be used as a way of identifying residents that 
could need additional support.

Offering to defer Council Tax for ten instalments from June-March and 
suspending external debt collection / legal recovery is in line with many other 
local authorities and is felt a proportionate response in the current 
circumstances.

Reviewing the suspension of usual processes will allow monitoring of the 
developing situation and any further advice or guidance from Government.  It 
will also enable us to see what impact this has on collection rates, feed in any 
data gathered from the resilience forums and requests for financial support.  
Furthermore, legislation has been introduced to prevent repossessions orders 
commencing for non-payment of rent in both private and social 
accommodation for at least 3 months, therefore this approach aligns debt 
collection approaches across Council services.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The financial implications of the current situation is under constant review 
with particular focus on cash flow and budgetary impact.  Income receipts 
from residents and businesses are a key element of the Council’s cash flow 
management and any suspension, can only be temporary in order to protect 
the Council.  However, it is recognised that it is an appropriate action given 
the difficulties experienced by specific stakeholders given the current 
economic context.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

238



Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources

Date of Decision: 11 May 2020

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 12 May 2020

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

20 May 2020 

239



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
16 June 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke

The Leader of the Council

        

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 
June 2021
This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 
2021.

Report Author

Naomi Page, Democratic Officer

 01476 406539

 naomi.page@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 23 May 2020

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 26 May 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 3 June 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

241

Agenda Item 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 
with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 
publication of its Forward Plan.

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to 
Council or review the contents and take necessary actions. Whilst it is not a requirement 
to publish this information in the Forward Plan, it is the Council’s practice to do so.

1.3 To help the Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items 
for consideration during the proceeding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward 
Plan (attached as Appendix 1 to this report). The Forward Plan also includes details of 
items scheduled for each of the Council meetings due to be held within the plan period. 

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 The report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

have been considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 The Forward Plan is published each month on the Council’s website. Cabinet Members 

will work with their officers to direct the timeline for each matter, taking account of 
opportunities to consult with the Council’s overview and scrutiny committees where 
appropriate.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 There are no additional legal implications arising from this report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of the work that the Cabinet will be undertaking. Where 

appropriate, analyses in respect of equalities and safeguarding relevant to its decisions 
will be presented to Cabinet as individual issues come forward.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

242



9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

9.1 The implications with regard to South Kesteven’s declaration of a Climate Emergency will 
be considered as part of each report that is brought before Cabinet.

10 Background Papers
10.1 Section 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made 

11 Appendices
11.1 Appendix 1: Cabinet Forward Plan, 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 17 March 2020

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  16 June 2020

243

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET FORWARD PLAN
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet 

1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021

At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework.

A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely:

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to 
the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards.

A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision.

The Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council.

Overview and Scrutiny

The Forward Plan will be circulated to all Overview and Scrutiny Committees and be considered at each meeting as Members set 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes. Scrutiny members will be able to pick from the Forward Plan, those items 
relevant to their remit that they wish to scrutinise.

245



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council 

Summary Date Action Contact

Cabinet – 7 July 2020

COVID-19 – Budget and Performance (Key Decision)
To consider the budget and performance 
in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic

7 July 
2020

To take any necessary 
action

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

Chief Executive
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk 

2019/20 Financial Outturn Report
To consider the Council’s outturn position 
for the financial year 2019/20

7 July 
2020

To review the report and 
associated appendices 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

2019/20 Performance Outturn Report 
To consider the Council’s outturn 
performance position for the year 2019/20

7 July 
2020 

To review the report and 
associated appendices 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 

Strategic Director for Transformation and 
Change
Tel:  01476 40 65 24
E-mail: l.sirdifield@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision)
To make strategic regeneration 
acquisitions

July 2020 

Information relating to this decision is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 as amended because it contains information 
which relates to the financial or business affairs of an 
individual or organisation

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 

Strategic Director, Growth
Tel: 01476 40 63 75
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk

246

mailto:karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.sirdifield@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact

Council – July 2020

Future High Streets Fund (Budget Framework)
To consider the funding requirement for 
the Future High Streets Funding Bid

16 July 
2020

To make necessary 
budgetary provision to 
support the Future High 
Streets Funding Bid 

Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of 
the Council 

Strategic Director, Growth
Tel: 01476 40 63 75
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – September 2020

South Kesteven District Council’s Best Practice Policy and Protocol on Debt Collection (Key Decision)
To consider the recommendations from 
the Rural and Communities OSC

8 Sept 
2020

To adopt the new policy and 
protocol

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Head of Customer Experience
Tel: 01476 40 65 06
E-mail: n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document – Approval of Consultation Draft (Key Decision)
The document will provide guidance to 
applicants and decision makers in order to 
improve the design quality of new 
development proposals as a supplement 
to the Local Plan policies

8 Sept 
2020

To approve the SPD for 
consultation

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning

Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North (Key Decision)

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation

8 Sept 
2020

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning

Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

247

mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact
Cultural Strategy (Key Decision)
To consider the draft Cultural Strategy for 
South Kesteven

8 Sept 
2020

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet 
Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 

Head of Arts 
Tel: 01476 40 61 29
E-mail: michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Leisure Centre Proposals (Key Decision)

To consider the Procurement Strategy and 
Investment Proposals for the Leisure 
facilities within the District

8 Sept 
2020

To agree the approach to 
delivering the programme to 
enhance leisure 
opportunities for everyone

Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of 
the Council 

Strategic Director, Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft document

8 Sept 
2020

To approve a 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of 
Rectory Farm

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 

Special Projects Manager
Tel: 01476 40 61 64
E-mail: p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final (Key Decision)
To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation

8 Sept 
2020

To approve the Design 
Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning

Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy (Key Decision)
To consider any proposed changes 
following consultation

8 Sept 
2020

To approve the policy Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations

Head of Environmental 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

248

mailto:michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact
South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan – PFP (Recommendation to Council)
To consider a new Corporate Plan for 
South Kesteven District Council

8 Sept 
2020

To recommend to Council a 
new Corporate Plan for 
South Kesteven District 
Council

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

Chief Executive
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Amended 2020/21 Budget (Budget Framework)
To consider an amended 2020/21 Budget 8 Sept 

2020
To recommend to Council 
an amended 2020/21 
Budget

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Asset Management Strategy (Key Decision) 
To consider the draft Asset Management 
Strategy

8 Sept 
2020

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

Assistant Director, Growth
Tel: 01476 40 6177
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk 

St Peter’s Hill, Grantham – Public Realm Improvements (Key Decision)
To consider a report on St. Peter's Hill, 
Grantham - public realm improvements

Sept
2020

To approve the proposals 
and budget

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations
Tel: 01476 40 63 44
E-mail: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk 

249

mailto:karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact

Council – September 2020

South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan – PFP
To consider adopting a new Corporate 
Plan for South Kesteven District Council

17 Sept 
2020

To approve a new 
Corporate Plan for South 
Kesteven District Council

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

Chief Executive
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Amended 2020/21 Budget – (Recommendation to Council)
To consider an amended Budget for the 
2020/21 period

17 Sept 
2020

To adopt an amended 
2020/21 Budget

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – December 2020

Allocation policy 2021 to include Choice Based Lettings (Key Decision)
To consider the policy and 
recommendations from the Rural and 
Communities OSC

1 Dec 
2020

To adopt a refreshed 
Housing Allocation Policy 
incorporating a Choice 
based Lettings Scheme

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning

Assistant Director, Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 (Key Decision)
To consider the strategy 1 Dec 

2020
To adopt a Housing Asset 
Management Strategy

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning

Assistant Director, Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk

250

mailto:karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact
Council Tax Base 2021/22 (Recommendation to Council)
To determine the Council Tax base for 
2021/22, which will form the basis of the 
Budget proposals for the year

1 Dec 
2020

To determine the Council 
Tax Base to form the basis 
of the 2021/22 Budget 
proposals to be 
recommended to Council

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Draft Budget Proposals 2021/22 (Budget Framework)
To consider the draft Budget proposals for 
2021/22

1 Dec 
2020

To agree the draft Budget 
proposals for 2021/22 for 
consultation 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – January 2021

Budget Proposals 2021/22 (Budget Framework)
To agree the budget proposals for 2021/22 19 Jan 

2021
To recommend the budget 
proposals 2021/22 to 
Council

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council – March 2021

Budget 2021/22 (Budget Framework)
To consider the Cabinet’s budget 
proposals

1 Mar 
2021

To agree the budget for 
2021/22

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources

Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

251

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact
Pay Policy Statement (Legislative)
To receive recommendations from the 
Employment Committee on the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/22

Mar 2021 To approve the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement 
2021/22 for publication

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

Head of Organisational Development and 
Change
Tel: 01476 40 61 32
E-mail: e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk

Other Items – dates pending

Customer Service Consultation Results (Key Decision)
To consider consultation in respect of 
customer services
(Cabinet)

Please note that currently the decision date has been 
suspended.  A new date will be calculated after the 
COVID-19 situation

To make any decisions on 
the basis of the feedback 
from the customer service 
consultation

Councillor Annie Mason
Cabinet Member for Communities 

Head of Customer Experience
Tel: 01476 40 65 06
E-mail: n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

252

mailto:e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Future High Street Fund
	Appendix 1 - Future High Street Project Costs
	Appendix 2 - Grantham Engagement Report
	Appendix 3 - Grantham Engagement Appendices
	Appendix 4 - Equality Impact - Initial Analysis
	Appendix 5 - Grantham Future High Street Fund Draft Full Business Case - March 2020 exempt

	5 Programme of Meetings 2020/21
	Appendix 1 - draft programme of meetings 2020.21
	Appendix 2 - changes to the draft programme of meetings

	6 COVID-19 - Financial Impact
	Appendix A - Potential of financial impact on Budgets
	Appendix B - Cashflow modelling
	Appendix C - Finance Risk Register
	Appendix D - EXEMPT ITEM

	7 COVID-19 SKDC Response - Position Statement
	APPENDIX 1- LRF Command  Control Structure - Covid-19
	APPENDIX 2 - Covid-19 - Key Priorities, Actions and Metrics
	APPENDIX 3 - Sample Service Ops Status for 09-04-20 v1-0

	8 COVID-19 SKDC - Recovery Plan
	Appendices 1-5 key COVID actions v1-1
	Appendix 6 - LRF Recovery Structure Chart
	Appendix 7 - Equality Assessment - Covid-19 Recovery Plan - Initial Assessment
	Appendix 8 - Covid-19 Risk and Issues log

	11 Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	Appendix 1a - Report Award of Insurance Contract
	Appendix 1b EXEMPT
	Appendix 1c - Decision notice - Insurance
	Appendix 1d -  General Exception Notice Insurance
	Appendix 2a - Report NDR debt write-offs
	Appendix 2b - Decision Notice NDR debt write offs
	Appendix 3a - Report Disposal of land in Grantham
	Appendix 3b - Decision Notice Disposal of Land Grantham
	Appendix 3c - Disposal of Land Grantham restricted
	Appendix 4a - Report Suspension of recovery action
	Appendix 4b- Decision Notice Suspension of recovery action

	12 Cabinet Forward Plan 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021
	Appendix 1 - 1 July 20 - 30 June 21




